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I.	 Executive Summary

A. 	 Introduction


 Much of the popular perception of ‘terrorist training camps’ in Afghanistan, 
al-Qaeda, and the Taliban from the time of the jihad against the Soviets through to 
the fall of the Taliban in late 2001, is more myth than reality. Accounts often suffer 
from a conflation of al-Qaeda with a wide array of other militant groups. At various 
times too, the Taliban has been conflated with al-Qaeda -- as have all other foreign 
militant groups (and some non-militant groups) in Afghanistan during this time-
frame. Because al-Qaeda has been the subject of the most attention, a 
consequence has been our understanding of these other groups and the role of 
foreign fighters in Afghanistan more generally has tended to be framed in their (often 
misunderstood and misrepresented) relationship to al-Qaeda.


 The reality is that the only group that can accurately be conflated with al-
Qaeda is a splinter faction of the Egyptian Islamic Jihad, which merged with the 
organisation in mid-2001. However, as our report shows, even this seemingly clear-
cut example is mired in complexity. Closer inspection of the history of the two 
groups reveals the Egyptian Islamic Jihad worked intimately with al-Qaeda in its 
early years, then separated, and in fact had a contentious relationship with the 
organisation, even severing relations in the mid-1990’s, before a splinter faction 
merged with al-Qaeda in mid-2001, largely because its ten members felt they were 
left with little other choice.
	

In the case of all other groups, conflating them with al-Qaeda has only 
further clouded rather than aided our understanding of their evolution and training 
activities. A relevant case in point is the Khalden training camp, alleged by the US 
administration in the aftermath of the 9/11 attacks to have been a part of the al-
Qaeda apparatus, and its leaders, a part of al-Qaeda. This initial assessment has 
now rightfully been reconsidered, as reflected in recent US government submissions 
in the case of key Khalden figure Abu Zubayda wherein it acknowledges Khalden 
and al-Qaeda were separate entities.1


 Defining the relationship between groups, if any, requires close attention to 
detail and the facts on the ground so as to not fall prey to simplistic and erroneous 
conclusions based on ‘links’ that are more perceived than real. As the authors of the 
9/11 Commission’s Monograph on Terrorist Financing noted on the related subject 
of financing:

Understanding the difficulties in disrupting terrorist financing, both in the United 
States  and abroad, requires understanding the difference between seeing ‘links’ 
to terrorists  and proving the funding of terrorists. In many cases, we can plainly 
see that certain nongovernmental organizations (NGOs) or individuals  who raise 
money for Islamic causes  espouse an extremist ideology and are ‘linked’ to 
terrorists through common acquaintances, group affiliations, historic 
relationships, phone communications, or other such contacts. Although 
sufficient to whet the appetite for action, these suspicious links do not 
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demonstrate that the NGO or individual actually funds terrorists  and thus 
provide frail support for disruptive action, either in the United States or abroad.2

A similar statement could be made about the goals and ideologies of those 
individuals who trained in the camps in Afghanistan. While there might appear to be 
a correlation between attending a training camp and joining al-Qaeda or carrying out 
acts of international terrorism, there is not necessarily causation. Some people who 
carried out acts of international terrorism (or who joined al-Qaeda) did train in camps 
in Afghanistan. However, it would be factually incorrect to conclude that everyone 
who attended a training camp in Afghanistan automatically ended up carrying out 
attacks or joining or assisting al-Qaeda.

The network of individuals and groups that operated training camps in 
Afghanistan following the rise of the Taliban was not static. There was a high 
turnover of individuals and groups operating in this space, and their objectives were 
fluid. Many of the groups and networks that operated camps focused on nationally-
oriented struggles -- against their home governments in Egypt, Libya, Syria or 
Jordan, or for the liberation of what they held to be ‘Muslim territory’ in places like 
Chechnya, Palestine or Bosnia.3  The nature of the relationship between these 
different groups is complicated. The commonly held belief that these movements 
and groups are the same as al-Qaeda overlooks their very different objectives and 
priorities, and more esoterically, confuses vastly different strains of jihadism/
ideology and their manifestation.4 These nationally focused groups did not share the 
ideological worldview and targeting objectives al-Qaeda’s leadership came to hold 
by the late 1990s: that the United States of America was the main enemy.

 	 Despite these differences, some of the groups sometimes operated in the 
same broad locations, shared resources such as trainers, or even worked alongside 
one another on select projects in Afghanistan. However, at the same time they 
remained distinct entities and often fundamentally disagreed with each other on 
ideological matters as well as targeting. Indeed, the history of militant jihad in the 
late twenty-first century is -- to this day -- a story of competition for recruits and 
resources, factionalism, infighting, and often-irreconcilable internal debates over the 
legitimacy and value of targets, strategies and objectives. 


 The only moment in time that saw a temporary unity among most of these 
different groups was when they came together to attempt to coordinate the defence 
of Afghanistan following the invasion of the country by the United States of America 
and its allies in late 2001. This unity, however, was short-lived and did not last 
beyond the withdrawal of the Taliban and foreign fighters in early December 2001 on 
Taliban leader Mullah Mohammed Omar’s orders. 


 Regarding the motivations of those who travelled to Afghanistan to train, it is 
clear that the majority did not do so with the intent of joining al-Qaeda or even with 
a shared sense of al-Qaeda's unique anti-American program and ideology. Many 
travellers were, in fact, unaware of al-Qaeda, its goals, or its organization. While 
specific numerical breakdowns are difficult, the predominant motivation for travel to 
Afghanistan and attendance in a training camp was interest in classical, or 
defensive, jihad, like that in Bosnia, or a desire to fulfil the religious obligation of 
jihad in the form of receiving military training -- sometimes followed by fighting on 

3
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an open front (such as Bosnia). This desire is often described as ‘holiday jihad’ or 
‘jihad tourism.’ 
	
B. 	 Summary of Findings

 Jihad is not synonymous with the goals, strategies or objectives of al Qaeda.

The Afghan Jihad

 During the Afghan jihad against the Soviet Union, which began in 1979, 
Abdullah Azzam’s Services Office (Maktab al-Khidmaat) was the pivotal 
structure for channelling foreign fighters into Afghanistan.

 Abdullah Azzam established the Services Office in 1984, with funding from 
Usama bin Laden and support from several other individuals.

 Bin Laden’s role was largely restricted to financing the Services Office.

 The Services Office had other functions and departments focused on 
supporting the Afghans rather than the armed conflict specifically. 

 The broad portfolio of the Services Office was consistent with the views of 
Azzam, who believed jihad to be more than a violent struggle; it also stood 
for helping fellow Muslims such as Afghan refugees. 

 This was reflected in the fluid blend of activities undertaken by the Services 
Office, which encompassed humanitarian assistance and education as well 
as supporting the fight.

 Bin Laden ceased funding the Services Office in 1986 after he and Azzam 
split.

 The split was as a result of a difference of opinion between Bin Ladin 
with Azzam about the role of the Services Office and mismanagement 
of resources. 

 Bin Laden believed the Services Office should not be involved in 
humanitarian activities but rather focus its energies of supporting the 
mujahedeen. Azzam did not.

 Bin Laden and Azzam’s split was not made public nor was bin 
Laden’s cessation of funding for the Services Office.

 Following his split with Azzam, Bin Laden began his own activities inside 
Afghanistan, which following the 1987 Battle of Jaji, led to the emergence of 
al-Qaeda.

 There was cooperation between al-Qaeda and the Services Office, on 
issues such as the joint coordination of Afghan Arab matters. 
However, they operated as fundamentally different groups with 
different agendas.

 The Services Office disintegrated as Afghanistan fell into civil war in the early 
1990s. Other militant groups used its networks and remaining infrastructure. 
Al-Qaeda was not among them.

4

Case 3:04-cr-00301-JCH   Document 163-1   Filed 05/16/14   Page 151 of 274



Foreign Volunteers Under Taliban Rule

 In the period 1996-2001, al Qaeda was one of 14 groups operating in 
Afghanistan and recognized by the Taliban.

 There was considerable strife among the various groups operating in 
Afghanistan in the period 1996-2001. Conflicts existed over competition for 
volunteers and resources as well as competition over which group, if any, 
should lead the foreign fighter brigade who were active in combat alongside 
Taliban forces in its efforts against the Northern Alliance.

 Pre-2001, al-Qaeda experienced limited success recruiting other 
organizations and groups to its banner. Its success was limited to a faction of 
the Egyptian Islamic Jihad it managed to convince to merge with the 
organisation. 

 Other groups attempted to remain independent and even chose to close 
rather than operate under al-Qaeda leadership, such as was the case with 
Khalden.

 The majority of those volunteers who trained in camps did not arrive for, or 
train with, the intent of carrying out attacks against the West.

 Most people who undertook training, arrived with the intent of 
seeking training for participating in combat at an ‘open front’ of jihad, 
such as the conflict in Chechnya or Bosnia, or on the Taliban’s front 
against the Northern Alliance; or they arrived solely for the purpose of 
obtaining training. 

 Both of these motivations have often been called ‘holiday jihad’ or 
‘jihad tourism,’ because participation tended to be only on a short-
term basis and most people returned to their home countries after a 
stint of training or combat and did not take any further action. It was 
a fulfilment of what they viewed as a religious obligation. 

 They did not arrive with the intent of joining al-Qaeda and many claim 
they were not aware of the organization at that time.

 Many were diverted to al-Qaeda, either through social networks or as 
a result of the closure of the Khalden camp.

 The most famous and well-populated camp for the training of foreign 
volunteers in Afghanistan in the period 1996-2000 was Khalden, and its 
‘sister camp’ Darunta. 

 Al Qaeda considered Khalden as a strategic threat because Khalden 
attracted volunteers it wished to recruit. Al-Qaeda repeatedly sought 
to have the camp come under its command. The camp closed in 
early 2000 after its leaders refused to bring it under al-Qaeda’s 
authority.

 Khalden and Darunta offered training on a ‘grocery store’ approach.

 Training was offered and volunteer trainees could take what they 
wanted without subscribing to a particular ideology or program.

5
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 Volunteer trainees in both camps were not subject to an intensive 
recruitment campaign in which they were lobbied to join an 
organization.

 Khalden taught defensive jihad in keeping with the teachings of 
Abdullah Azzam.

 Al-Qaeda taught the benefits of jihad against America as 
characterized by undertaking attacks against the US and its interests.

 Throughout its history al-Qaeda operated a number of camps. In the period 
following its 1996 return to Afghanistan up to September 2001 these can be 
outlined as follows:

 Khost 1996-August1998: Four camps called Jihad Wal, al-Faruq, al-
Siddiq, and Khalid bin Walid. These camps were closed following the 
August 20, 1998 US Cruise missile strikes.

 Lowgar (Mes Aynak) mid to late 1999: One camp referred to as Mes 
Aynak, and also as al-Faruq. This camp was never in regular 
operation, and is not known to have provided formal training 
following the 1999 session.

 Kandahar (Garmabak) mid to early 2000-September 2001: One camp 
called al-Faruq. This camp opened around the time the Khalden 
camp closed, and operated more as an ‘open training camp.’ This 
was done to ensure a larger recruit stream was attracted including 
those who would have previously gone to Khalden as well as those 
wanting training for its own sake or to fight on the Taliban fronts.

 Kandahar (Airport complex/Tarnak Farm) late 1999 to September 
2001: One ‘camp’ called Abu Ubaydah al-Banshiri Camp. In reality it 
was a sectioned off part of the complex.

 Al-Qaeda’s global agenda does not appear to have been appealing to most 
volunteers arriving for or diverted to training in its camps, even after they 
became aware of the organization’s existence and specific objectives.

 Al-Qaeda offered training as a means of recruitment for its organization, even 
when operating an ‘open camp’ in the period early to mid 2000 to 
September 2001.

 Al-Qaeda had to expend significant amounts of resources to radicalise 
volunteers to its cause and was usually only successful when these 
volunteers were already in the confines of its camps.

 Once volunteers were no longer proximate to al-Qaeda’s camps there seems 
to have been a high level of attrition.

 Al-Qaeda did experience some success in radicalisation and recruitment, 
however, this was -- given the numbers it trained -- more atypical than 
typical.

 Fighting in the foreign brigade operating in Afghanistan did not mean a 
volunteer was a member of al-Qaeda. 

 These volunteers are often assumed to have been a part of al-
Qaeda’s apparatus.
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 They were not -- in fact in early 2001 Mullah Mohammad Omar gave 
the leadership of this brigade to the military commander of the 
Islamic Movement of Uzbekistan.

 Fighting under the leadership of an al-Qaeda commander in the 
brigade did not necessarily translate to membership of the 
organization, or even support of its objectives. Nor did providing this 
commander with a pledge, oath or covenant of obedience necessarily 
translate to membership of the organization, or even support of its 
objectives. Rather, such an undertaking was limited to the space and 
time context of combat activities of the brigades and its specific 
leadership, which operated under a chain of command separate to 
that of al-Qaeda.

 The only possible exception would be if an al-Qaeda commander in 
the brigade was authorized by bin Laden to take and receive a 
membership pledge (the pledge of allegiance to bin Laden) and no 
evidence has been located to suggest this ever took place in the 
brigade.

 A range of mechanisms existed whereby trainees came under the command 
and control hierarchies for camp administration.

 Some of these involved the provisions of oaths, covenants and 
pledges relating to the veracity of the information they supplied, their 
undertakings to obey the camp’s leadership, or their agreement to 
particular policy.

 These were not the same as the pledge of allegiance which governed 
membership to al-Qaeda and which was given to bin Laden.

 Khalden had no such pledge process or recruitment approach. No 
evidence exists to indicate it had such procedures in place.

The Taliban’s Relationship With Al-Qaeda and Foreign Groups

 The Taliban’s relation with foreign military groups was complex.
  Some foreign militant groups did not accept the legitimacy of the 

Taliban. There were splits among the foreign militant groups over this 
issue.

 Foreign militant groups competed for influence over the Taliban, and 
for leadership of the foreign militant presence in Afghanistan.

  Al-Qaeda and the Taliban did not share the same ideology or worldview.

 There were splits among the Taliban over how to deal with al-Qaeda and the 
other foreign militant groups. 

 Some senior Taliban figures did not support al-Qaeda’s presence in 
the country.

 Bin Laden never directly gave a pledge of allegiance to Mullah Muhammad 
Omar.
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 Their relationship was fraught with tension over al-Qaeda’s activities 
in Afghanistan and its attacks overseas.

 These attacks were not undertaken with the permission of Mullah 
Muhammad Omar.

 The Taliban did not have foreknowledge of al-Qaeda’s attack plans

 Bin Laden planned and ordered attacks and continued his media 
campaign against the expressed will of the Taliban leadership

 In December 2001, the Taliban, after Mullah Muhammad Omar decided to 
order a withdrawal of forces from Afghanistan, asked foreign fighters 
remaining in the country to leave. 

C. 	 Methodology, Sources, and Intent


 Since the early 1990s, Afghanistan has been in a constant state of conflict, 
beginning with the civil war that followed the exit of the Soviet Union in 1989 and the 
subsequent fall of the communist government in 1992, continuing through the rise of 
the Taliban in the mid 1990s and its conflict with the array of groups known as the 
Northern Alliance, followed by the U.S. led invasion after September 11, 2001, and 
the ensuing conflict that continues to the current day. The difficulties of fieldwork in 
such a setting are compounded by additional and unique problems specific to the 
theme, i.e., assessing the reliability of intelligence gathered from detainees at 
locations such as Guantanamo, which was in some cases obtained through the use 
of ‘enhanced interrogation techniques,’ and its attendant effects on veracity. 

Additional difficulties are presented by language and culture. The languages 
of Afghanistan include Pashtu, Dari, and Urdu; additional relevant sources are in 
Arabic, Farsi, German, French, and English; access to human sources is hampered 
by language barriers, a lack of trust and, sometimes, a fear of prosecution, should 
the source be a current or former member of a proscribed group or suspected of 
affiliation with such. Even access to primary source written material often involves 
significant legwork; the archive of sources relevant to Afghanistan's modern history 
is still in development -- a process the authors are leading.

	 However, primary source materials -- whether in the form of interviews with 
actors present at the time or contemporaneous written documents -- are essential 
to ensure reliability. Unfortunately, many public presentations on this topic have not 
engaged with primary sources or made efforts to locate these sources, which results 
in replication of errors and the misleading conflation between al Qaeda and other 
groups.

In both their published work and this report, the authors have privileged the 
following methods: first, accessing primary source witnesses over the course of 
years spent in the field, in relevant countries including Afghanistan, Pakistan, Libya, 
and Egypt; second, cross-checking claims made across written primary sources, in 
the original languages. Reliance on translations or second-hand accounts can be 
misleading as a document once mistranslated can then have its errors transmitted 
across numerous additional sources.
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All claims made in the report have been subject to corroboration, from more 
than one source. Where there is a lack of corroboration for a specific claim, a note 
has been made; similarly so where the evidence conflicts or is ambiguous. The 
claims that are cited to secondary sources (or the authors' own work) have been 
corroborated to primary sources, both in written form as well as through the authors' 
own interviews with various actors in the historical proceedings.

	 A note on our intent in producing this report: we have been ever cognisant of 
the fact that although the majority of persons who travelled to Afghanistan to 
undertake military training did not do so with a view to joining or supporting al-
Qaeda or a jihadi organisation more generally, there are indeed instances where that 
did occur. Our report makes no judgement on whether that is or is not the case in 
the current legal proceedings as it is not our place to do so. 

We have not shied away from explaining where and how people were 
recruited and the strengths, weaknesses and relative successes of training and 
recruitment processes. We have done so with the view to providing a report in 
keeping with our research ethics of neutrality and impartiality and supporting the 
justice system with information that is, to the best of our knowledge and expertise, 
accurate, and which outlines that both of these processes were at play: some 
people did travel with little to no foreknowledge of what they were getting 
themselves into and struggled to navigate their way out. Others travelled with full 
knowledge. 

The broader point we hope our report effectively communicates is the 
importance of ensuring the conflation of groups and networks does not cloud or 
misrepresent the relationships between people, places and organisations as they 
relate to foreign volunteers present in Afghanistan who sought out training for jihad, 
their purpose in seeking out such training, and the intended versus actual use or 
(non-use) of training after it was obtained.
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D. 	 Credentials


 Felix Kuehn and Alex Strick van Linschoten have co-authored and co-edited 
a number of books and reports on the Taliban, al-Qaeda, and modern history of 
Afghanistan. Together, they edited, annotated and published the peer reviewed 
memoir of a founding member of the Afghan Taliban movement and ambassador to 
Pakistan, Mullah Abdul Salam Zaeef, entitled My Life With the Taliban (Columbia 
University Press, 2010), with a forward by Barnett Rubin, the former Senior Adviser 
to the Special Representative of the President for Afghanistan and Pakistan in the 
U.S. Department of State. Peter Bergen, author of Holy War, Inc. and The Osama bin 
Laden I Know, wrote that “if President Obama wanted a window into the thinking of 
the Taliban today he couldn’t do better than this." It has been used in university 
courses and listed on recommended pre-deployment reading lists by senior 
American and British military commanders.


 Their second book was a peer reviewed history of the relationship between 
al-Qaeda and the Taliban, entitled An Enemy We Created: The Myth of the Taliban / 
Al-Qaeda Merger in  Afghanistan, 1970-2010 (Oxford University Press). The journal 
International Affairs  stated “the authors’ research and scholarship make a powerful 
case and their book is likely to become the definitive text on the matter.” It garnered 
additional praise from former U.S. and U.K. ambassadors to Afghanistan, who 
described it as "essential reading" that is "directly relevant to policy considerations 
of today's war in Afghanistan." 


 A summary report version of the book was commissioned by New York 
University’s Center on International Cooperation under the title "Separating the 
Taliban from Al-Qaeda: The Core of Success in Afghanistan" and played a key role 
in informing US policy towards the Taliban for President Obama’s new government.


 Their most recent book was an edited volume of translated Taliban poetry 
and songs entitled Poetry of the Taliban  (Columbia University Press, 2012). Thomas 
Hegghammer, author of Jihad In Saudi Arabia and co-editor of al-Qaida in  its  Own 
Words, called it a “highly original and extremely important book.” It generated a 
debate in the United Kingdom about the Taliban and about their future role in the 
Afghan state. 

	 Both Mr Kuehn and Mr Strick van Linschoten received their Bachelor of Arts 
from the School of Oriental and African Studies (SOAS) in London, Mr Kuehn in 
Arabic and Development Studies and Mr Strick van Linschoten in Arabic and Farsi 
(Persian). They are both completing their PhD's at the War Studies Department of 
King's College, London. Their dissertations study different aspects of the Afghan 
Taliban movement pre-2001 -- political, religious, cultural, and diplomatic. 

	 The two work in several languages, both written and spoken, including 
Arabic, Pashto, Farsi, and German. Between 2006 and 2012, both were based full-
time in Afghanistan, primarily in Kandahar, but as well in the locations of several of 
the camps mentioned in this report, where they interviewed dozens of individuals 
connected with their research, including local participants and observers of the 
historical events as well Western government officials. Interviewees have included 
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former affiliates of al-Qaeda, associated groups and their leaders, as well as 
supporters of their ideas and ideology. Their research has involved interviews and 
field studies in Pakistan, Iran, Lebanon, Libya, Yemen, and Somalia. 


 Leah Farrall holds a B.A. in Government, a M.A. in International Relations 
and Asian Politics from the University of Queensland (Australia), and a PhD from 
Monash University (Australia). She is currently a Senior Lecturer in Security Studies 
at Massey University in New Zealand and a Research Associate at the United States 
Studies Centre at the University of Sydney. Her doctorate focused on the 
organisational, doctrinal and ideological evolution of al-Qaeda, which also drew in 
an extensive comparison study of competitor groups to the organization, specifically 
those of Khalden, Ibn al-Khattab’s International Brigade in Chechnya, Abu Musab al-
Suri’s ‘al-Ghuraba’ grouping, and the Islamic Movement of Uzbekistan.


 Between 2000 and 2002, Ms Farrall was a lecturer at the University of 
Queensland, coordinating and delivering the course offering on Terrorism, 
Revolution and Insurgency. Between 2002 and 2008, she was a Senior Intelligence 
Analyst with the Australian Federal Police (AFP). During her tenure, most of her 
positions were in the service of the organisation’s counter terrorism portfolio, 
including the following:

 The Intelligence Briefing / Product team, serving as the subject matter expert 
on terrorism;

 Counter Terrorism Intelligence, serving as a senior counter terrorism 
Intelligence analyst on the Convergence team, with responsibility for 
reviewing all domestic counter terrorism operations to identify domestic and 
international convergences in support of counter terrorism investigations. 
The team and its methodology was established as a result of the work of Ms 
Farrall and a fellow analyst;

 Operation Pendennis, as senior analyst in what was then Australia’s largest 
counter terrorism investigation. Her work directly contributed to successful 
prosecutions;

 The Jakarta Regional Cooperation Team, serving as Senior Intelligence 
Member, assisting the Indonesian National Police to assist its efforts to 
apprehend wanted terrorists and build its counter terrorism capabilities; 

 The Middle East/South Asia Team, serving as Senior Counter Terrorism 
Intelligence Analyst and Acting Team Leader, with responsibilities for 
covering 17 of the 19 groups then proscribed by Australia. In this role she 
provided and coordinated tactical, operational and strategic intelligence 
product in support of national and international criminal investigations;

 In addition to her operational roles, Ms Farrall was responsible for training 
counter terrorism investigations teams and providing training and/or program 
assistance to other government agencies, both nationally and internationally, 
on al-Qaeda and its affiliated groups, as well as terrorist use of the internet 
(particularly in relation to the diffusion of IED expertise and online 
radicalisation and recruitment). 


 After leaving the Australian Federal Police, Ms Farrall worked as a consultant 
and ad hoc analyst for, among others, the Control Risks Group (London) and Jane’s 

11

Case 3:04-cr-00301-JCH   Document 163-1   Filed 05/16/14   Page 158 of 274



IHS (Washington D.C.); the Australian Department of Defence Senior NCO Training; 
and for a joint European Union / Association of Southeast Asian Nations capability-
building project aimed at strengthening border security and responses to 
transnational crime, including counterterrorism in the region. She ceased consulting 
work to allow for a neutral and impartial return to academia to finish her dissertation, 
after which she spent two and a half years in Egypt doing academic fieldwork 
research. 


 Her research on the subject of al-Qaeda and militancy have been published 
in Foreign Affairs, Foreign Policy, The Atlantic, CTC Sentinel (the journal of the 
Combatting Terrorism Center at West Point) and in Jane’s  Intelligence Review. Most 
recently, she has completed a book (peer reviewed and due for publication in the 
United States by Oxford University Press in September 2014 and in the United 
Kingdom by C. Hurst & Co Ltd. Publishers) entitled The Arabs  at War in  Afghanistan, 
co-written with Mustafa Hamid. This work, the outcome of her time in Egypt, is a 
ground-breaking cooperation between one of the protagonists in the history of Arab 
fighters in Afghanistan and a former counter-terrorism analyst to produce a history 
of the involvement of Arabs in Afghanistan post-1980s and their subsequent spread 
to other parts of the world. The work makes an important contribution to the 
historical record and early reviews of the manuscript have indicated it provides the 
defining account of the foreign volunteers in Afghanistan.

	 Between them, the three authors have been interviewed on/by the BBC, 
ABC, SBS, VOA, CBC, CNN, Al-Jazeera English, Der Spiegel (Germany), The 
Sydney Morning Herald, The Australian, The New York Times, The Telegraph (UK), 
The American Prospect, The Washington Independent, The Atlantic, The Wall Street 
Journal, The Washington Post, The Australian Financial Review, Reuters, Macleans, 
The Economist, El Mundo (Spain), The Times (UK), The New Yorker, Frankfurter 
Allgemeine Zeitung (Germany), The Independent (UK), and The Guardian (UK). 


 They have participated in or presented at panels hosted by The Frontline 
Club (UK), New York University (USA), Council on Foreign Relations (USA), Carnegie 
Endowment for International Peace (USA), the School of Oriental and African 
Studies (UK), International Institute of Strategic Studies (UK), The British Defence 
Academy (UK), the London School of Economics (UK), King’s College London (UK), 
Chatham House (UK), Cambridge University (UK), Uppingham School (UK), Oxford 
University (UK), Princeton University (USA), the Brookings Institute (USA), the United 
States Senate (USA), the United States War College (USA), the Middle East Institute 
(USA), the Naval Postgraduate School (USA), Harvard University (USA), the 
Norwegian Institute of International Affairs (Norway), the University of Sydney and 
Monash University (Australia).
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2. 	 The Afghan Jihad, Foreign Fighters, and al-Qaeda

	 (a) The Afghan Jihad

	 In December 1979, the Soviet Union sent its fortieth army to Afghanistan, 
nominally on the request of the Afghan government, with which it was closely 
aligned so beginning what is commonly referred to as the Afghan jihad.5 The origins 
of the Afghan jihad are complex, but generally speaking trace to a conflict between 
the Afghan regime and conservative forces in Afghanistan who were angered by the 
socialist reform program the Soviet-backed regime had put in place. Conservative 
elements sought to fight the regime, rallying behind religious edicts as local Mullahs 
declared the conflict a jihad. Afghans who took up the struggle against the central 
government and its allied foreign forces were known as mujahedeen.6

	 The Afghans were loosely organised into seven main mujahedeen groups 
through which foreign money and support (from Saudi Arabia and America, among 
others) was channelled. These groups were:

 Gulbuddin Hekmatyar’s Hizb-e Islami

 Yunis Khalis’s Hizb-e Islami

 Sayyaf’s Ittehad-e Islami

 Nabi Mohammadi’s Harakat-e Inqelab-e Islami

 Burhanuddin Rabbani’s Jamiat-e Islami
 Pir Gailani’s Mahaz-e Milli

 Sibghatullah Mojaddidi’s Nejat-e Milli7

The Afghan mujahedeen were soon joined by foreign fighters who came to help 
them expel the Soviet Union from Afghanistan.

	 (b) History of Foreign Volunteers


 The outbreak of war in Afghanistan in 1979 was not initially met with a 
massive influx of foreign volunteers -- as narrative accounts sometimes suggest. 
Initially, the number of foreign volunteers (who came to be known as Afghan Arabs) 
travelling to join the Afghan jihad was small. Estimates of early numbers of 
volunteers arriving to join the fight in the period 1979 through until the mid 1980’s 
range in the low hundreds.8  While fundraising among Gulf Arabs to support the 
Afghan jihad began almost immediately, it was not until after 1984 that foreign 
volunteer numbers significantly increased. The efforts of Abdullah Azzam and the 
media campaign led by the Services Office (Maktab al-Khidmaat) played a crucial 
role in driving the increase in numbers.

 

 Azzam, a Palestinian cleric who had earlier fought in Palestine in 1969-1970 
is renowned for the important role he played in popularising the Afghan conflict 
throughout the world.9  Azzam’s fatwas (religious edicts) and speeches calling for all 
Muslims to join the jihad in Afghanistan were particularly influential. His fatwa, 
commonly known as The Defence of Muslim Lands  and published in 1983, broadly 

13

Case 3:04-cr-00301-JCH   Document 163-1   Filed 05/16/14   Page 160 of 274



speaking constituted a reinterpretation of jihad. It was first published in Al-Mujtama 
in Kuwait in 1983 and later expanded into the now widely known book form. Azzam 
wrote:

If the infidels (Kuffar) infringe upon a hand span of Muslim land, jihad becomes 
the greatest obligation (Fard ‘ayn) for its people and for those near by. If they fail 
to repel the Kuffar due to lack of resources or due to indolence, then the 
obligatory duty (Fara’id) of jihad spreads to those behind, and carries  on 
spreading in this process, until the jihad is Fard’ ayn upon the whole earth from 
the East to the West.10

He further wrote:

That if a piece of Muslim land the size of a hand span is infringed upon, then 
jihad becomes  Fard Ayn (global obligation) on every Muslim male and female, 
where the child shall march forward without the permission of its  parents and 
the wife without the permission of the husband.11

	 Where jihad was normally seen as a duty carried out by those whose land 
was under direct attack, and with support from the umma, Azzam called for all 
Muslims wherever they were to join the fight in defence of Muslim lands. It was this 
expansion of scope and responsibility that was highly influential in driving up 
volunteer numbers in Afghanistan. In essence, Azzam was advocating for a classical 
jihad; a defensive jihad against invaders on Muslim soil, but arguing the umma itself 
should step beyond a support role into a more active role including participation in 
combat to liberate the land. Azzam reinterpreted jihad as the duty of each and every 
Muslim, no matter where they were located. Previously, jihad had been understood 
as an undertaking that should be governed on the basis of proximity and sufficiency; 
that is Muslims closest to the area of conflict should be the first to be involved in 
liberating occupied lands, and that the obligation to join the jihad existed only until 
there were sufficient numbers for the defence of the territory under occupation. 
Participating in jihad was also bound by a complex set of rules surrounding 
permissions, which Azzam, as cited above, argued no longer applied. Instead, 
Azzam argued Muslims everywhere should be active participants in the liberation of 
occupied Muslim lands.12 


 While Azzam’s fatwa was highly influential among those who decided to 
travel to Afghanistan, political developments inside the Arab world were also crucial 
in driving up volunteer numbers. At that time, there was unrest and upheaval in a 
number of Arab countries, much of which was targeted at what were seen by many 
as corrupt ruling regimes that suppressed their people and allowed no dissent. Arab 
rulers cracked down on Islamist movements that had appeared in numerous 
countries, leading scores of men to travel to Afghanistan seeking to escape the 
crackdowns, or leaving after their resistance efforts had been defeated.13 


 Some regimes encouraged people to volunteer for the jihad, believing their 
departure would help reduce “the political temperature” in their countries and 
prevent further unrest.14 This, in addition to the travel to Afghanistan of those who 
were influenced by Azzam’s fatwa and the media efforts of the Services Office, 
translated into an influx of foreign volunteers. As the number of volunteers began to 
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increase, discussions began about building a superstructure to better manage 
foreign volunteers and also to coordinate the growing aid and assistance being 
offered to the Afghan mujahedeen in a more organized and effective manner. It was 
from these discussions and proposals that the Services Office was established.

	 (c) The Services Office


 Although volunteer numbers remained low for the first years following the 
Soviet Union’s invasion of Afghanistan, aid and support quickly flowed. However, 
owing to the lack of infrastructure as well as competition among the Afghan groups 
for resources, this aid was often mismanaged, resulting in those at the fronts not 
receiving adequate equipment and support. Mustafa Hamid, who would come to be 
known as Abu al-Walid al-Masri, was among the first Arabs at the Afghan fronts and 
was eyewitness to extensive supply and logistics problems that were impacting the 
ability of the Afghans to fight effectively. In 1983 he wrote a concept paper 
suggesting ways to overcome these problems. In particular he recommended the 
formation of an Arab committee to oversee aid dispersal, logistics and supplies, as 
well as training, education and media efforts. The paper would eventually make its 
way to Abdullah Azzam, who established the Services Office (Maktab al-Khidmaat) 
in 1984, with funding from bin Laden and support from several other individuals.15


 Although the Services Office is often conceived as an organisation that was 
founded to support the Afghan mujahedeen, its activities were broader and involved 
the provision of humanitarian assistance not only to the Afghan mujahedeen, but 
also to the huge Afghan refugee population in Pakistan. The Services Office would in 
fact grow to become the pivotal structure for channelling foreign fighters into 
Afghanistan. However, it had other functions and departments, many of which were 
focused on supporting the Afghans rather than the armed conflict specifically. This 
broader focus under Azzam’s leadership was because he believed jihad to be more 
than a violent struggle; it also stood for helping fellow Muslims such as Afghan 
refugees. This was reflected in the fluid blend of activities undertaken by the 
Services Office, which encompassed humanitarian assistance and education as well 
as supporting the fight, and is clearly visible in its institutional setup. 

	 The Services Office was led by Abdullah Azzam. As amir (leader), Azzam 
served as the overall director of its activities.16 A management body called the Majlis 
al-Shura oversaw the administration of subsidiary departments and committees.17 
Humanitarian activities undertaken by the Services Office included the support of 
orphanages, hospitals, and distribution of aid to Afghan refugees -- as well as 
educational programs.18  A logistics department dealt with facilitating transport of 
individuals while the procurement department bought goods for distribution to 
orphanages and refugees.19 

	 The existence of these committees and departments makes clear the 
organisation defies strict analytical categorization. This is particularly so given that 
at various levels across the Services Office cooperative relationships with a range of 
other entities including international charities were developed. These charities 
ranged from those operating in support of the Afghan jihad to others restricting their 
focus to assisting the ever-growing Afghan refugee population in Pakistan. 
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	 The main activity of the Services Office contrary to popular perception was 
not military participation, but rather fundraising and propaganda. An in-house 
publishing department produced its flagship publication, Al-Jihad, a magazine about 
the Afghan jihad circulated throughout the world.20 During the 1980s, Azzam went 
on numerous fundraising trips around the world. He would come to establish an 
informal network of representatives to distribute information as well as to gather 
donations for the Services Office to finance its activities. 

	 Entities such as the al-Khifa organisation would fulfil this function with 
branches in Atlanta, Boston, Chicago, Pittsburgh and Tucson.21 The affiliates of the 
Services Office, along with many other Islamic organisations held fundraising events 
featuring mujahedeen speakers or presentations with videos and photos. They 
would distribute magazines and leaflets outside mosques, collecting small 
donations and selling books in order to raise money. Not all donors, even in the early 
1980s, would have been aware some of their funds would be directed to supporting 
armed militants. 


 The blurred nature of the organisation’s activities meant funding intended for 
humanitarian ends could be used to purchase weapons and organise military 
training camps for volunteers.22  Dedicated guesthouses were established to host 
volunteers and training camps opened, most notably the Sadda camp in 1986 and 
Khalden camp in 1988, which were run by Abu Burhan al-Suri, the chief ‘trainer’ in 
the Services Office.23

	 (d) The Origins of Khalden

	 Training camps in Afghanistan for foreign volunteers were first established in 
1984, although these were not permanent arrangements, presumably owing to the 
still small numbers of volunteers arriving to join the jihad. By 1986, when volunteer 
numbers had begun to increase, and the lack of training and poor performance of 
the Afghan Arabs became a significant issue, the Services Office established the 
Sadda camp, which served as its main training location.24  Inexperienced and 
untrained volunteers were not considered a useful contribution to the jihad and so a 
training program was developed. Training was initially of a poor standard until the 
arrival of Abu Burhan al-Suri in 1986, after which time training became more 
advanced and regimented. 

	 The Services Office established Khalden in the period late 1988 to early 1989 
when its main Sadda camp came under increasing scrutiny after it began training 
volunteers in the use of explosives.25  Such training extended beyond what was 
believed to be required for participation in the Afghan jihad and many Arab 
governments were concerned volunteers trained in explosives would use this skill to 
target regimes in their own countries when they returned home from the conflict. 
Efforts to monitor Sadda were thus intensified, and drove the establishment of 
Khalden, where training could continue in a more secure location.26


 Abu Burhan al-Suri, the chief trainer for the Services Office, was in charge of 
Khalden until his retirement in the early 1990’s when the organisation began to 
disintegrate.27 Abu Burhan compiled the first ‘Encyclopaedia’28 of training materials 
for jihad, which was comprised of the training that took place in the camps of the 
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Services Office, as well as additional material he was able to source.29  Under Abu 
Burhan’s leadership, training at Khalden was often sought-after by militant groups, 
who sent their members to the camp for additional courses they lacked the 
expertise or resources to provide.

Khalden attracted a range of persons and organisations during its early years. 
While its training regime under Abu Burhan was strict, accommodation was made 
for holiday jihadists, mostly from the Gulf, who came for short periods of time some 
of whom were wealthy or had good connections. Allowing them to train on a more 
lenient regime was important to the Services Office and its funding.


 During its early period Khalden also provided training services for 
organisations that required training. Among them was the Indonesian group Jemaah 
Islamiyyah, whose members were also attending other training facilities in the area, 
before they expanded sufficiently to warrant establishing their own camp, which was 
located for a time near Torkham Gate.30  Khalden would later send some of its 
Algerian trainers to a Jemaah Islamiyyah camp in the Philippines, when in the 
mid-1990’s the organisation relocated to the country.31


 Following the disintegration of the Services Office, Khalden was taken over 
by one of Abu Burhan’s former protégées, Ibn Sheikh al-Libi. He in turn enlisted the 
help of Abu Zubayda to run Khalden’s supporting infrastructure such as 
guesthouses where volunteers stayed prior to and after attending the camp. Abu 
Burhan delayed his retirement by a year in order to help them in the handover 
transition, which included not only taking over the remaining Services Office 
infrastructure, but also changing the location of the camp.32


 Khalden moved across the border to an area in Khost, Afghanistan.33  This 
move was precipitated by Pakistan’s crackdown on Afghan Arabs remaining in the 
country after the end of the Afghan jihad and its descent into civil war following the 
spring 1992 collapse of the Najibullah regime. At that time, many Afghan Arabs 
returned to their home countries or travelled to newly emerging fronts of jihad, which 
over the following years would open in Algeria, Chechnya, Bosnia and elsewhere. 
Although Khalden moved across the border to Khost, much of its infrastructure -- 
such as its Pakistan-based guesthouses -- remained in operation, and was headed 
up by Abu Zubayda. The Khalden camp remained in its Khost location until around 
1999, when it moved to Jalalabad and then later, to Kabul before finally closing 
around June 2000.34


 It is commonly believed that when the Services Office disintegrated in the 
early 1990’s al-Qaeda took over its remaining networks, and because of this, the 
Khalden camp and Abu Zubayda and Ibn Sheikh al-Libi were a part of al-Qaeda. 
However, bin Laden and Azzam had parted ways some years earlier as their views 
on how to support the Afghan jihad diverged. As a result bin Laden ceased his 
support for the Services Office.

	 (e) Bin Laden and the Services Office

Although bin Laden and Azzam agreed as to the necessity for jihad in 
Afghanistan, their views came to differ on how the Afghan Arabs should best 
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support the Afghan jihad, and the scope of their responsibilities and duties. Bin 
Laden wanted to train and form an Arab combat group, which while focusing on the 
fight inside Afghanistan, would operate separate to Afghan forces.35  He thought 
such a group should not be involved in any aid or humanitarian endeavours.36 
Azzam, meanwhile, thought the Services Office and any other Afghan Arab 
organization operating in the arena should help Muslims arriving to join the jihad by 
providing training, but that such volunteers should then fight with one of the Afghan 
mujahedeen factions.37  He also argued a broader focus beyond the fight was 
necessary and that humanitarian assistance and education was vital.38  Bin Laden 
came to view this type of assistance as wasted effort and believed that resources 
should be directed primarily at supporting the fight.39  Bin Laden ceased funding of 
the Services Office in 1986.40


 The turning point of bin Laden’s views on the matter was after a visit into 
Afghan territory. According to Hamid, in 1986 bin Laden had travelled to the fronts 
on an un-chaperoned visit and seen the harsh conditions of the fighters for himself, 
whereas normally Arabs, especially those of Azzam and bin Laden’s rank, were 
accompanied by Afghan leaders and did not see these conditions.41 This time spent 
with the Afghans on the fronts led bin Laden to believe his money could be better 
served by directly supporting the Afghans, and by his own direct involvement in 
doing so.42 Bin Laden’s visit ultimately set the stage not only for his split with the 
Services Office, but also for the eventual emergence of al-Qaeda -- an organization 
founded and led by him until his death in 2011.

	 The history of this fundamental division between the two men is not widely 
known, because neither man had an interest in such a divergence being made 
public. It therefore remained accessible only in a range of primary materials and first 
hand accounts from those who were there and witnessed these events.


 Azzam in particular was heavily focused on unity, not only among the various 
Afghan mujahedeen groups, but also among the Afghan Arab groups and 
volunteers.43  He believed the Afghan Arabs should lead by example through a 
unified effort.44 In various accounts of the Services Office’s history it is clear Azzam 
would often choose not to voice his differences or let others continue for the sake of 
unity, even when he disagreed with their programs. Thus, when bin Laden opted to 
cease funding the Services Office in late 1986 and go his own way, owing to their 
differing views, Azzam said very little on the matter. Similarly, when bin Laden’s 
efforts in 1987 and 1988 caused concern among a range of Afghan Arab figures for 
what they saw as his reckless endangerment of the youth at an exposed location in 
Jaji, he was managed and mollified rather than being directly challenged; perhaps 
as a result of a fear that doing so would affect Afghan Arab funding from the Gulf, 
owing to his influence with financiers.45

	 By 1988, following the Jaji battle, al-Qaeda and the Services Office, while 
cooperating on issues such as the joint coordination of Afghan Arab matters, were 
operating as fundamentally different groups with different agendas. Azzam 
continued his multi-track focus with the Services Office and its humanitarian, 
education and jihad facilitation and participation efforts. By this time, the Services 
Office had both its Sadda and Khalden camps in operation, where volunteers were 
housed and trained prior to their dispatch to the Afghan fronts. Al-Qaeda, 
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meanwhile, had begun to open its own camps, and had its own volunteer inflow.46


 Azzam and bin Laden would really only come together again to cooperate for 
the 1989 battle of Jalalabad, for which bin Laden provided a good deal of monetary 
support and lobbied the Afghan Arabs of the Services Office along with other 
groups to join behind him in supporting the Afghan mujahedeen’s efforts to take the 
city.47 The efforts of the mujahedeen to take Jalalabad were a failure and their defeat 
resulted in great loss of life, with bin Laden narrowly avoiding capture as his forces 
were forced to retreat over several days in July under heavy bombardment.48 

	 The aftermath of Jalalabad battle and the defeat the mujahedeen suffered is 
extremely important to understanding latter day relationships among the various 
mujahedeen groups in Afghanistan. This is because the defeat and failure at 
Jalalabad was of such proportions that it fundamentally damaged the reputation of 
both Azzam and bin Laden, and resulted in the Afghan Arab youth in the arena 
turning away from them both and setting up their own training camps in the 
Jalalabad region.49  These camps, and the youth who led them would in some 
instances go on to become strategic competitors to al-Qaeda, and the influence of 
this competition continues to be felt until the present day in the conflict, competition 
and fragmentation that characterizes the global jihadist milieu. Unfortunately, as a 
result of the all too common conflating of foreign militant groups operating in 
Afghanistan under the Taliban with al-Qaeda, this important history has been largely 
overlooked.50


 In the aftermath of the Jalalabad defeat and faced with a strong backlash, 
Bin Laden left the arena, ostensibly having business in Saudi Arabia to attend to and 
thus leaving Azzam to deal with the negative fall out.51  Soon thereafter, Azzam, 
along with two of his sons was assassinated in Peshawar (in November 1989).52 The 
Services Office would limp along for a few more years before eventually 
disintegrating around the same time the Afghan jihad ended with Afghanistan’s 
descent into civil war. 


 Under Azzam, the Services Office set up funding structures that were later 
inherited by those who took over its infrastructure, namely Ibn Sheikh al-Libi and 
Abu Zubayda, although much of this infrastructure disintegrated when Afghanistan 
fell into civil war and the Services Office ceased operations. Nonetheless, the 
networks that did remain were used by a number of groups to pursue their own 
agenda. Significantly, however, al-Qaeda was not among them as we now move to 
explore; having had from the outset its own sources of funding, namely its founder’s 
personal wealth.

	 (f) Al-Qaeda (1987-1996)


 Although al-Qaeda is often conceived as an organization with a cogent 
ideology and strategic agenda, for much of its history the organization lacked 
consistency. It was not until the late 1990’s that a clear program of action was 
formulated and followed. Even then, within the militant milieu al-Qaeda was often 
thought to lack focus, and was at times accused of trying to be everything to 
everyone; with its causes and justification for its actions stretching from Yemen to 
Saudi Arabia, to Iraq, to the United States, to Palestine, the cause of Muslim 
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Prisoners, and finally to the West writ large.53


 Al-Qaeda’s origins trace to the years of the Afghan jihad after bin Laden 
ceased his support of the Services Office and branched out to form a new group 
together with a small number of men who worked with him to establish a camp in 
the Jaji region. The camp was the location of the famous 1987 Jaji Battle between 
its inhabitants and Soviet Special Forces. The battle itself, while insignificant for the 
Afghan-jihad, was a major propaganda boost for bin Laden, and in its aftermath 
volunteers rushed to join him. What therefore began initially as an informal gathering 
of people around bin Laden quickly grew into a much larger group.54

	 It is within this context that al-Qaeda as an organisation began sometime 
between the 1987 Jaji battle and 1988. A number of documents retrieved from a 
computer found in an office of the Benevolence Foundation in Bosnia that are dated 
to August 1988 seem to suggest they are the founding memos of the group.55 
However, by this time al-Qaeda was already openly operating. It had a committee 
structure and its own magazine and was recognized as an independent group on 
the Afghan Arab Shura -- as the accounts of numerous persons close to the 
organization, on this Shura and/or familiar with its early history attest.56  Closer 
examination of the documents seized in Bosnia along with others from this time 
frame reinforces these accounts, and it becomes clear the documents reflect efforts 
by al-Qaeda figures to formalize an operating structure for the group, develop new 
projects and put in place specific protocols for interacting with other groups 
operating in the Afghan Arab milieu, namely the Services Office.


 Al-Qaeda’s early goals were to form a distinct group of foreign fighters who 
would fight under their own command within Afghanistan although at least one 
Afghan Arab leader alleges that even at this early stage bin Laden was trying to 
secure leadership over other groups.57 This early incarnation of al-Qaeda had yet to 
develop its final doctrine; it was at that time an organisation dominated by classical 
jihadist thought in which its members sought to fight a defensive jihad against the 
Soviet occupation of Afghanistan. Neither America nor Saudi Arabia had come into 
focus as targets for the group or its leader.58


 Al-Qaeda’s fortunes rose quickly until mid-1989 when, following the 
disastrous defeat in the battle of Jalalabad, bin Laden and the Afghan Arab forces 
fighting alongside al-Qaeda were forced to withdraw among heavy loss of life and 
equipment.59  It was a catastrophe for bin Laden and al-Qaeda as well as other 
Afghan Arab leaders who had followed him into battle such as Abdullah Azzam 
because they were heavily criticised.60 While victory at Jaji had seen the al-Qaeda 
organization quickly emerge and swell to large numbers, the aftermath of the defeat 
at Jalalabad saw it crumble. 


 At its apogee when entering into the Jalalabad battle, al-Qaeda had a core 
membership of several hundred men -- along with combat formations of Afghan 
Arabs who fought under its command during the battle but were not members of the 
organisation. However, by the time it left for Sudan just two or so years later, al-
Qaeda’s membership had dropped to less than 150 members.61


 A key reason for this was that bin Laden put a moratorium on al-Qaeda’s 
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members participating in fighting following the Jalalabad defeat. This caused the 
combat groups who had aligned with al-Qaeda to leave, along with a number of its 
core members.62  Many of them went on to align with, or form, their own 
independent groups.63 The Services Office also suffered. Indeed the loss of stature 
of bin Laden and Azzam in the eyes of the youth, not only for the Jalalabad defeat 
but for their decision in its aftermath to withdraw and exercise more caution in the 
dispatch of men to the fronts, saw a number of youth seek to form their own camps 
and groups for fighting in Afghanistan.64


 The majority of these groups set up camps in the surrounds of Jalalabad. 
Some would disintegrate, some would become national groups and some would 
change focus from fighting in the Afghan jihad to joining the jihad in Chechnya such 
as was the case with Ibn al-Khattab.65 Others such as Osama Azmarai turned their 
focus towards targeting the West and subsequently formed close working 
relationships with the Khalden camp in the mid to late 1990’s consolidating what 
Hamid labels ‘the Jalalabad School’.66  However, at this time these groups were 
beyond the reach and influence of al-Qaeda or Azzam, despite their best efforts to 
bring them under control. 


 When, following the Jalalabad defeat, bin Laden travelled back to Saudi 
Arabia, leaving what remained of al-Qaeda in the hands of its commanders, they 
sought to refashion it into a training institution.67  However, being restricted to 
training was unappealing to most members, and over the next two or so years al-
Qaeda would continue to shrink and seemed all but dead. Mustafa Hamid recalls 
asking al-Qaeda’s leaders for some men to support his operation in Gardez and it 
being only able to supply 60 trained men, which was its entire trained ‘force’.68 
Ultimately they did not participate in conflict because the city surrendered, but it is 
clear from his account the organization was fundamentally weakened. 


 Another factor that weakened al-Qaeda’s strength was its loss of Egyptian 
Islamic Jihad cadres who until then had operated across organizational lines, 
training and fighting with al-Qaeda members.69 By this time, the Egyptian Islamic 
Jihad cadres had lost interest in Afghanistan and had begun dispatching personnel 
to Sudan and Yemen. From there, they planned to reconstitute their efforts against 
the Egyptian regime, the overthrow of which was their founding objective.70  Before 
departing, the Egyptian Islamic Jihad tried to no avail to convince bin Laden to 
direct al-Qaeda’s energy and resources to jihad in Egypt.71  It was not the only 
organization attempting to secure al-Qaeda’s support, despite its weakened status, 
which bin Laden sought to keep private.72


 Despite the presence of such offers and lobbying efforts, there seemed to be 
little plan for taking al-Qaeda forward. Bin Laden himself had not voiced a particular 
cause or focus for the group, but privately was looking to Yemen.73 When his efforts 
there failed, and the Afghanistan conflict ended and Pakistan became less 
hospitable to Afghan Arabs, bin Laden’s focus turned to finding a home for the 150 
or so persons remaining in al-Qaeda.74


 It was at this point bin Laden decided to relocate al-Qaeda to Sudan in East 
Africa. He ordered all facilities in Afghanistan and Pakistan liquidated.75 Sayf al-Adl, 
al-Qaeda’s then head of security, intervened and lobbied for the camps to be kept 

21

Case 3:04-cr-00301-JCH   Document 163-1   Filed 05/16/14   Page 168 of 274



open on a skeleton staff.76 This was in part motivated by a request from his father-
in-law, Mustafa Hamid, who was lobbying for al-Qaeda to take up the training of a 
Central Asian force to be comprised of Tajiks. Al-Qaeda ultimately declined the 
project, so Hamid instead took it upon himself to provide the training, having 
secured permission from al-Adl to use the al-Faruq camp, which would have 
otherwise been closed.77


 At the nearby Jihad Wal camp, al-Qaeda’s main camp in Khost, a skeleton 
staff was to remain. Jihad Wal had been established in 1988 at the height of al-
Qaeda’s apogee in an area controlled by Hekmatyar’s faction of Hizb-e Islami.78 As 
al-Qaeda quickly expanded in 1989 other camps such as al-Faruq, al-Siddiq, and 
Khalid bin Walid were added.79  When al-Qaeda left Afghanistan a few years later, 
roughly a dozen individuals stayed in the Jihad Wal camp, ostensibly to keep it 
open. The other smaller camps consisted of a few buildings, and for the duration of 
their existence, were used only intermittently.80  Al-Faruq was closed, with al-
Qaeda’s people and materiel transferred to the Jihad Wal camp, leaving Hamid the 
camp ground to undertake his own Tajik training project.81


 During its time in Sudan al-Qaeda largely focused on non-jihad activities 
although it did provide funding to an Algerian group as well as the Egyptian Islamic 
Jihad. Owing to disagreements with both of these groups in 1995, funding was 
ceased.82 For the most part, however, al-Qaeda’s primary focus was on what some 
of its members, angered by the absence of opportunities for jihad, derisively called 
‘civilian’ work.83  Concerned that they too might leave, al-Qaeda’s leaders 
consolidated jihad opportunities in Somalia, after a Somali group had earlier 
approached it for training assistance.84  Al-Qaeda members were encouraged to 
travel to Somalia as a way of allowing them to participate in training of combat 
groups but remain tied to the organisation.85

	 While in Sudan bin Laden remained engaged with issues in Saudi Arabia, as 
is reflected in the numerous letters and statements he released on political issues 
within Saudi Arabia and with regard to the continuing presence of US troops on 
Saudi soil in the aftermath of the first Gulf War.86 Bin Laden was also watching with 
concern the rise of a takfiri current in Saudi Arabia, which he believed threatened the 
security and stability of the state, and in which his letters and urging of the youth to 
exercise patience before undertaking action, were in part an attempt to counter. 


 Despite the conflict in Bosnia raging during al-Qaeda’s early years in Sudan, 
and contrary to popular perception, al-Qaeda was not formally involved in the 
conflict. Bin Laden admitted as much in later media statements.87  The Arab 
presence in Bosnia was dominated by Gamaah Islamiyyah and by some by Gulf 
Arabs outside of al-Qaeda’s influence who had trained in their own camps in the 
surrounds of Jalalabad following the 1989 defeat and subsequently went on to join 
the fight in Bosnia and elsewhere. 


 Later, bin Laden would focus heavily on drawing back in these Gulf Arabs, 
achieving some success with a group that referred to themselves as the Northern 
Group.88 Significantly, however, he was unable to attract those within the group who 
had led camps in Jalalabad, such as Ibn al-Khattab, whom he had from his 
Jalalabad days until the latter’s death in 2002, considered as competition.89  Rather 
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than join al-Qaeda Ibn al-Khattab instead travelled on to Chechnya where he rose to 
become the commander of the foreign fighters in what became the most popular 
and high profile jihadi conflict during the 1990’s. Ibn al-Khattab’s link to Khalden, 
and the return of most Afghan Arabs to this camp, and not al-Qaeda saw Khalden 
continue to provide training while al-Qaeda’s camps lay mostly empty, even after the 
organisation’s 1996 return to Afghanistan.


 However both Khalden and al-Qaeda -- after its return to Afghanistan -- soon 
found themselves dealing with a challenging situation that initially caused both to 
doubt their safety and ability to operate in the country. This was the rise of the 
Taliban movement, which owing to Hekmatyar’s recruitment of some Afghan Arabs 
to fight with him against the Taliban led the Taliban to initially view the presence of 
Arabs in Afghanistan with great suspicion.
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3. 	 Foreign Fighters and Volunteers under the Taliban
 
	 (a) The Rise of the Taliban

Most of those who would later form the Taliban in 1994 were too young to 
play more than minor roles in the war against the Soviet Union. They participated as 
members of fronts composed of religious students (Taliban) and formed the bulk of 
the fighting force of the two madrasa-based parties of the Afghan resistance.90 The 
founding members of the Taliban had had little to no contact with foreign fighters 
during the 1980s jihad against the Soviet Union including those who would 
subsequently join al-Qaeda or other foreign militants later present in Afghanistan.91 
Their conception of jihad remained almost apolitical -- an individual duty of 
resistance to invasion by non-Muslims -- and the majority returned to their religious 
studies or communities after the withdrawal of the Soviet forces in 1989.92


 Following the withdrawal of Soviet forces from Afghanistan in 1989, the 
Afghan Communist government (under Najibullah) maintained their rule over 
Afghanistan for three more years. The Soviet Union continued to bankroll 
Najibullah’s government, which managed to leverage the financial and military 
resources to extend the reach of the state. In 1992, however, the Soviet Union 
stopped supporting Najibullah and the Afghan state subsequently collapsed. Efforts 
among the mujahedeen groups to form a united government failed, and they soon 
fell into war with each other. As Afghanistan descended into civil war, and security in 
southern Afghanistan deteriorated as commanders feuded over control and 
resources, international interest in the country subsided because the Soviets had 
withdrawn and so the strategic impetus for involvement no longer remained. The 
Afghan civil war of the early 1990s was devastating and large parts of the country 
descended into chaos and anarchy.93


 The civil war era is remembered in Southern Afghanistan as the time of the 
topakiyaan (‘the men with guns’) or as ‘the time of the chains’. Mujahedeen 
commanders lost control over some of their fighters who would set up checkpoints, 
placing chains across the roads, and extract taxes from merchants and travellers. 
They stole, raped and murdered at will. The situation, as described by those who 
lived through it, describes an anarchic scene that saw the population being 
exploited and tormented by the men with the guns.94


 The individuals who formed the Afghan Taliban were not involved in the 
chaos. After the withdrawal of the Soviet forces from Afghanistan in 1989, the 
‘taliban’ or religious students who had fought in and around Kandahar province 
returned to their madrasas and mosques and continued with their education. They 
stayed out of the civil war chaos until early 1994, when several small groups of the 
‘students’ began to organize in response to the dire situation. As former fighters and 
religious students (some of whom were young mullahs and respected members of 
society) they were known to the community, which approached them asking for help 
to stop the chaos, as Mullah Abdul Salam Zaeef recalls in his autobiography.95 

In 1994, a group of former mujahedeen from the Taliban fronts mobilized 
against criminal gangs west of Kandahar City. This early Taliban movement was a 
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local group reacting to the situation in its area. It mobilized a blend of local culture 
and a literalist interpretation of Islam to try to impose order on a chaotic situation. It 
was not a movement concerned with anything beyond local circumstances. Several 
Taliban groups appear to have started at the same time around the province of 
Kandahar. Their goals were initially limited to promising security and justice and they 
grew quickly on the back of broad public support for such a focus. Within a month 
of their early formation, the Taliban took the city of Kandahar in November 1994. The 
individuals who had first formed the movement had taken a personal pledge of 
allegiance to Mullah Mohammad Omar who subsequently became Amir ul-
Mumineen, or ‘the leader of the faithful’, in April 1996.96 

In contrast to the warring factions who had clashed for the previous few 
years, the Taliban considered themselves to be a new group that had come to end 
the civil war, rather than one that was participating in it. Afghans initially welcomed 
the Taliban because it was setting an end to the chaos and promising to deliver 
security and justice.97 After its initial swift successes, the Taliban also soon gained 
the support of Pakistan as well as foreign governments. Afghan groups regarded the 
Taliban as potential allies that could tip the balance of power if brought in as part of 
an alliance, while foreign powers saw the Taliban as a group who could end the civil 
war.

	 As the movement gathered momentum, it advanced from Kandahar province 
to Zabul, on to Helmand and Uruzgan, capturing Herat in September 1995 and 
Jalalabad and Kabul in September 1996 after which time the emirate was declared 
and Mullah Muhammad Omar announced as Amir ul-Mumineen.98 The pledge and 
his appointment played an important role within the movement, but its significance 
extended far beyond this. The title Amir ul-Mumineen held historic significance for 
Muslims and his appointment was widely discussed and debated by Muslim 
scholars and foreign fighters present in the country. It further exacerbated the 
debate among foreign jihadis who had previously (during the 1980s jihad) criticised 
the Afghan mujahedeen on various matters of religious doctrine and practice. 

 
 In particular, the foreign takfiri groups considered the Taliban to be 
innovators. In comparison to other Afghan mujahedeen, the Taliban had little to no 
contact with foreign fighters during the 1980s jihad, and only a very limited number 
were present in Kandahar. The majority of Taliban leaders had then belonged to the 
Harakat-e Inqelab-e Islami, which had poor contacts with Saudi Arabia and limited 
access to resources.99  It was only with the Taliban’s expansion towards the 
southeast and east that they inherited not only the remaining foreign fighters (or in 
the case of al-Qaeda the returnees) but their ranks began to include individuals who 
had close and old ties. Jalaluddin Haqqani -- a figure of prominence in the 
southeast of Afghanistan -- joined the Taliban reluctantly in 1995, and he had 
worked closely with the foreign fighters in the past.100


 The five years that followed saw the Taliban struggle to conquer central and 
northern Afghanistan and consolidate their hold over the country and its diverse 
population while imposing highly conservative social policies. The Taliban’s 
unprecedented rise was enabled in part by ongoing support from the government 
and security apparatus of Pakistan and the arrival of madrasa students from across 
the border.101
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The Taliban’s evolution is complex and somewhat unprecedented in 
Afghanistan. Starting as a small local movement drawn from the rural areas from 
southern Afghanistan, the group rose to control most of Afghanistan. Untrained, and 
poorly equipped to carry out the project of state building and governance the group 
struggled to maintain control and order. While early on trying to establish good 
relationships with the international community, the Taliban government was only 
recognized by three countries, Pakistan, the United Arab Emirates, and Saudi 
Arabia.102 It was subject to sanctions due to its harboring of Osama bin Laden and 
other foreign fighters.103  The Taliban’s internal and external problems grew 
considerably throughout its time in power, and it never succeeded in driving out the 
last resistance of the Northern Alliance, against which it fought for full control of 
Afghanistan.

While the United States did not recognize the Taliban, it had contact with the 
movement as early as 1995. Several documents have since been released that 
outline the failed diplomatic engagement that took place.104  The sum of these 
engagements over the time of the Taliban’s time in power were that Mullah 
Muhammad Omar came to believe that meeting American demands would not solve 
the fundamental problem and that it would continue to take issue with the 
movement even if it handed over bin Laden whom it inherited after coming to power. 
Mullah Muhammad Omar ultimately sacrificed his country on the strength of this 
belief. 

(b)The Return of the Afghan Arabs


 The period of 1994-1996 was described as “the phase of diaspora and 
temporary safe havens,” where many foreign jihadi groups were travelling in search 
of new bases and causes.105  These developments were spurred on by the 
increasing scrutiny of Pakistan, which after the end of Afghan jihad and descent of 
Afghanistan into civil war was no longer amiable to the continued presence of 
foreign fighters along its border. By 1994, there were relatively few Arabs left in 
Pakistan, and still fewer (if any in any significant numbers) remaining in Afghanistan. 

	 It was only after 1996 that number of foreign fighters in Afghanistan began to 
slowly rise again. By the end of the 1990s over a dozen distinct groups and 
freelancers were operating in Afghanistan.106  The groups had significantly different 
ideologies. Some of the groups that had come to Afghanistan were takfiri groups 
that supported neither al-Qaeda nor the Taliban.107

	 The number of groups and training camps operating during this period as 
outlined by various individuals present at the time differs. Groups would leave, 
training camps close or move and numbers of foreigners in Afghanistan fluctuate. In 
his book The Global Islamic Resistance Call Abu Musab al-Suri listed fourteen 
training complexes registered by the Taliban.108  As the list shows, al-Qaeda was 
only one organisation amongst many that was involved in running the training 
camps.109 


 Al-Suri’s list gives an overview of the groups and individuals that trained and 
operated in Afghanistan, much of which has been confirmed by other sources. He 
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identifies three non-Arab groups:

 The Uzbek mujahedeen, known as the Islamic Movement of Uzbekistan 
under the leadership of its amir Tahir Yuldashov, and his deputy Juma 
Bey Namangani. They were concerned with Uzbekistan, and declared 
jihad against the Uzbek government in 1999. 

 The mujahedeen of Eastern Turkestan, known as the East Turkestan 
Islamic Movement led by Abu Muhammad al-Turkistani who were 
fighting for the liberation of Xinjiang province from Chinese rule.

 A small grouping of Turks and Kurds.

	 Al-Suri lists eleven Arab groups:

 Al-Qaeda, led by Osama bin Laden.

 The Libyan Islamic Fighting Group led by Abu Abdallah al-Sadiq 

 The Moroccan Islamic Fighting Group led by Abu Abdallah al-Sharif.
 The Egyptian Islamic Jihad Organisation led by Ayman al-Zawahiri.

 The Egyptian Islamic Group. 

 An Algerian jihadi formation.

 An Tunisian jihadi formation. 

 The group of Abu Musab al-Zarqawi who were mostly Palestinian and 
Jordanian. 

 The Khalden camp, a ‘general training camp’ led by Ibn Sheikh al-Libi, 
and Abu Zubayda.

 The Sheikh Abu Khabab al-Masri camp.

 The Al Ghuraba Camp, led by al-Suri. 

It would not be until early 2001 that all of these groups would be present in 
Afghanistan; with some only returning very late to the country. Of those who did 
leave the region following the end of the Afghan jihad, al-Qaeda was the first to 
return.

	 (c) The Taliban Inherits Bin Laden

	 Osama bin Laden, along with his small entourage returned to Afghanistan in 
early May 1996, landing in the eastern city of Jalalabad, which at the time was not 
under Taliban control. The Taliban were neither aware nor involved with his return.110

	 The Taliban captured Jalalabad and Nangarhar province on September 11, 
1996, and it was at this point that the movement inherited Osama bin Laden. As an 
organization, the Taliban in the 1990s displayed a paradoxical structure that seemed 
to be highly centralized at the top but displayed great diversity, independence and 
informal command structures towards the regional and lower ranks. While it is 
commonly stated that the Taliban controlled up to 95% of the country towards the 
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end of their rule, they did so only to the extent that all Afghan governments did, 
which is to say in varying degrees depending on the part of the country. At times 
individual commanders exercised considerable autonomy from the central 
leadership, or in other cases the local population would effectively govern 
themselves having reached a tacit agreement with local Taliban forces.111 This being 
said, as a movement, besides individual accommodation on a local basis, the 
Taliban had no existing relationship to bin Laden and his al-Qaeda organization, nor 
to any other foreign militant group (this does not necessarily include Pakistani 
groups).112 


 The two groups knew little about each other. In fact, al-Qaeda and the 
Taliban were deeply suspicious of each other, since they had had no prior 
experience or shared history. Bin Laden and Arab jihadi affiliates’ initial knowledge 
of the Taliban seems to have been just as poor as the Taliban’s understanding of 
them. Mustafa Hamid has written that “[a]l-Qaeda did not have a clear idea about 
the Taliban Movement, and in general, they were not ready to trust any Afghan 
party.”113  The majority of the Afghan Arabs had early on sided with Hekmatyar’s 
Hizb-e Islami, a group that had been involved in the fighting against the Taliban. 
Among some of the Arab Afghan groups were strong takfiri leanings, and they 
considered the Taliban to be innovators that needed to be fought.114


 Bin Laden’s decision not to side with any side as Taliban forces approached 
the city of Jalalabad would not have gone unnoticed by the Taliban. Furthermore, 
Jalaluddin Haqqani, who had had contact with bin Laden and knew who he was, 
had already joined them.115  Bin Laden was likely a somewhat known entity to the 
approaching forces. He was a mujahed who had fought in Afghanistan against 
Soviet and communist soldiers, and was famous for his riches. While the Taliban 
were wary, they regarded bin Laden and his followers as guests who held potential 
benefits for Afghanistan and their movement. His misadventure in Sudan and his 
poor financial state at the time is unlikely to have been known by them at the time.


 Mullah Mohammad Omar seemed to be largely unaware of bin Laden and 
what his objectives were.116  The Taliban were occupied by the war effort and the 
imminent threat inside Afghanistan. It did not take long, however, until they were 
approached by foreign governments over bin Laden’s activities. Saudi Arabia almost 
immediately exerted considerable pressure on the Taliban to hand over bin Laden.117 


 Nevertheless, bin Laden received assurances that he would be not turned 
over to the United States. According to Najwa and Omar bin Laden, Osama bin 
Laden’s first meeting with a Taliban official took place in Mawlawi Yunis Khalis house 
in Jalalabad. In this meeting Mullah Ehsanullah Ehsan assured bin Laden he would 
not be handed over to the United States, explaining that the Taliban as a 
fundamental principle would never hand over a fellow Muslim to non-Muslims, let 
alone a mujahed who had fought against the Soviet forces. 118 


 While this assurance may have been given, a great deal of mistrust still 
existed. At that time bin Laden and his affiliates had little to no knowledge about the 
Taliban, and generally distrusted Afghan parties.119  The first meeting between bin 
Laden and Mullah Mohammad Omar took place in the “winter of 1996,” highlights 
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this.120 Bin Laden was summoned to meet Mullah Muhammad Omar, and feared that 
at that meeting he would face a harsh sentence, even execution for his continuing 
media campaign after he had been told to cease such activities.121  Instead, the 
Taliban leader took bin Laden to task over his statements calling for a jihad against 
the United States in August 1996.122  Another point was allegedly covered: that of 
the presence of “Americans and Jews” in Saudi Arabia.123  Hamid says that bin 
Laden made a strong case for the importance of expelling these foreigners, but 
Mullah Mohammad Omar argued that the civil war in Afghanistan was a more 
pressing matter.124 


 The picture that emerges out of this first meeting is somewhat characteristic 
and lays out some of the themes of future encounters between the leaders of the 
two groups. Bin Laden would appeal to Mullah Mohammad Omar’s need to be 
perceived as a strong Muslim leader transcending his Afghan upbringing and the 
nationalist tendencies of the Taliban. Mullah Mohammad Omar’s need to adhere to 
his interpretation of Islam, in particular in the eyes of his perceived constituency, 
came at great cost for the Taliban and Afghanistan at large because Bin Laden 
would prove to be a considerable liability.
	

 The Taliban and al-Qaeda had little physical interaction and points of 
contacts. The Taliban left bin Laden alone in Jalalabad while the Arabs kept to 
themselves.125  However, pressure on the Taliban was mounting in the face of an 
ever-growing media campaign by bin Laden despite its instructions that he cease 
his media activities. Bin Laden, however, again sought to appeal to Mullah 
Mohammad Omar’s need to be perceived as a strong Muslim leader transcending 
his Afghan upbringing, and attempted to find ways to continue his activities while 
having been instructed to do not so.126 The naiveté of the Taliban’s senior leadership 
and the reluctance of second-tier leaders to repeatedly and directly challenge 
Mullah Mohammad Omar on the bin Laden issue combined with bin Laden’s 
attempts to flatter the leadership and consolidate al-Qaeda’s position, gave him 
enough room for manoeuvre. 

	 (d) Al-Qaeda (1996-2001)


 Al-Qaeda’s return to Afghanistan was not voluntary. International pressure on 
Sudan meant that bin Laden and his remaining men -- by then owing to significant 
attrition numbering no more than around 50 -- were forced by Sudan to return to 
Afghanistan.127  Bin Laden’s money and investments in Sudan were frozen by the 
government and not returned to him on his departure, meaning the organization 
found itself with dire financial problems upon returning to Jalalabad in May 1996.128 
Hamid reports that bin Laden was forced to borrow money to support the upkeep of 
his fighters and their families.129


 Bin Laden arrived in Jalalabad together with fourteen other al-Qaeda 
members, while the rest of the group followed shortly thereafter with family 
members in tow.130  Their return to Jalalabad was arranged and funded by the 
Sudanese government.131 At the time Jalalabad was not under Taliban control; it had 
only taken territory to the south and west of bin Laden’s location (he was staying a 
small distance outside the town in what came to be known as ‘the Arab village’). Al-
Qaeda returned under the protection of a number Afghan commanders who had 
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fought in the jihad against the Soviets and who had negotiated with the Sudanese to 
host bin Laden and his men, but the situation was so unstable that shortly after its 
return several of them were assassinated in quick succession.132 


 At this time al-Qaeda’s position was highly insecure; it had extremely limited 
funds, and with only 50 men could not even effectively defend the ‘Arab village’ 
outside of Jalalabad where it had settled its cadres and family members.133 It seems 
an odd position from which to declare jihad on the United States but yet this is what 
bin Laden did in his August 1996 declaration. 


 The declaration had been the outcome of several months of consultation 
with other al-Qaeda members and was issued in August 1996. Entitled ‘Declaration 
of Jihad against the Americans Occupying the Land of the Two Holy Places,’ it was 
published in Al-Quds  al-Arabi, a London-based newspaper.134 In addition to the oft-
cited reason of the US presence in Saudi Arabia, Mustafa Hamid argues the 
declaration was in part issued by bin Laden in reaction to events in Saudi Arabia 
and the rise of a takfiri current in the Kingdom. In November 1995, a car bomb 
exploded outside the office of the Saudi Arabian National Guard complex in Riyadh. 
This was followed by an attack on the Khobar Tower complex in June 1996. As 
Hamid explains:

Abu Abdullah [Osama bin Laden] was worried about what was happening inside 
Saudi Arabia. We all were. There were new fighting songs circulating among the 
youth that just urged people to kill and explode things, and they were gaining 
popularity like they had in the camps of Jalalabad.135


 Bin Laden was fearful that such a current could lead to the destabilisation of 
Saudi Arabia and provide a pretext for greater US occupation of the country.136 The 
declaration was, according to Sayf al-Adl, also more generally issued as a way of 
attracting experienced mujahedeen back into al-Qaeda’s fold.137 The Declaration’s 
construction of a worldview that saw the rulers of the Arab states portrayed as 
agents or tools of the United States and its interference was thought to be the best 
means of doing so, and was also the view bin Laden had arrived at following his 
return to Afghanistan.


 Despite declaring jihad against America, al-Qaeda’s primary objective during 
this period was to unite all foreign militant groups under its command and become 
the pre-eminent jihadi organisation.138  Indeed, this motivation was in part what 
drove the 1996 declaration because bin Laden feared the emergence of a movement 
in Saudi Arabia outside of his control and believed that making the declaration 
would allow him some influence, if not control, over its direction.139  Until the late 
1990s, however, al-Qaeda was unsuccessful. Al-Qaeda was simply just a small 
group among many others, and absent a coherent and constant strategic agenda 
beyond a declaration via which to attract recruits and finances, faced significant 
competition from other groups active in the milieu; most notably Khalden in 
Afghanistan, and Ibn al-Khattab in Chechnya, for which Khalden served as a rear 
training base.140

	 To counteract this, al-Qaeda invested heavily in its propaganda and bin 
Laden gave media interviews and issued public statements during this time, to the 
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great consternation of the Taliban who had inherited his presence as it came to 
power in Afghanistan. Indeed, the Taliban repeatedly asked bin Laden to refrain from 
media activities, but ultimately these requests were ignored.141


 By 1998 al-Qaeda’s media activities had extended to announcing the 
formation of a Front and holding a Press Conference in Khost training complex. With 
the announcement of the formation of the World Islamic Front for Jihad against 
Jews and Crusaders in February 1998, bin Laden left little doubt about his 
intentions. The statement -- narrating his by-then-solidified worldview that the 
United States was akin to the new Crusaders attacking the Muslim umma -- 
included a fatwa that calls on all Muslims to follow the duty of jihad (fard ayn):

Killing the Americans and their allies—civilians and military—is a duty for every 
Muslim who can carry it out in any country where it proves possible, in order to 
liberate Al-Aqsa Mosque and the holy sanctuary [Mecca] from their grip, and to 
the point that their armies  leave all Muslim territory, defeated and unable to 
threaten any Muslim.142

By the time the declaration of the Front’s existence had been issued, the central 
doctrine bin Laden would come to believe in -- the three strike doctrine -- began to 
solidify.143


 On 7 August 1998, the first of these strikes took place, when two near-
simultaneous bombs struck American embassies in Tanzania and Kenya. Close to 
300 people were killed -- mostly Kenyan and Tanzanian citizens -- and over 4,000 
were injured. The United States responded on the 20 August with missile strikes 
targeting training camps in Afghanistan. Al-Qaeda’s al-Faruq camp was hit and its 
entire Khost complex of camps was subsequently closed. At the time of the attacks, 
al-Qaeda had only just begun its first formal training session for a group of around 
70 trainees; the largest it had hosted since its Afghan jihad era apogee.144  Bin 
Laden, encouraged by the numbers, had been planning to relocate to live at the 
complex believing this would assist in attracting more trainees to the camps.145 This 
plan was foiled by the US missile strikes.


 With the Khost complex closed and despite having no real training camp 
outside of the airport complex in Kandahar (Tarnak Farm), to which al-Qaeda had 
relocated in 1997, bin Laden pressed on with his objective of building the group to 
be the leading foreign organization in Afghanistan. A key part of doing so was 
positioning itself as the vanguard organization targeting America, which was 
believed would help with the goal of unification of all foreign groups in Afghanistan 
under al-Qaeda’s leadership.146 However, despite some groups being pleased at al-
Qaeda’s strike against America they were simultaneously angry that bin Laden’s 
agenda was proving costly to their own; bringing unwanted attention, interdiction 
efforts and even resulting in the closure of their camps in Afghanistan on Taliban 
orders.147


 Indeed, al-Qaeda’s advances towards other groups and prominent 
individuals in this phase and right up until its 9/11 attacks, with the exception of the 
ten strong faction of the Egyptian Islamic Jihad, and to a lesser extent Abu Musab 
al-Zarqawi, were consistently rebuffed.148  Al-Qaeda and bin Laden’s sway and 
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prominence also continued to be dwarfed by Ibn al-Khattab. A key part of his appeal 
was not only his Afghan jihad heritage and participation but also his status as a 
commander of a foreign fighter contingent on the Chechen jihad front. The jihad in 
Chechnya was widely considered legitimate and supported by extensive fatwas as 
well as funds and volunteers from the Gulf, particularly Saudi Arabia.149  For this 
reason Ibn al-Khattab rebuffed advances by al-Qaeda for him to bring his Chechen 
program under the al-Qaeda umbrella -- even when he found his own campaign in 
the Caucasus region under threat and temporarily considered relocating to 
Afghanistan.150

	 In early 1999, bin Laden decided it was time for more attacks and consulted 
with two independent terrorist entrepreneurs: Khalid Sheikh Muhammad and Abdul 
Rahman al-Nashiri.151 Khalid Sheikh Muhammad had some time earlier approached 
al-Qaeda for support for his planes plot, which would ultimately evolve into the 
September 11 attacks. He did so after Abu Zubayda at the Khalden camp had 
declined to support his proposal owing to limited resources and suggested he 
instead talk to al-Qaeda.152 Al-Nashiri had an idea to attack US warships at port in 
Yemen for which he approached al-Qaeda for support.153 Both plots were adopted 
by al-Qaeda. However in the early stages of their formulation, al-Qaeda had only a 
handful of recruits to offer up, owing to its ongoing membership stagnation.154


 Al-Qaeda by now had proven its international capabilities and had 
formulated a programme and somewhat clear objectives. It was this, coupled with a 
strategic propaganda campaign, and its ability to provide material support that 
attracted al-Nashiri and Khalid Sheikh Muhammad to work with the organisation. Yet 
despite this success al-Qaeda continued to fail to achieve its objective of attracting 
others to join its efforts. Few other groups, prominent mujahedeen or new trainees 
were signing up. Ibn al-Khattab, despite not having capacity to accommodate new 
volunteers, continued to attract them while al-Qaeda’s membership would hover at 
around 100 members.155


 Al-Faruq, al-Qaeda’s main camp at Khost, was closed and another camp by 
the same name in Garmabak made famous in al-Qaeda’s later videos would not 
open until the spring of 2000.156 In 1999, al-Qaeda’s training assets were the small 
camp located in Mes Aynak and the Airport complex, also known as Tarnak Farm, 
outside Kandahar City. Neither conducted regular training due to a lack of recruits. 
As the 9/11 Commission report states:

The Mes Aynak training camp was  located in an abandoned Russian copper 
mine near Kabul. The camp opened in 1999, after the United States  had 
destroyed the training camp near Khost with cruise missiles in August 1998, and 
before the Taliban granted al-Qaeda permission to open the al Faruq camp in 
Kandahar. Thus, for a brief period in 1999, Mes Aynak was  the only al-Qaeda 
camp operating in Afghanistan.157


 Al-Qaeda’s next grand operation orchestrated by al-Nashiri, was a failure at 
first attempt. In January 2000, members of al-Qaeda attempted to bomb the USS 
Sullivans. They failed, sinking the small vessel that was due to deliver the explosives 
when they loaded too much weight on board. They succeeded on their second 
attempt, driving a small boat into the side of the USS Cole in October as it lay 
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docked at a fuelling buoy in Yemeni waters in October of 2000.158

	
By late 2000, the number of volunteers arriving in Afghanistan started to increase. 
While some might argue this was the result of bin Laden’s propaganda and the 
successful attack of the USS Cole, anecdotal evidence suggests that a fatwa or 
religious ruling issued by Sheikh Hammoud bin Uqlaa Ash-Shuaybi on 29  November 
2000 was a significant motivator of individuals that chose to venture to 
Afghanistan.159  The fatwa was in response to American threats to impose new 
sanctions against the Taliban for their failure to curb terrorism. An additional factor 
was that with Khalden’s closure in early 2000 al-Qaeda’s al-Faruq camp was the 
only camp offering general training, which was necessary before volunteers could 
participate in jihad at the Taliban fronts in the foreign fighters brigade. 

	 As foreign volunteer numbers grew at the Taliban fronts, power jostling took 
place as to who should lead what came to be referred to as the foreign fighters 
brigade, to which al-Qaeda contributed half a dozen commanders. Mullah 
Mohammad Omar convened a meeting in order to unite all foreign fighters under a 
single command. The expectation at the time was that bin Laden and al-Qaeda 
would be appointed to lead the foreign forces. Instead, however, Mullah Mohammad 
Omar appointed Juma Namangani, the military leader of the Islamic Movement of 
Uzbekistan.160 Some al-Qaeda members considered this a public humiliation for bin 
Laden, who instead returned his focus on the upcoming 9/11 plot.161


 Al-Qaeda also continued to try to unite the different foreign groups and 
individuals behind its leadership, an effort that continued to prove challenging. Al-
Qaeda’s first book, written by Abu Hafs al-Mauritani with a foreword by bin Laden, 
Islamic Action between the Motives of Unity and Advocates of Conflict was written 
to promote its unification efforts.162 As Mustafa Hamid points out:

The book was intended to help al-Qaeda with its efforts  to unify everyone under 
one group. Abu Abdullah was eager to make unity among the Arab immigrant 
groups inside Afghanistan because there were many groups not united with al-
Qaeda and he held some meetings at Mes Aynak about this.163

These efforts failed. It was not until the attack by the United States of America in 
late 2001 that a de-facto burgfrieden took place: a common enemy meant that 
cooperation became the name of the game rather than dissent. However, even this 
was short lived and crumbled after Mullah Muhammad Omar ordered a withdrawal 
of foreign forces from Afghanistan in early December 2001.

 

 Al-Qaeda’s failure to convince other groups from joining under its umbrella 
did not deter it from continuing with intensive recruitment efforts targeted at al-
Faruq’s trainee population, which had begun to bear fruit. Membership numbers had 
begun to increase. Al-Qaeda’s core membership was approaching around 150-170 
people, and the foot soldiers in the Foreign Brigade it had trained -- who were not 
members of the organisation but fought under the command of the six leaders it 
contributed to the brigade -- numbered around 75-100.164 


 By the end of 2001, al-Qaeda’s core membership, according to its internal 
records and the accounts of law enforcement officials, had grown to around 200 
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members, along with around another 80-120 in the Foreign Fighter Brigade, both of 
which were part of the then 1195-1800 strong foreign fighter contingent within 
Afghanistan, of which the Uzbeks were numerically strongest.165


 It would only be after 2001 and the defeat of the Taliban that al-Qaeda rose 
to the forefront of the international jihadist milieu. Individuals like Abu Musab al-
Zarqawi (who had rebuffed bin Laden’s advances for membership in the past), who 
had their own camps/facilities and operated independently would subsequently join 
its ranks. Al-Qaeda, a small organisation among many, would come to operate 
branches and cultivate affiliates throughout much of the Islamic world. Until then, 
and up to the time at which it was ordered closed, the Khalden camp of Ibn Sheikh 
al-Libi continued to outshine al-Qaeda.

	 (e) Khalden 

	 	 (i) Khalden under al-Libi and Abu Zubayda


 While al-Qaeda struggled to attract recruits for much of the mid to late 
1990’s, Khalden, under the leadership of Ibn Sheikh al-Libi and Abu Zubayda, 
prospered. Al-Libi took over Khalden following the disintegration of the Services 
Office in the early 1990’s.166  Under his stewardship, Khalden expanded its unique 
approach to training, operating as an open camp offering training to not only 
organisations and individuals but also small groups and networks. Abu Zubayda 
described this best when explaining that the camp operated as a “grocery store” of 
sorts, in which various groups and individuals could come and take whatever 
training they needed.167 Volunteers attending training were not required to join an 
organization, nor do they appear to have been subject to any intensive recruitment 
campaigns. 

	 This flexible approach allowed groups and individuals with different agendas 
to coexist independently within the confines of the camp. The freedom to come and 
train without obligation, and absent of recruitment pressure, coupled with the 
facilitation support Khalden provided to volunteer trainees seeking to travel for jihad 
at open fronts such as Chechnya, was why Khalden remained the most popular of 
the training camps. It was also why the camp was seen by al-Qaeda as being a 
strategic threat to its ambitions, both internally within Afghanistan, but also 
internationally, since Khalden was the location from where the first attacks against 
the United States emanated, as well as being a key part of the training and 
facilitation network for the conflict in Chechnya. For this reason, it is important to 
understand the different types of groups and individuals operating within the 
confines of Khalden as well as the nature of the relationships its leaders had with 
other groups and key figures inside and outside of Afghanistan at that time. 


 During this period Khalden was for a time home to the East Turkistan Islamic 
Party (ETIP), a militant organisation comprised of Uighurs from China’s restive 
northwest province, Xinjiang, who sought independence from China and to establish 
an Islamic state. The organisation based itself at the camp for a significant period of 
time until, after undergoing a period of expansion, it established its own training 
camp.168 Khalden also catered to a range of Algerian militants, who were by the mid 
1990’s heavily involved in the conflict in Algeria, and using the camp as a rear 
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training location.169  As a result of their presence, Khalden gained a reputation as 
being takfiri in its doctrinal orientation, like many of the Algerians allegedly passing 
through its camps.170  However, overall the camp was not as doctrinally strict as 
these key groups active within it. 

	 The training and religious education Khalden provided for volunteers arriving 
independent of any organisation was more firmly centred on classical jihad in the 
defensive jihad tradition.171 This is because the majority of volunteers arriving to the 
camp were coming with the objective of seeking training for, and facilitation of travel 
to jihad in areas where there was believed to be an occupation of Muslim land. 
These volunteers were less concerned with targeting regimes, which was more 
firmly the objective of the takfiri groups operating at Khalden such as the Algerians.


 Khalden was also host to an anti-Western network, which first manifested in 
the first World Trade Centre bombing in 1993. The anti-western network included 
figures such as Ramzi Yousef, Muhammad Ajaj, Khalid Sheikh Muhammad, and 
Osama Azmarai. Later, another anti-Western current would emerge associated with 
camp’s in-house religious institute: “The Belief Battalions.”172 In fact, the institute, 
led by Abu Abdullah al-Muhajir, issued its own fatwa supporting attacks against the 
West and the use of criminal activity to finance such plots.173 


 The Khalden camp has been linked to a number of plots against the West, 
stretching back to the 1993 World Trade Centre attacks and ranging from the 1999 
Millennium attacks and to at least one alleged plot in Europe in the period 
2000-2002.174  Most of these plots took place under the direction of, or with the 
facilitation of Abu Zubayda’s network, which was formalised sometime after 1996 in 
a small group he came to lead called The Mujahedeen Services Centre.175 


 Abu Zubayda was a Palestinian refugee who had grown up in Saudi Arabia, 
with papers allowing him and his family residence. Despite having lived in Saudi 
Arabia there was also a significant presence in his inner circle of persons from either 
al-Sham, the Levant or the Maghreb.176 This reflected the composition of Khalden’s 
dominant networks at that time.


 In 1994, Abu Zubayda was for a time involved in activities at the 
neighbouring al-Faruq camp in Khost.177 Although part of a complex of ostensibly 
al-Qaeda administered camps, run on land it rented from Gulbuddin Hekmatyar, al-
Faruq was at that time under the then leadership of Mustafa Hamid, an independent 
mujahedeen figure. Hamid was leading a project to train volunteers for the al-Nahda 
group’s efforts to undertake jihad in Tajikistan.178  It was a project al-Qaeda had 
refused to support, leading Hamid to take up the cause.179  Abu Zubayda was 
approached to provide facilitation help because there were so few persons who 
could perform this role remaining in the region.180 


 Indeed, the number of Afghan Arabs who remained permanently in the region 
following the end of the Afghan jihad through until the rise of the Taliban was 
remarkably small. Aside from the Khalden contingent, the only other remaining 
Afghan Arabs were a grouping at Darunta that was mostly aligned to Hekmatyar 
until the Taliban’s seizure of Jalalabad in 1996, as well as Mustafa Hamid at al-Faruq 
and a small al-Qaeda group at Jihad Wal, who numbered anywhere between 5-15 
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and functioned as a skeleton staff to keep its camps open and functioning.181


 Prior to the Taliban’s takeover of Khost and Jalalabad, the Khalden camp 
maintained a cooperative relationship with a loose grouping of Afghan Arabs who 
based themselves out of Hekmatyar’s Hizb-e Islami complex at Darunta.182 At that 
time Hekmatyar’s forces were fighting the Taliban. The Arabs who fought alongside 
his forces developed a reputation for being fierce and brutal fighters. This caused 
problems later when the Taliban came to power because they were distrustful of the 
Arabs owing to these earlier experiences.


 Among the Arabs operating at Darunta before the Taliban’s rise to power was 
Abu Khabab al-Masri, who would later establish his own separate training camp 
after the Taliban’s taking of Jalalabad in 1996.183 Abu Khabab was renowned for his 
expertise in explosives and had, since the latter stages of the Afghan jihad against 
the Soviets, been one of the key trainers in this area. Because the early training at 
Khalden only covered basic explosives familiarisation and not the mechanics of 
explosives construction, a cooperative agreement was reached where this type of 
advanced training would take place under Abu Khabab’s supervision; first through 
this affiliated grouping, and then later through his own independent camp. Later, 
when Khalden was ordered to move from its Khost location, it relocated to Darunta 
alongside Abu Khabab al-Masri’s camp, before being ordered to transfer operations 
to Kabul and then later closed.184


 While these cooperative relationships prior to the Taliban’s rise to power 
typified the interaction between the Afghan Arabs at Darunta and Ibn Sheikh al-Libi’s 
Khalden cadres, there was less interaction between Khalden and al-Qaeda cadres at 
Jihad Wal, and the other Afghan Arabs present at al-Faruq. A major reason for the 
lack of cooperative relationships along the lines of those that typified the Khalden-
Darunta interaction was that al-Qaeda’s cadre at Jihad Wal simply lacked the 
capacity to provide training support. While they could have feasibly provided ‘guest 
training’ at Khalden on an individual basis relating to their areas of expertise 
(although there is no such indication this took place) beyond this type of 
hypothetical participation they had virtually no capacity. Indeed, their situation at 
times was so dire that not only were they cut off from their then-Sudan based 
leadership -- making them often reliant on the loans of local shopkeepers for food -- 
but they also required assistance to secure Jihad Wal, which was ultimately guarded 
by the Tajik trainees that had studied under Mustafa Hamid at al-Faruq.185



 Another factor limiting interaction and cooperation during this period was 
that the small amount of training carried out at al-Faruq and Jihad Wal was solely 
focussed on groups or organisations. Mustafa Hamid was training volunteers from 
the al-Nahda organisation for jihad in Tajikistan, and a handful of senior Chechen 
mujahedeen, while al-Qaeda’s cadre were training a Pakistani group at Jihad Wal.186 
The training of the Pakistanis, however, was short lived. Al-Qaeda’s then 
Afghanistan amir, Abu Atta al-Tunisi cancelled the training and ejected the Pakistanis 
after they began infighting and then turned on their al-Qaeda trainers.187  The 
cancellation ended the only ‘organised’ training by al-Qaeda figures at its Khost 
camps in the period between the bulk of its members leaving for Sudan in the early 
1990’s and its return to Afghanistan in 1996.188  This left Khalden and its unique 
“grocery store” approach the destination of choice for most groups and individuals 
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seeking training prior to the rise of the Taliban.

	 (ii) 	 Khalden during Taliban rule


 Khalden’s popularity continued throughout the early period of Taliban rule 
through its ultimate closure in 2000, even with competition from other organizations 
and groups, including al-Qaeda, who offered training to foreigners. As the sole camp 
offering a broad array of training opportunities through the early and mid 1990s, 
Khalden had a head start in consolidating and building upon its networks through 
the rest of the decade, such that when external circumstances like the 1999 
outbreak of the second Chechen war took place, it was Khalden that remained the 
location of choice. This was despite there being other limited training options 
available in Afghanistan at that time, following the return of al-Qaeda and the arrival 
of a number of other groups and organisations who established themselves in 
Afghanistan. Khalden’s mode of operation as an open camp with a “grocery store” 
approach to training also allowed it to consolidate its ties with a number of other 
Afghan Arab figures returning to Afghanistan, who were keen to remain in the milieu 
but who did not wish to join al-Qaeda or any other militant organization.



 Another reason Khalden remained the location of choice -- as opposed to 
competitors, such as al-Qaeda -- was that it could maintain a constant training 
tempo because it did not suffer from the same cash flow problems as the nearby al-
Qaeda cadres. Al-Qaeda’s financial situation was poor in the years after its return to 
Afghanistan and would not significantly improve until 2000. Its trainee inflow was 
extremely small, and its training ad-hoc, particularly since its main camp complex in 
Khost was abandoned following the 1998 American Cruise Missile attacks. It would 
not be until early 2000 that al-Qaeda would open a permanent camp at Garmabak 
outside Kandahar city, which was also known as al-Faruq.189


 Khalden, conversely, had managed to preserve its financial resources, and 
while by no means rich or even able to finance substantive terrorist plots, was able 
to continue financing its training. Its limited financial means are on clear display with 
Abu Zubayda’s notification to Khalid Sheikh Muhammad that he and his 
Mujahedeen Services Centre did not have the means to support Muhammad’s 
planes plot -- to which Muhammad first approached him, prior to later pitching it to 
al-Qaeda on Abu Zubayda’s suggestion.190


 A key part of Khalden’s funding in the latter stages of its operation came 
through Saudi channels tapped by Abu Zubayda and Hassan Gul, a Pakistani with 
Saudi residence papers, who worked closely with Abu Zubayda and travelled on the 
camp’s behalf to Saudi Arabia to raise money.191 Gul, along with several others, was 
part of Abu Zubayda’s Mujahedeen Services Centre, which also had a small outpost 
in Turkey.192 

The second Chechen war increased Khalden's monetary support from Saudi 
Arabia. As outlined earlier, the Chechen conflict prompted a number of supporting 
fatwas. This, together with Ibn al-Khattab’s increased propaganda output and 
relaxation of Saudi border control, saw a number of Saudis attempt to travel to 
Chechnya to participate in jihad along with people from a wide range of countries.193 
The interest of would-be Chechen volunteers not only maintained Khalden's 
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prominence and popularity, but also gained it access to additional funding from Gulf 
financiers. 

The popularity of the Chechen cause also increased the number of "holiday 
jihadists" at Khalden. The camp had long hosted a form of holiday jihad, where 
Saudis and other wealthy volunteers travelled to the camp and took a short ‘training’ 
course. Such holiday jihad training took place during the first Afghan war and was 
an important means of fundraising and consolidating support networks. Such 
volunteers were spared the harsh training regimes reserved for those who would 
ultimately travel to the fronts of jihad and were allowed, as Nasiri derisively observes 
of the holiday jihadis he saw circa 1995, to “play with the weapons.”194 This type of 
training became popular following the return to prominence of the Chechen cause. 

	 (iii) 	 Khalden, Chechnya, and Competition with Al-Qaeda


 As outlined above, the Chechen jihad increased the popularity of Khalden 
and the relationship between Khalden and Ibn al-Khattab drew volunteers to the 
camp. The relationship, moreover, increased al-Qaeda's rivalry with Khalden, as Ibn 
al-Khattab and Khalden diminished the importance of al-Qaeda and frustrated its 
ambitions. The Chechen conflict -- and the relationship between Ibn al-Khattab and 
Khalden -- infringed on al-Qaeda’s ambitions both because of its differing 
recruitment objectives as well as the fact that al-Qaeda had no open, legitimate 
jihad front of its own. Khalden could train and dispatch volunteers to Chechnya, as a 
key part of its objective to train volunteers to fight in occupied Muslim lands. 
Meanwhile, al-Qaeda was seeking to train volunteers and retain them for its own 
organisational benefit. One way in which al-Qaeda was doing so was to try to keep 
volunteers near to the organisation and attempting to convince those who wanted to 
go to jihad on an open front, most notably Chechnya, to instead stay in Afghanistan 
because they could join the Taliban’s ‘jihad.’

 

 At that time the Taliban’s jihad was not recognised by fatwa, and was not 
widely supported. The issue only later resolved itself when bin Uqlaa, who had 
significant influence in the militant milieu released a fatwa deeming the Taliban 
legitimate and fighting alongside them therefore also legitimate.195 With no fatwa yet 
forthcoming al-Qaeda’s efforts met with only limited success. The bulk of volunteers 
in al-Qaeda’s target demographic of Gulf Arabs continued to go to Khalden, and as 
a result al-Qaeda’s recruitment efforts could not come to fruition. This led al-Qaeda 
to intensify its efforts to seek gain control over Khalden because it saw the camp as 
a strategic threat. 


 Indeed, Khalden’s changing trainee demographic in the last years of its 
operation away from Algerian, Uighur, and Central Asian trainees to include more 
Gulf Arabs, and Europeans (most of whom were seeking training preparation and 
facilitation for the conflict in Chechnya) arguably made it more of strategic threat to 
al-Qaeda than in its earlier years. The change mattered little to Khalden. Abu 
Zubayda’s Mujahedeen Services Centre continued its selective recruitment for the 
plots in which he was involved in either a facilitation or direction role; but for the 
most part Khalden’s recruits during its latter stages of operations were left alone and 
facilitated to fronts of jihad, or returned home after their training. 
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 For al-Qaeda, however, Khalden continuing in this manner was problematic; 
those few volunteers it had attracted to its camp and was training, and even some 
of its own members, were increasingly dissatisfied sitting in Afghanistan where there 
was no ‘real’ front of jihad, and instead sought to go to Chechnya. As Abdul Hadi al-
Iraqi wrote to al-Qaeda’s leadership at that time:

I am very sure if we open the doors of Chechnya now – In the season of 
missions- we will see a burst of more than 70% of the youth from this line or 
other streaming to there without hesitations, and it is a noticeable and well 
known fact through the speeches  and confessions  of the brothers. Forcing only 
a small amount of to stay behind in Afghanistan, those whom have the 
responsibility of their family or those who obey their Amir’s  even without 
convictions.196


 The general situation, in which Chechnya remained the celebrated conflict 
most volunteers sought to join, undermined bin Laden’s efforts to establish al-
Qaeda as the pre-eminent militant group in Afghanistan. As a result, it was not only 
Khalden that he viewed as a strategic threat during this period, but also Ibn al-
Khattab’s International Brigades, which he again sought and ultimately failed to 
bring under al-Qaeda’s influence. Al-Qaeda’s claims of a legitimate jihad in 
Afghanistan prior to the release of the bin Uqlaa's fatwa had done little to lure Ibn al-
Khattab’s volunteers away from the Chechen conflict to join bin Laden or come to 
the aid of the Taliban; thus rendering them outside its influence. Moreover, with 
Khalden continuing to operate as an ‘open shop’, providing training and facilitation 
for Chechnya and other locations, those who al-Qaeda did successfully recruit were 
recruited from within the confines of its camp, and usually via direct social network 
connections of its existing membership.


 Khalden's association with Ibn al-Khattab resulted from the latter's 
longstanding links to the Afghan jihad as well as through Zubayda’s Mujahedeen 
Services Centre. A key logistical link in the chain between Khalden and Ibn al-
Khattab was an outpost of the centre in Turkey run by Luay Sakka. The centre 
functioned as a ‘way-station’ of sorts, and provided support to Khalden in 
Afghanistan, as well as Chechnya and other locations.197  According to Sakka, his 
role included organising training in the region as well as coordinating training efforts 
with Abu Zubayda and the Khalden camp.198 While the extent of Sakka's provision 
of training is unclear, many volunteers used the Mujahedeen Services Centre 
networks and transited Sakka’s Turkey facilities before either traveling on to 
Chechnya or to Afghanistan for training.199 


 It is an often missed but significant event in the history of the 9/11 attacks 
that around one dozen of those who served as the ‘muscle’ hijackers in the attacks 
transited through this Turkey way-station in late 1999, early 2000, initially seeking to 
participate in the jihad in Chechnya. It is significant because this group, too, had no 
intention of joining al-Qaeda at that time. A confluence of circumstances culminating 
with Khalden’s closure saw them diverted to al-Qaeda and subject to an intensive 
recruitment campaign by its leadership. For this reason, it is important to explore the 
case of the group as it sheds important light on the state of al-Qaeda and Khalden 
at that time.
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 The group arrived in at Sakka’s way station seeking to participate in the jihad 
in Chechnya. However, at the time they arrived there was a changing of training 
protocols. Ibn al-Khattab had advised Sakka that no new trainees could be 
accommodated for the time being.200  By arrangement with Abu Zubayda and Ibn 
Sheikh al-Libi, new arrivals and those awaiting transit to Chechnya were instead to 
be dispatched to Khalden for training.201 They were sent to Afghanistan for training 
via the jointly shared Khalden/Chechen network coordinated by Sakka through the 
Turkey way station.202 


 Even after arriving in Afghanistan, al-Qaeda did not factor into the plans of 
the group, who like many others, arrived in Afghanistan for training at Khalden for 
jihad in Chechnya. It is all the more significant that al-Qaeda did not factor into their 
plans despite it being presumably known to them owing to familial relations.203 The 
reason for this is because at that time al-Qaeda had no formal training capacity and 
was also actively seeking to deter those within its networks from traveling to 
Chechnya.204 Indeed, al-Qaeda would only run one formal training session in 1999, 
at Mes Aynak and al-Faruq would not open until the first few months of 2000.205 A 
key reason for running the course at Mes Aynak was to consolidate bonds between 
those chosen for operations (the Cole/Sullivans and 9/11 attacks) and also to keep 
the remaining cadre engaged with the organisation as the Chechen conflict 
continued to infringe upon al-Qaeda’s recruitment and retention.


 However, around the time the dozen or so volunteers began their travel to 
Afghanistan the Taliban had ordered Khalden closed.206  This was part of a general 
order for camps to close and relocate to Kabul.207 But Khalden was also particularly 
targeted as bin Laden had long lobbied the Taliban to close the camp or force it to 
come under his command.208  Abu Zubayda first tried to lobby bin Laden for 
assistance in keeping the camp open, as at that time Ibn Sheikh al-Libi was away. 
Bin Laden’s response is illuminating. He told Abu Zubayda that it was a good idea 
for Khalden to be closed so that all the trainees were in one camp with one leader, 
which with Khalden closed would be bin Laden.209


 Following al-Libi’s return Khalden was closed and did relocate in some form 
to Kabul for a short period of time. However, al-Libi came under pressure from al-
Qaeda for what remained of Khalden to come under its umbrella. Rather than do 
this, Ibn Sheikh al-Libi chose to close all operations permanently.210


 Because the group from Turkey did not travel as a whole, and instead arrived 
in smaller groups over a period of time, those who arrived earliest made it in time to 
attend some of the last training sessions at Khalden prior to its closure. The late 
arrivals, finding Khalden closed were instead diverted to al-Qaeda’s al-Faruq camp, 
which opened around the time Khalden closed. For undetermined reasons, al-
Qaeda’s al-Faruq camp was allowed to remain open—perhaps because with 
Khalden choosing to cease operations rather than come under its command, there 
remained no camp to train volunteers arriving and seeking to fight on the Taliban’s 
fronts. Abu Musab al-Zarqawi’s Herat camp, which he had set up with al-Qaeda’s 
assistance, was also allowed to remain open. 


 At al-Faruq the late arrivals were subject to an intense recruitment effort that 
resulted in them being diverted away from their plans to undertake jihad in 
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Chechnya and instead radicalised to join al-Qaeda and its 9/11 plot. They in turn 
appear to have convinced those with whom they had travelled to Turkey but who 
had trained at Khalden to join them. This group, independently identified and 
acknowledged as having undertaken this route from Turkey to 9/11 by Khalid Sheikh 
Muhammad, Khalid bin Attash and Luay Sakka, would form the bulk of the 9/11 
‘muscle’ hijacking team (hijackers trained to take over the aircraft).211


 Despite Khalden being closed, and the trainees being successfully recruited 
al-Qaeda went to significant lengths to keep them isolated from elements of the 
Khalden network remaining in Afghanistan. This included also attempting to distract 
Louay Sakka, when he too arrived in Afghanistan. Following Khalden’s closure 
Sakka closed the Turkey office and then travelled to Afghanistan. Upon arriving, 
Sakka was encouraged by Sayf al-Adl, al-Qaeda’s then chief of security, to go to 
Herat to join Abu Musab al-Zarqawi, who al-Qaeda was supporting and who he 
knew through his joint support with Abu Zubayda, of the 1999 Millennium Plot in 
Jordan.212 


 Al-Qaeda’s assistance for Sakka to join al-Zarqawi was presumably to keep 
him away from the group of predominantly Saudi recruits he had sent to Khalden 
and who went on the become participants in the 9/11 attacks. By then, they were 
the subjects of intensive radicalised and recruitment efforts for the 9/11 plots. Given 
Sakka and Abu Zubayda’s cooperation on the 1999 Millennium plot in Jordan, al-
Qaeda’s support for Sakka to link up with Abu Musab al-Zarqawi’s training may 
have also been to keep him away from Abu Zubayda and minimise the chances of 
any further cooperation between the two on external operations Abu Zubayda may 
have been facilitating or directing in the west.213 


 Khalden’s closure not only affected the shape of the 9/11 plots but more 
generally it left trainees to return home or join the training programs at other camps, 
most notably al-Qaeda’s. The closure of Khalden, along with the Taliban’s general 
order for camps to close and move to Kabul, also impacted the training activities of 
Abu Khabab al-Masri whose camp at Darunta often received Khalden trainees 
seeking advanced explosives training.

	 (f) Abu Khabab al-Masri and Darunta

	 Abu Khabab al-Masri, whose real name was Midhat Mursi al-Sayid Umar, 
was an Egyptian who came to Afghanistan in the late 1980s.214  He was killed in a 
drone strike in 2008 in southern Waziristan, Pakistan.215 There is little known about 
his background. He had been imprisoned in Egypt as part of the conspiracy of the 
assassination of President Sadat in 1981.216  After his release from prison, he 
travelled to Afghanistan.217  He would come to be a trainer running one of the first 
explosives courses on offer to Arab-Afghans.218


 Abu Khabab’s camp at Darunta was independent of any organisation.219 The 
camp was located near several others in an area outside of Jalalabad. At the camp 
he offered explosives courses mostly to graduates from other camps. Trainees 
would be introduced to him, normally with a letter. His camp was run much like 
Khalden camp: individuals would get training but would not be recruited to a 
specific task. At times trainees would be invited or asked to take part in a specific 
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operation, but as far as we are aware, Abu Khabab did not formally join al-Qaeda or 
any other group, or recruit on a group’s behalf.220 

	 Abu Khabab did not rely on a finance network and charged for the 
explosives courses he gave in order to maintain his operation. It is suspected that 
the training programme he ran lasted between 2-6 weeks.221  In a letter written by 
Ayman al-Zawahiri to Muhammad Atef on April 15, 1999, al-Zawahiri mentions that 
Abu Khabab had been hired to run a chemical and biological weapons program.222 


 Throughout much of the literature that mentions Abu Khabab, he is 
erroneously referred to as al-Qaeda’s main explosives expert or bomb maker. As 
Anne Stenersen writes in “’Bomb-Making for Beginners’: Inside an al-Qaeda E-
Learning Course:”

Al-Qaeda sought to transfer such knowledge directly, by establishing 
“explosives courses” that were taught in the training camps in Afghanistan by 
skilled experts. In the 1990s, Al-Qaeda’s  most famous bomb expert was not 
Abu Khabab al-Masri, as commonly thought (Abu Khabab was  a “freelance 
trainer” for Al-Qaeda operatives, but was not directly involved in Al-Qaeda’s 
major international operations).223


 Omar Rushdi, who describes himself as having been a neighbour of Abu 
Khabab in Afghanistan at the time, argues that Abu Khabab’s financial situation 
pushed him to take on the al-Qaeda project. As the Washington Post writes:

Rushdi said the bombmaker was slow to join al-Qaeda and not a close personal 
ally of his  fellow Egyptian, Ayman al-Zawahiri, because he disagreed with the 
group's strategy and "didn't want to join the project against America." Rushdi 
suggested that Umar changed his mind and agreed to lead Project al-Zabadi in 
part because he needed money, and al-Qaeda was willing to pay for his 
services.

"If Abu Khabab had other choices, he wouldn't be with al-Qaeda," Rushdi 
said.224


 From 1999 onwards, Abu Khabab al-Masri ran al-Qaeda’s ‘al-Zabadi’ 
program, which was al-Qaeda’s chemical and biological weapons program.225  He 
experimented on dogs using poison gas and other substances, videotaping his 
experiments.226 Abu Khabab al-Masri, along with his friend Abu Musab al-Suri had a 
contentious relationship with al-Qaeda, despite his working with them. Indeed he 
may have been forced to work with them when a joint project he and Abu Musab al-
Suri were pursuing to set up their own camp was quashed by al-Qaeda, who saw 
the project as a potential threat to its recruitment stream.227

	 (g) Al-Suri and the Muaskar al-Ghuraba Camp


 Abu Musab al-Suri, whose real name is Mustafa bin Abd al-Qadir Setmariam 
Nasar, was born in Aleppo (Syria) where he studied mechanical engineering.228  He 
joined a splinter group of the Syrian Muslim Brotherhood fighting against the Syrian 
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regime.229  His group was dismantled by Syrian security forces. Al-Suri travelled to 
Peshawar (Pakistan) in 1987 to support and take part in the Afghan jihad.230 He met 
Abdullah Azzam and became a trainer in Afghan Arab camps.231 Before travelling to 
Afghanistan al-Suri lived in Spain and would later move to London in 1995 where he 
was involved in editing and writing militant Islamist publications.232 He returned to 
Afghanistan in 1997 where he was again involved in training.233  He remained an 
independent agent with a strained relationship to al-Qaeda.234 Al-Suri’s biographer 
Brynjar Lia has detailed al-Suri’s efforts to establish his own training camp and 
base.235


 Lia states that the al-Ghuraba Camp was located at the Qargha base of the 
Taliban’s 8th division just outside Kabul.236  Al-Suri himself stressed that “that the 
camp and the group he headed in Afghanistan ‘operated independently’.”237 Al-Suri 
would also maintain a front at the front-line fighting alongside the Taliban.238 In April 
2000 he pledged his allegiance to Mullah Mohammad Omar.239  According to 
Mustafa Hamid, the camp was de facto non-existing. Hamid recalls:

He was  giving lectures  in his  house. I have been there—these are pictures of 
lectures inside his house…the ‘camps’ in Kabul were houses  like this. The 
‘camp’ for Gamaah Islamiyyah in Kabul was not a camp; it was a big house. 
These houses  ended up being called camps  if small groups of people came 
frequently. If people slept there, it was  called a guesthouse, a madhafa. Abu 
Musab may have had a guesthouse.240

	 Al-Suri was seen by al-Qaeda as a competitor. In another story relayed by 
Mustafa Hamid, he describes how al-Suri was desperate to attract volunteers and 
went to al-Qaeda guesthouses and attempted to poach people for his own project. 
This led to an effective ban by al-Qaeda, preventing him from visiting their 
guesthouses.241


 The strained relationship between al-Suri and al-Qaeda drew in the Taliban. 
Al-Suri complained about bin Laden and al-Qaeda to his Taliban hosts. In an effort 
to deal with conflict among the foreigners the Taliban told bin Laden to invite al-Suri 
to a meeting that ultimately saw Juma Namangani appointed as the overall 
commander of the Afghan Arabs. According to Mustafa Hamid, al-Qaeda and bin 
Laden invited another figure along to the meeting (Abu Musab al-Zarqawi) instead of 
Abu Musab al-Suri.242 They pretended to have misunderstood the Taliban’s request.


 While al-Suri has become known as ‘a key al-Qaeda ideologue,’ his 
relationship with the group was complex and, at times, directly conflicting. An early 
member of al-Qaeda for a brief period, he left the organisation and until 9/11 
remained, like many others, a free agent. His strategy of decentralised and 
autonomous cells functioning without leadership stood in direct conflict with al-
Qaeda’s effort to unite all militant Islamist groups in Afghanistan under its sole 
command. Al-Suri would later briefly join al-Qaeda following the American invasion 
of Afghanistan but this was short lived.243 Al-Suri’s relationship with the Taliban was 
much better than his relationship with al-Qaeda. Indeed, it was the jostling between 
al-Suri and al-Qaeda’s leaders for influence over the Taliban and other foreign 
volunteers that caused a good deal of conflict between them.
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4.	 Taliban Relations with Foreign Militant Groups, and Foreign Fighters and 
Volunteers

	 (a) The Taliban Discuss Foreign Fighters


 Almost as soon as the Taliban took Kabul in 1996 the issue of foreign fighters 
in general, and Osama bin Laden in particular, caused deep fault lines amongst the 
Taliban leadership. The Taliban’s representatives had come under international 
pressure -- particularly from Saudi Arabia who were concerned about Osama bin 
Laden’s activities and open calls for struggle against the Saudi government. Bin 
Laden had given interviews to Channel 4 (UK) in late 1996, CNN (US) in March 1997 
and issued numerous statements in 1996 and 1997 in defiance of Taliban requests 
for him to refrain from media activity.244 


 Wakil Ahmad Mutawakil, the Taliban’s former foreign minister, has written 
that one of the reasons bin Laden and his followers were resettled in Kandahar was 
because the Saudis “insisted on the monitoring of his activities.”245  Bin Laden’s 
media activities also caused irritation within the Taliban. Senior leaders including 
Mullah Mohammad Khaksar, Mullah Mohammad Rabbani, Mullah Mohammad 
Hassan, and Mullah Mutawakil were part of a current who viewed the presence of 
bin Laden as a liability, pointing in particular towards the problems Osama bin Laden 
was creating, and how he continued to defy Mullah Mohammad Omar. These senior 
Taliban would eventually coalesce around Mullah Mohammad Rabbani, and his 
efforts to eject al-Qaeda from Afghanistan. However, during the last months of 1996 
into early 1997 the key figure seemed to be Mullah Mohammad Hassan. Bin Laden 
was, he argued, “directing” Taliban foreign policy with his media speeches and 
remarks and this was doing the movement no favours.246 


 Mustafa Hamid reports bad feeling towards bin Laden and his entourage 
were rife during this period.247 One rumour apparently went round the Taliban ranks 
that bin Laden had given an American envoy the opportunity to come scout for 
targets and to examine the possibility of striking at the Taliban movement.248Mullah 
Mohammad Khaksar, then deputy interior minister met bin Laden together with 
Mullah Mohammad Rabbani. The two reportedly told bin Laden it was time to 
leave.249  This appears to have been before bin Laden’s move to Kandahar, after 
which time he had more interaction with Mullah Omar. 250 


 Bin Laden’s move down to Kandahar in March 1997 saw a better relationship 
develop between him and Mullah Mohammad Omar, although it was not without its 
problems. Bin Laden had been moved for his own safety according to Taliban media 
briefings, but the Taliban also wanted to keep him close so as to restrict his 
activities.251  Bin Laden’s relocation brought him into closer contact with Mullah 
Muhammad Omar, whom he would visit on important Islamic holidays.252  However, 
they did not meet regularly. 


 The visit of Mullah Mohammad Omar to bin Laden’s residence during early 
1997, seem to have been aimed at encouraging the Arabs to start some 
programmes of work and knowledge transfer within the country. Indeed, many 
within the Taliban movement had at least some hope that the Arabs would bring 
money and expertise with them, which would help in the rebuilding of Afghanistan. 
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Bin Laden, though, had neither money nor the focus to start rebuilding 
Afghanistan.253  However, he could still play on the myth of his exploits during the 
Afghan jihad. His very presence in Afghanistan, having travelled from Saudi Arabia 
and left behind a life of luxury to dedicate his life to jihad and Islam, made a big 
impression on the Taliban leader, no matter how much his vision and interpretations 
may have differed from those of the Taliban in general. In this way it appears that 
Mullah Mohammad Omar respected bin Laden despite the pressure his presence in 
Afghanistan was placing on the Taliban leader. 


 The ongoing war within Afghanistan also played a role in shaping the 
relationship between the Taliban and al-Qaeda. The Taliban sought to expand the 
territory under their control. However, they found themselves in an increasingly 
severe war with a consolidating force around Ahmed Shah Massoud in 
Afghanistan’s north, and at least once during this period sought assistance from the 
Arabs around bin Laden in the defence of Kabul, which went perilously close to 
falling to Massoud’s forces twice in the period 1997-1998.


 Bin Laden saw an opportunity in assisting the Taliban. Aiding his hosts 
militarily would not only earn their favour but would also allow him to pursue his 
international goals because he could argue for the need for training camps to be 
able to contribute to Afghanistan’s defence. These camps, however, were not only 
for military training but also for ideological instruction and recruitment, which were 
crucial for al-Qaeda’s ability to expand and thrive. While the camps may have been 
presented as a means of helping the Taliban, they were not bin Laden’s real focus: 
he was determined to pursue his ‘American jihad project’ and consolidate al-
Qaeda’s position. As he continued to pursue this project as a matter of priority, 
these fundamentally different agendas would add to the growing friction between 
the two movements.

	 In May 1998, matters came to a head for the Taliban and bin Laden. The 
latter had publicly announced the formation of the World Islamic Front for Jihad 
against Jews  and Crusaders  and this widely publicised media event and had invited 
thirteen Pakistani (and one Chinese) journalists, which angered the Taliban 
considerably.254  Mullah Mohammad Omar and his senior political advisors had 
hoped he would keep to his promise of making no statements as long as he 
remained a guest of the Taliban. 255 As Hamid recounts:

It also angered the Taliban Movement and especially the anti-Bin Laden wing, 
resulting in a feud between Kabul and Kandahar. Mullah Omar found himself 
alone with no one supporting him, since he was perceived by the Taliban Shura 
members as  being weak and unable to impose his authority on Bin Laden. A 
question was even raised regarding who truly ruled Afghanistan: Bin Laden or 
Mullah Omar?256

Mullah Mohammad Omar was reportedly apoplectic. “How can he hold a press 
conference without my permission? There is only one ruler: Is it me or Osama?” 
Rahimullah Yousufzai recalls Mullah Mohammad Omar saying in a phone call after 
he learnt what had happened.257 Bin Laden had held his press conference at Jihad 
Wal camp, in defiance of the Taliban’s constant denials that such camps even 
existed. Consequently, the Taliban leader ordered the Khalden camp closed at this 
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point as well as the ones operated by Pakistani groups.258 Abu Musab al-Suri wrote 
an angry letter to bin Laden via Ayman al-Zawahiri about the situation and the 
impact of bin Laden’s actions, explaining the situation at this time:

The results of this  crisis  can be felt even here in Kabul and other places. Talk 
about closing down the camps has  spread. Discontent with the Arabs has 
become clear. Whispers between the Taliban with some of our non-Arab 
brothers has become customary. In short, our brother [Bin Laden’s] latest 
troublemaking with the Taliban and the Leader of the Faithful jeopardizes the 
Arabs, and the Arab presence, today in all of Afghanistan, for no good 
reason.259


 As Mustafa Hamid noted, the press conference had given the anti-bin Laden 
camp within the Taliban a legitimate complaint around which to rally, and it seems 
that this period between May and July 1998 saw serious Taliban efforts to try to 
draw a line under the bin Laden question. “The anti-bin Laden wing had become the 
silent majority within the movement’s leadership,” Hamid wrote.260 


 In the summer of 1998 Saudi Arabia also intensified its efforts to extradite bin 
Laden from Afghanistan.261  The Saudi Prince, Turki al-Faisal, had visited Mullah 
Mohammad Omar in June and had a reportedly productive and frank conversation 
about bin Laden.262  Mullah Mohammad Omar was frustrated by his guest, but 
needed some sort of face-saving mechanism that would allow him to defend himself 
against accusations of being ‘un-Islamic’. The outlines of this reported deal were 
agreed upon, and Saudi Arabia is believed to have sent 400 four-wheel-drive pickup 
cars and cash to fund the Taliban’s upcoming northern offensive as a de facto down 
payment to confirm the deal.263 However, this deal allegedly came undone following 
al-Qaeda’s African Embassy attacks and the American retaliatory cruise missile 
strikes.

	 (b) 1998 Bombings and Cruise Missile Strikes


 On August 7, 1998, two near-simultaneous bombs struck American 
embassies in Tanzania and Kenya. Close to 300 people were killed -- mostly 
Kenyans and Tanzanians -- and over 4000 were injured. Bin Laden’s threats and 
statements had finally found an expression in a very public way.264 The bombings of 
the American embassies in Nairobi and Dar es-Salaam caused mass casualties that 
seemed to be an end in themselves. The very notion of innocent bystanders, 
civilians that should be protected, did not appear to feature in al-Qaeda’s 
calculations and the group drew criticism of its actions even from within the militant 
milieu.265


 The Taliban reaction at the time seems to have been one of major concern.266 
The ‘political’ Talibs -- the anti-bin Laden camp -- were worried that the United 
States would now use bin Laden as a scapegoat for any future attacks on the 
United States, and others who were not sure whether bin Laden was responsible 
said that if he was it would be a catastrophe for the movement. Bin Laden was, they 
believed, a strategic liability for the movement and they sought to convince Mullah 
Mohammad Omar of this.
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 The group within the Taliban opposing the presence of bin Laden and his 
acolytes grew closer together during this period, partly as a result of being 
increasingly shunned by the Kandahar core leadership and Mullah Mohammad 
Omar himself. By 1998, Mullah Mohammad Rabbani -- the head of the Kabul Shura 
-- was the lead figure among this group.267 The Taliban group opposed to bin Laden 
was shunned because of their outspoken objections and belief that bin Laden was 
not in Afghanistan because he wanted to help the Taliban, but for his own purposes. 
Their objections were not a simply pragmatic response to international pressure -- 
although pragmatism seems to have formed a central core of their calculations, then 
as now. Rather, these objections were a considered response to bin Laden’s 
statements and actions, which continued despite Mullah Omar’s instructions for the 
al-Qaeda leader to cease his activities.268 


 Bin Laden however seemed to have an argument with which to convince the 
Taliban leader not to undertake any punitive measures against him after al-Qaeda’s 
embassy attacks or hand him over to the Saudis. He once again exploited Mullah 
Mohammad Omar’s need to safeguard his reputation in the eyes of the umma. 
According to bin Laden’s son Omar, Osama tried to seem contrite, putting on a large 
feast for Mullah Omar -- apparently “the first time that Mullah Omar had left his 
home to pay my father a visit” -- but this didn’t work. 269 Mullah Mohammad Omar 
sat at the opposite end of the garden, far away from bin Laden. Omar bin Laden 
states that the Taliban leader told Osama bin Laden that it was time for him and his 
men to leave Afghanistan.270  Bin Laden, however, it seems secured a reprieve and 
with it additional time to win over the Taliban leader. 271 


 The cruise missile strikes by America in retaliation for al-Qaeda’s attacks -- 
79 in total -- on August 20 seemed on face value to offer conclusive proof that bin 
Laden was a strategic liability, as argued to Mullah Omar by the Taliban’s anti-bin 
Laden camp. But they in fact had the opposite effect.272  As Cullison and Higgins 
noted the cruise missile attacks instead seem to have solidified the relationship.273 


 Despite this, Mullah Mohammad Rabbani was more forceful in his statement 
of opposition to bin Laden, and in November 1998 -- following a series of arrests in 
Jalalabad a month earlier -- was summoned to Kandahar to explain himself; his 
loyalty was in question.274  By 1998, Rabbani was already making regular visits to 
Saudi Arabia to treat the cancer that would eventually kill him and was reportedly 
‘the favourite’ of Prince Turki al-Faisal who unsuccessfully attempted to negotiate 
the handover of bin Laden to Saudi Arabia.275  Rabbani’s relationship with Mullah 
Muhammad Omar deteriorated as a result of his opposition, and never recovered.276 


 While other members of the Taliban reportedly later met with American 
representatives to discuss possible solutions they never reached agreement on a 
workable plan, in part because the Taliban had self-constraints that prevented them 
from taking additional action.277  The need to avoid fitna or conflict among the 
Taliban’s leadership core was apparently very strong. It seems to have been enough 
of a reason on its own for some members to keep their opposition to themselves: 
Rabbani and others’ experiences with Mullah Muhammad Omar may have deterred 
them from speaking out more, as they had learned this was an issue over which 
Mullah Mohammad Omar could become curt or angry, and many appear to have 
decided not to push the issue.278  Despite these concerns and differences of 
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opinions, some efforts were made to explore options for brokering a deal about bin 
Laden. 

	 Here, however, bin Laden would be helped by increasingly confrontational 
international diplomacy towards the Taliban on the part of the United States and 
others, which was turning more and more into a zero-sum game. Negotiations over 
bin Laden, in particular, seemed to go in circles. Many of the discussions were 
characterised by a lack of understanding of each side regarding the nature and 
conduct of diplomacy in the setting of the Taliban movement and the United States 
government.279


 While the United States appeared to have addressed this issue head on, it 
failed to account for the limitations of the Taliban leadership, in particular its 
underlying interpretation of Islamic doctrine and cultural customs. Talks between the 
United States and the Taliban turned out to have an adverse effect; the inflexibility of 
the American demands combined with the implications for the Taliban if they chose 
to submit to them, set the stage for future relations. Indeed, the demands appear to 
have reinforced the Taliban movements’ stubbornness -- despite all the internal 
issues that surrounded the continued presence of foreign militants including al-
Qaeda -- because there was no space to let the Taliban’s leaders negotiate an 
alternative solution and save face.280

 

 In this respect, August 1998 was a turning moment for the Taliban leader. 
Shortly after the African Embassy bombings, and following American demands, 
Mullah Mohammad Omar called the US State Department. He lectured the 
representative on the other end of the phone in Washington, saying that he had seen 
no evidence that bin Laden was behind the attacks.281  The call was otherwise 
mundane in content -- aside from it occurring at all -- but it opened up a channel for 
communication over issues. Around the same time Mullah Mohammad Omar was 
reported to have called on bin Laden to refrain from his “threatening statements” 
against Americans.282 


 Prince Turki also returned in August (after the bombings and the cruise 
missile strikes), reportedly to collect bin Laden and bring him back to Saudi Arabia. 
Taliban representative Mullah Mutawakil had reportedly visited Saudi Arabia in July 
to confirm the outlines of the deal and to ensure the Saudi offer of a religious panel 
that would condemn bin Laden and his activities was serious. In the August 
meeting, also attended by ISI chief General Naseem Rana, Mullah Mohammad 
Omar reneged on his promise.283  Mullah Mohammad Omar apparently announced 
the Taliban had no intention of turning bin Laden over to Saudi Arabia. He further 
stated that the Saudi government was ‘illegitimate’ because it had allowed American 
troops to remain in Saudi Arabia. He even claimed the Saudi government was 
planning to allow the United States to occupy the two holy sites of Mecca and 
Medina. They had no business interfering in Afghan matters and the umma would 
rise against them, he said.284


 The Saudi regime was angered by this U-turn and on September 22 
announced it was recalling its charge d’affaires in Kabul and expelled the Taliban 
representative, Shahabuddin Dilawar, from Saudi Arabia. A final pressure point 
seems to have been used: the Saudi government threatened to withdraw permission 
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for Afghans to make the Hajj pilgrimage.285


 The fallout with Saudi Arabia seemed to have caused a wider split within the 
Taliban. Mullah Mohammad Rabbani, who was known to have close ties to Saudi 
Arabia, was angered over Mullah Mohammad Omar’s treatment of Prince Turki. 
Some of the Taliban’s leadership reached out to its other allies, the United Arab 
Emirates and Pakistan. Mullah Mutawakil travelled to Abu Dhabi in an effort to 
ensure that relations would not be further downgraded.286  It was around this time 
that Pakistani officials also made independent enquiries with Mullah Mohammad 
Omar about the possibility of finding a solution to the bin Laden problem.287


 Mullah Mohammad Omar did appear to take action in response to the claim 
that the Taliban could not control bin Laden, which led to clear restrictions being 
applied at this point. A group of Taliban guards were reportedly appointed to stay 
close to bin Laden and watch over him at all times, and (in February 1999) his 
communications equipment was confiscated.288  In general, the Taliban 
communicated a very stern warning that bin Laden was to keep a low profile from 
this point on.289 They also tried additional outreach to the United States with Mullah 
Mohammad Omar writing a letter to the then US president, Bill Clinton. The letter 
was composed in language sufficiently undiplomatic that the Taliban’s envoy did not 
want to pass it on to the State Department, but it clearly stated the Islamic Emirate 
of Afghanistan had no intention of meddling in other countries’ affairs and wanted 
good relations with the United States of America.290


 Yet, the statements and actions of the Taliban often conflicted. Putting bin 
Laden under closer restrictions seemed to be a direct concession to Saudi Arabia, 
while an apology for Mullah Mohammad Omar’s treatment of Prince Turki’s seemed 
to be out of the question. A possible explanation, however, is that the restrictions, 
much like other policies in relation to the issue of bin Laden, were an effort to 
appease internal factions of the Taliban. Delivering bin Laden would not be Islamic, 
the argument ran, but it could be demonstrated that bin Laden would be controlled 
and forced to respect the sovereignty of the Taliban leadership. This move might 
have also been in part to try to assuage the international community beyond 
America, in an attempt to reverse the isolation of the movement.

	 (c) The Taliban and the International Community


 The first two years of bin Laden’s presence in Afghanistan did not overly 
challenge the Taliban’s ability to defend and argue against international interlocutors, 
since up to this point there had been no significant international actions undertaken 
by al-Qaeda. That would change with the 1998 bombing of two United States 
embassies in Africa. Hence, the presence of bin Laden and foreign fighters 
continued to be at the forefront of American and international grievances however 
by 1999 the list had steadily grown to include the Taliban’s social policies, its 
implementation of Sharia law, treatment of women, and its perceived inaction in 
relation to growing opium production in Afghanistan. Contact between the ‘emirate’ 
and the United States continued to be dominated by deep-seated mistrust.291 


 Taliban relations with the international community more broadly also 
deteriorated. While most international actors welcomed the Taliban when they first 
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emerged, by late 1999 the list of grievances and demands levied against them had 
grown steadily, and the movement was becoming increasingly isolated. The 
Taliban’s counter-narcotics efforts were a particular bone of contention. By 2000, the 
Taliban felt they had delivered on their promises to tackle the problem of opium 
cultivation but after doing so found they were offered little support from the 
international community.292  Instead, they found themselves were accused of 
artificially driving up the price for heroin and opium while holding on to stockpiles, 
however. As a consequence relationships further deteriorated.

	 The Taliban, however, continued to want to find some way to interact usefully 
with the United States and their other international interlocutors, especially over the 
issue of bin Laden. The way they sought to do this was to be given some way to 
save face; to be able to act without losing what they believed was their standing in 
the Muslim world. This was certainly the case with their dealings with the Saudis as 
well as the United States.293  However, there was scant opportunity provided for 
them to do so, and it seems that instead international policy effectively cornered the 
Taliban. As a result they became more stubborn in their dealings with the 
international community.294


 Nevertheless the Taliban were keen to engage with the foreign governments 
and international organizations - albeit with certain caveats.295  Mullah Zaeef in his 
book recalls the variety of suggestions that he offered on behalf of the movement as 
possible ways of dealing with bin Laden -- international courts, legal proceedings 
and so on -- but all these were rejected and not regarded as sincere.296  The 
sanctions adopted by the United Nations Security Council Resolution 1267 on 
October 15, 1999, cemented the views of many Taliban leaders. The resolution put 
sanctions on individuals that were associated with bin Laden, al Qaeda and/or the 
Taliban.297  The group within the Taliban who opposed bin Laden’s presence was 
effectively silenced; they lost their leverage over the Taliban leader who by this point 
was convinced that actions such as those by the United Nations constituted an 
international Judeo-Christian conspiracy against his ‘Emirate’ and felt surrounded 
by ‘enemies.’298

Support for sanctions from within the international community against the 
Taliban came not only as a result of disquiet over its social policies, but also 
because there was concern on the part of countries whose citizen-militants were 
operating and or participating in training camps in Afghanistan. While the Taliban 
appeared to at least engage the international community on the issue on bin Laden, 
it is less clear that it did so with the home countries of the other militant groups that 
it allowed to operate on its soil. This inaction may have contributed to a willingness 
to support sanctions.

For the Taliban, however, a different rationale was at play. Taliban leaders 
seemed to believe these groups could be managed and directed instead to 
contribute to Afghanistan’s defence. In this way the Taliban saw utility in allowing 
them to remain in the country. However, its relations with some of these groups were 
fraught with tension as we now move to explore, examining first how the Taliban 
perceived the role of the foreign fighters in Afghanistan, followed by how they in turn 
saw the Taliban, and their willingness to submit to its authority and fight in its 
defence. 
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 (d) The Taliban’s View on the Utility of Foreign Fighters and the Role 
Played by Foreign Fighters


 Until the Taliban had taken Jalalabad and Kabul in 1996, they appear to have 
had no Arabs fighting alongside or with them. However, as we noted earlier, the 
Taliban soon found themselves in an increasingly severe war with a consolidating 
force around Ahmad Shah Massoud in Afghanistan’s north and it was here that bin 
Laden found space to improve his relationship with Mullah Muhammad Omar by 
offering assistance to the Taliban’s military efforts. Soon the Taliban leader was 
requesting al-Qaeda’s help to defend north of Kabul, which was eagerly provided by 
bin Laden who saw in doing so an opportunity to solidify the relationship between 
the two groups. 


 Al-Qaeda was, however, not the only foreign group providing the Taliban with 
assistance, and in fact would consider itself in competition with the Islamic 
Movement of Uzbekistan, another group among several that also provided 
significant assistance to the Taliban’s military efforts. Other groups would refuse to 
provide assistance to the Taliban because they did not believe in the legitimacy of 
the group or the conflict it was involved in with the Northern Alliance.


 The main use for foreign groups and fighters -- from the perspective of 
Taliban leader Mullah Mohammad Omar -- was twofold: to establish and confirm the 
reputation of the fledgling Taliban movement as ‘Islamic’ and supportive of Islamist 
causes; and to bolster the Taliban’s forces with comparatively well-trained fighters 
for use against its internal enemies in northern Afghanistan. For Mullah Mohammad 
Omar, the Arabs had proven helpful to the movement: the collapse of Taliban 
defences and the catastrophic defeat stage-managed by Massoud with the major 
counterattack launched in July and August 1997, recapturing Bagram air base and 
shelling Kabul airport, threatened the Taliban’s control of Kabul. 


 Heavy fighting caused thousands of civilian casualties and 50,000 people 
fled their homes. This pushed the Taliban to mobilise whatever forces were 
available. Accounts tell of forced conscription in mosques in Kabul and madrasas 
being closed in Pakistan to send more Taliban in order to reinforce the defence lines 
around the capital city.299  In the end, Haqqani was brought in and his forces 
managed to hold off Massoud’s advance. The confident and experienced Arab 
mujahedeen sent to help by bin Laden also played an important role, despite being 
small in number.300


 Al-Qaeda was not the only foreign force contributing to the Taliban’s military 
efforts. The Islamic Movement of Uzbekistan was heavily involved in contributing 
forces to the Taliban’s military campaigns. While the number of foreign fighters 
participating on the Taliban’s fronts was small compared to the size of the Taliban’s 
forces, there were usually better trained and organised. In this way, they were of use 
to the Taliban. Because of this, despite the international isolation the Taliban faced -- 
in part because of its harbouring of militants from a range of countries -- interactions 
between the Taliban and some of the foreign militants based in Afghanistan grew. 


 As more foreigners arrived in Afghanistan and numbers of foreign fighters 
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operating on the front lines continued to rise, the Taliban movement took more steps 
to systematise their presence with restrictions and rules. For the Taliban and Mullah 
Mohammad Omar -- the final arbiter on the presence of the Arab and other foreign 
militants -- the calculation seems to have been not to encourage training for a 
conflict with other countries or for terrorist acts, but rather a realisation that, for the 
moment, foreign fighters were useful for the Taliban’s campaign in the north and 
were actually some of the only allies that the movement had at this time. The 
foreigners wanted combat experience and the Taliban could use the support on their 
front lines.


 This may have been part of the reason that by mid 2000 the Taliban had 
ordered all camps outside of Kabul -- with the exception of al-Qaeda’s al-Faruq and 
al-Zarqawi’s Herat camp -- closed and relocated to Kabul.301 From Kabul, the Arab 
groups sought establish their own presence on the Taliban fronts. Abu Musab al-
Suri had a brigade on the frontline called al-Ghuraba, under the command of a 
Taliban leader called Sayfullah Mansur.302  Al-Qaeda too had a front, under the 
leadership of Abdul Hadi al-Iraqi where volunteers could go to fight following their 
completion of training at al-Faruq.303 


 Al-Qaeda also began attempting to offer courses to the Afghans, as did the 
Egyptian Islamic Group, the Libyan Islamic Fighting Group and Abu Musab al-
Suri.304 As Hamid recounts, “had the Arabs stayed a few years more in Afghanistan, 
we may well have divided the Taliban into as many factions as we had.”305 


 It was perhaps because of this, and the increasing tensions between al-
Qaeda and the Islamic Movement of Uzbekistan, and al-Qaeda and Abu Musab al-
Suri that in early 2001 Mullah Omar convened a meeting ordering the consolidation 
of all foreign fighters into one brigade and appointing the military commander of the 
Uzbeks as its leader.306  This was perhaps in part because the Uzbek’s front was at 
least double the size of the Arab’s collective fighters as it also contained Pakistani 
fighters as well as volunteers from the East Turkistan Islamic Movement.307 At this 
time, al-Qaeda had around 80-120 men at its front while the other foreign militant 
groups had numbers ranging from around ten persons to several dozen.308

	 (e) The Position of Foreign Militant Groups on Fighting Alongside Taliban 
Forces and Giving a Pledge of Allegiance to Mullah Muhammad Omar 


 Fighting alongside the Taliban caused much debate among the foreign 
militants in Afghanistan. While al-Qaeda along with other groups such as the Islamic 
Movement of Uzbekistan, supported the Afghan Taliban in their war against what 
would become known as the ‘Northern Alliance,’ some groups did not. They 
believed that the Taliban and/or their fighting against other Muslims was not 
legitimate.309 Despite some figures like Abu Musab al-Suri writing articles in favour 
of the Taliban, it was an issue that was not resolved until the release of an influential 
fatwa in November 2000 by Sheikh Hammoud bin Uqlaa Ash-Shuaybi, followed by 
another in March the following year by Ibn Jibreen.310


 Despite seeking shelter in Afghanistan, very few foreign militant groups and 
individuals were willing to swear allegiance to Mullah Mohammad Omar. The first 
person to do so was Mustafa Hamid, who thought his provision of an oath of 
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allegiance might spur others to follow and that their doing so might bring about an 
end to the tension and competition within the milieu and reign in foreign militant 
groups undertaking behaviour that jeopardised the Taliban’s position in Afghanistan. 
Hamid gave his oath in late 1998, and was followed by the leader of the Islamic 
Movement of Uzbekistan and the leader of the East Turkistan Islamic Movement.311 
Both groups had a longstanding presence in Afghanistan and were also closely 
linked with Abu Musab al-Suri, who also later gave a pledge of allegiance to the 
Taliban leader.312 

	 Al-Suri had been manoeuvring to encourage Taliban opposition to bin Laden 
-- in part as a way of securing his own interests. A part of this involved supporting 
the case for a greater role by the Islamic Movement of Uzbekistan in the foreign 
fighter brigade, whose leader had a close relationship with Mullah Omar.313  Bin 
Laden, most likely in an attempt to counteract this, made a pledge of allegiance by 
proxy (through Mustafa Hamid). This was his way of hedging his bets. 


 Although Hamid had personally lobbied bin Laden to give Mullah 
Muhammad Omar the pledge, he was reluctant to be the proxy. However, believing 
the pledge might have some impact on moderating bin Laden’s activities, and to 
reduce inter-factional conflict in Afghanistan, he eventually relented. Bin Laden 
treated it as symbolic, rather than binding, and continued flouting Mullah 
Mohammad Omar’s orders. Bin Laden did not wish to fall under the total authority of 
Mullah Mohammad Omar, who could then further restrict his activities. By not 
swearing allegiance in person, bin Laden gave himself manoeuvring room to disobey 
his orders, because he could claim that he had not directly sworn a pledge of 
allegiance.314


 A number of other groups held back on making a pledge, seeking external 
opinions on the legitimacy of doing so; Egyptian Islamic Group members in 
Afghanistan sought advice from their religious leadership outside the country, but 
were reportedly unable to reach consensus.315  Most North African groups 
questioned the polytheist elements within Afghanistan and adopted a ‘wait and see’ 
approach.316 The stricter groups among them said the Taliban were not carrying out 
Islamically appropriate actions and that their ideology was suspect.317


 The remainder of the groups and individuals in Afghanistan did not give 
allegiance to Mullah Muhammad Omar.318 While some refused to make a pledge of 
allegiance, others condemned his leadership outright and the legitimacy of the 
Taliban. Those who accepted the Taliban’s legitimacy were also condemned.319 The 
main issue of contention was the legality of fighting alongside the Taliban instead of 
against them. The extreme adherents argued that they should fight the Taliban and 
anyone who fought beside them because they practised shirk or polytheism. This 
included al-Qaeda because bin Laden had publicized he had given a pledge even if 
it was in reality by proxy. Others were less adamant about using violence but were 
highly vocal in their criticism of the Taliban and its allies. Some even issued their 
own fatwa against them, such as Abdullah al-Muhajir, who ran the Belief Battalions 
Institute at Khalden until later having a change of heart and joining al-Qaeda’s 
religious institute, presumably after Khalden closed.320


 Khalden’s al-Muhajir denounced al-Qaeda’s cooperation with the Taliban 
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(and participation alongside it in battle).321 He argued bin Laden had “lost his way” 
and that the “head of it” was “his fighting alongside the Taliban most of which were 
kafir.”322  Al-Muhajir also condemned members of al-Qaeda’s religious institute as 
also having strayed from the right path.323 


 The interlinkages between key figures and groups created a complicated 
situation as disputes arose around the Taliban’s legitimacy. As more people arrived 
in Afghanistan, the disputes progressively worsened.324  They raged until the 
American invasion of Afghanistan in October 2001 necessitated they be put aside.


 The Taliban initially had a muted reaction to groups rejecting its legitimacy 
and failing to provide a pledge to Mullah Muhammad Omar, probably because it was 
focused on consolidating territorial control and combating the Northern Alliance. 
This was its primary goal, which was not shared by foreign militant groups, including 
al-Qaeda, which continued to pursue its agenda of attacking the US and gaining 
control over other militant groups. Al-Qaeda’s activities in pursuit of this second goal 
did, however, see the Taliban become embroiled in the power plays between the al-
Qaeda and non-al-Qaeda factions. 


 Hamid’s comments reveal that by 2001 the Taliban’s involvement in these 
power plays had resulted in its “Arabisation.”325  Here he is referring to the 
factionalism and rivalry among the foreign groups in particular Abu Musab al-Suri 
and al-Qaeda, and the subsequent development of factions within the Taliban. Abu 
Musab al-Suri sought to counter-balance if not outright challenge al-Qaeda.326 Both 
al-Qaeda and Abu Musab al-Suri cultivated their own supporters within the Taliban. 
Ultimately, however, like the disputes around the Taliban’s legitimacy, which both al-
Suri and al-Qaeda supported, their competition for power and influence in 
Afghanistan was brought to an end by 9/11 attacks, which led to the invasion of 
Afghanistan and the Taliban’s fall from power.

	 (f) Al-Qaeda pursues the 9/11 attacks without the knowledge of other 
foreign fighters or the Taliban


 Al-Qaeda’s attacks on 9/11 were by design intended to draw the United 
States into conflict in Afghanistan. Bin Laden had thought he could essentially 
repeat his victory at Jaji in 1987. There, he defeated Soviet Special Forces on the 
mountain and believed his victory was the instigator of the withdrawal from 
Afghanistan by the Soviet Union and its subsequent collapse.327 In the summer of 
2001 when he received word the 9/11 attacks were likely to move forward bin Laden 
began secret preparations at Tora Bora mountain where he planned to lay in wait for 
the Americans, drawing them into battle. He thought they would send paratroopers 
in to try to capture him, much as the Soviets had sent paratroopers in at Jaji and as 
such fundamentally miscalculated the scale of the US response.328  So too did the 
Taliban, who were caught unaware on the morning of September 11, 2001 like the 
rest of the foreign fighters in Afghanistan, when al-Qaeda carried out its attacks. 

The Taliban had no foreknowledge of the 9/11 attacks that would ultimately 
bring about the end of its reign in Afghanistan. Al-Qaeda did not notify the Taliban 
that an attack was forthcoming, just as it had not done prior to its 1998 African 
Embassy attacks or its 2000 USS Cole attacks. The Taliban was aware of threats al-
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Qaeda had issued in the summer of 2001 in an interview with MBC correspondent 
Bakr Atyani. The Taliban’s Deputy Foreign Minister was with Mustafa Hamid when 
he had a heated argument with al-Qaeda members in early August over the threats 
al-Qaeda had issued.329  As Hamid recounted of the threats al-Qaeda’s leaders had 
issued:

…Abu Abdullah [bin Laden] practically appointed himself as  ruler of 
Afghanistan. It was some kind of coup; declaring war on behalf of the Afghan 
people and their amir.330

Hamid was furious, and at this meeting he told the al-Qaeda figures present in 
front of the Taliban Deputy Foreign Minister that al-Qaeda did not have the right to 
impose war on the people of Afghanistan, and that the threats al-Qaeda had issued 
were tantamount to a declaration of war that would invite an American response.331 
Bin Laden was so worried by this meeting and what was said in front of the Taliban 
representative that he arranged a separate meeting with Hamid. In this also heated 
meeting, Hamid told the al-Qaeda leader that the fight he claimed to be waging – to 
liberate Saudi Arabia -- was a battle the Saudis and not the Afghans should fight 
and that al-Qaeda had no right to sacrifice Afghanistan for its own objectives.332 

Hamid was not the only one making this argument. Inside al-Qaeda too, there 
were deep divisions. Primary material, interviews and subsequent recounts of the 
events leading up to 9/11 reveal that significant figures in al-Qaeda’s leadership 
were opposed to the attacks. These figures are known to include Sayf al-Adl (al-
Qaeda’s head of security), Saeed al-Masri (al-Qaeda’s general manager), Abu Hafs 
al-Mauritani (the head of al-Qaeda’s religious institute), and according to Hamid, 
also Abu Hafs al-Masri.333 He states:

No one inside al-Qaeda from among its  old cadres agree. All of them opposed 
action against America at that time. Abu Abdullah [bin Laden] and Dr Ayman 
[Ayman al-Zawahiri] were the only ones in favour…it was like all of al-Qaeda’s 
history. They disagreed but they would not go against Abu Abdullah. But this 
time some people left; Abu Hafs al-Mauritani was one of them.334

With this much internal disagreement it is highly unlikely -- even if al-Qaeda 
thought its attacks might have received a favourable reception from the Taliban -- 
they would have notified the Taliban leadership. In fact, there was no such support 
from the Taliban. Mullah Muhammad Omar while susceptible to bin Laden’s 
exhortations about Israel and the need to fight the Israeli occupation of Palestine, 
was explicit in his instructions to bin Laden that he was not to target America while 
based on Afghanistan soil.335  This is why, in fact, al-Qaeda did not claim 
responsibility for its attacks, and why it also began to quietly call people back to 
Afghanistan before the attacks because bin Laden knew this would not be possible 
after the attacks.336  As Hamid recounts, al-Qaeda did not advise the Taliban of the 
attacks or that they might need to prepare for American retaliation because the 
Taliban “would have made hell for al-Qaeda.”337

The customs within the Taliban and favouring of unity dictated that its 
response to 9/11 be kept internal, and as such it is difficult outside primary source 
accounts to find indications of condemnations or anger at al-Qaeda’s actions 
outside of the milieu. As Hamid noted of the Taliban’s general dealings with al-
Qaeda and the problems they caused:
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…the Taliban spoke about these problems in closed circles, but everybody 
outside was, and still is, attacking them; so they were afraid to talk about these 
things openly.338

However, it is clear that al-Qaeda was planning in advance to ensure that its 
program could not be compromised should the Taliban find out about its attacks. 
This included the above-mentioned contact of figures who were in the Gulf and 
asking them to travel to Afghanistan. Indeed, as George Tenet recounted in his 
autobiography, the United States picked up on these warnings; they unfortunately 
were misinterpreted to mean that the threat was coming from Gulf region because of 
the departure of these people, which has traditionally been considered a threat 
indicator.339 

Another factor that would have compounded the Taliban’s ability to take action 
was that bin Laden had long departed his compound in Kandahar in preparation for 
the strikes; at the time he spoke to Hamid in August he was already on the move. 
Mullah Muhammad Omar did attempt to meet bin Laden in November in Kandahar 
when bin Laden briefly returned after being summoned to meet him, but an airstrike 
struck the location where Mullah Muhammad Omar was staying and the meeting 
was called off.340 The two men have apparently not met since.


 By late November, faced with the fall of the country, the Taliban did in fact 
ask foreign fighters to leave Afghanistan. This was not made public at the time. 
Several meetings were held including around November 23, 2001 in which the 
Taliban shura met to discuss whether they should withdraw from Afghanistan and to 
ask the Arab fighters to also leave the country.341 The Arab fighters wanted to stay 
and fight the Americans, while Mullah Muhammad Omar had made the decision to 
withdraw to preserve the movement’s leadership and prevent further conflict. Some 
of the Arab fighters initially challenged this order and Taliban leader Taheb Agha was 
dispatched to talk to them.342 It was an angry meeting, but the order had been made 
and the Arabs had to leave. 

5. 	 The Structure and Population of Training Camps

	 (a) Motivations of Foreign Volunteers


 In the previous section we outlined the various groups that established 
themselves in Afghanistan following the Taliban’s rise to power. Of these groups, the 
two most prominent in the training realm were Khalden and al-Qaeda because they 
provided training of an open door nature for willing volunteers of any nationality. Abu 
Musab al-Suri and the Darunta camp also provided this function but on a smaller 
scale, with smaller numbers of recruits. Al-Suri had only a handful (mostly Gulf 
Arabs) in his house-cum-training camp. Darunta under Abu Khabab al-Masri served 
in part as an advanced training location for Khalden, although as we have outlined 
he did subcontract out his training services to whoever was willing to pay.


 Owing to there being insufficient information to outline in significant depth 
the training typologies and processes at play in Darunta because of the ad-hoc and 
on demand nature of the training offered there, this section restricts its focus to 
Khalden and al-Qaeda. Part One begins with a breakdown of Khalden’s training 
pathways and the training program on offer at the camp in the period 1996-2001. 
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This breakdown builds upon what the earlier section already established in relation 
to the ‘supermarket’ style approach of Khalden to training and its facilitation of 
graduate trainees to jihadi fronts of their choice if they so desired. This, according to 
Abu Zubayda, was the camp’s primary role. Part two outlines the pathways 
associated with al-Qaeda’s training, which show very different objectives governing 
its training approach and a clear organizational recruitment agenda at play. Part 
three explains the command and control processes that governed training because 
these are often misunderstood as indicating that a volunteer was a member of a 
militant group.

	 Before we begin, it is worthwhile also reiterating a key point from section 
two: that the majority of trainees to both Khalden and al-Qaeda did not arrive 
seeking to join a jihadist group. The vast majority sought training for jihad and 
following completion of their training wished to fight at an open front, either in 
Afghanistan with the Taliban or elsewhere in the number of conflicts that were taking 
place during this period.343

	 A good illustration of this dynamic is that of Jack Thomas, an Australian who 
travelled to Afghanistan in March 2001 and was acquitted in 2008 of terrorism 
charges stemming from his time with al-Qaeda:

[Interviewer SALLY NEIGHBOUR] The Taliban was still at war, against its  old 
enemy the Northern Alliance, and Thomas wanted to join the fight.
You've said you were going to fight for the Taliban. Were you going to join al 
Qaeda?
JACK THOMAS: I had no idea about al Qaeda. I mean I knew of a man called 
Osama bin Laden, but I honestly had no idea about al Qaeda or had any 
intentions  about working, what they call working, or conducting, you know, any 
terrorist attacks against a population.
SALLY NEIGHBOUR: Thomas  arrived in Kabul with his  family in March 2001. It 
was six months  before the September 11 attacks on America. He was  eager to 
get to the frontline with the Taliban, but all new arrivals had to do basic military 
training first. Through his contacts  in Melbourne, Thomas  was introduced to a 
Taliban commander who vetted him, then sent him to a guesthouse in Kandahar 
for new recruits. From there, Thomas was  sent to the legendary mountain 
training site, Camp Faruq.344


 By the time Thomas had arrived, Khalden was closed and al-Qaeda’s al-
Faruq camp had become the defacto ‘international camp’ where all new arrivals 
seeking training were dispatched.345  Thomas was not alone in having little 
knowledge or awareness of al-Qaeda at that time, as he outlines in his account of 
his time at the training camp:

SALLY NEIGHBOUR: What training did you do?
JACK THOMAS: I did what they call tatzizi [sic] training or basic boot camp 
training.
SALLY NEIGHBOUR: And what did that involve ?
JACK THOMAS: It involved light, you know, weapons  that are like Kalashnikovs, 
light firearms and pistols. The topography or the map and compass reading and 
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the signals and signs  that you make when you're walking around on patrol to 
stop and go to the ground and helicopter and different signs. And the 
demolition course.
SALLY NEIGHBOUR: What was explosives?
JACK THOMAS: Yeah.
SALLY NEIGHBOUR: Did you know it was a bin Laden camp?
JACK THOMAS: Originally, at the start, no, not until he arrived on the first 
occasion.346

	 At the end of his training Thomas went to the frontline to join the Taliban 
against the Northern Alliance. He did not join al-Qaeda.

JACK THOMAS: I had plenty of opportunities, plenty of opportunities. Osama 
bin Laden was right there in front of me three times. Could have come up to him 
and said, “Listen, mate, I pledge allegiance to this, this, this  and this, to the big 
man”. I thought about pledging allegiance many times. And I thought, no, I will 
not do that.347

Thomas more recently remarked of his motivations for going to Afghanistan that:

I chose to fight because 95 per cent of that country (Afghanistan) was at peace 
and I thought it was a chance to end the decades  of civil war (in the remaining 
areas)….
…I don't think young men go to war wanting to fight, rather they want to end 
the war…348


 Thomas' experience was consistent with that of other foreigners. Sahim 
Alwan, an American who travelled with a group of friends (referred to in Media as the 
‘Lackawanna Six’) to undertake training for jihad tells a similar story, although for 
these young men the excitement of seeking adventure and preparing for jihad at an 
open front was a compelling factor. They were influenced to travel to Afghanistan to 
undertake training for jihad by a recruiter caller Kamal Derwish. In an interview on his 
motivations for going and time in Afghanistan Alwan stated:

[Alwan] Well one of the things that Derwish talked about also, was the 
[importance] of learning how to use -- there's a verse in the Quran that says you 
have to learn how to prepare. Like, you gotta be prepared just in case you do 
have to go to war. If there is  war, then you would have to be called for jihad. And 
that was the aspect of the camp itself, for going and learn how to use weapons, 
and stuff like that. ...”
[Interviewer] Did you know that you were going to a Al Qaeda camp?
[Alwan] No. I have never heard of the word Al Qaeda, itself, until I was in 
Afghanistan, itself.
[Interviewer] You had never heard it here?
[Alwan] Never heard it. Never heard of Al Qaeda.
[Interviewer] What about Osama bin Laden?
[Alwan] I've heard of Osama bin Laden.
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[Interviewer] Did you know that he was involved in any way?
[Alwan] Not in this  camp. No. I knew he was  in Afghanistan. But not, I didn't 
know I was going to Osama bin Laden's camp.
[Interviewer] Did you guys talk together, or and with Derwish about the fact that 
bin Laden, for instance, was advocating killing Americans, and--
[Alwan] No. I saw one time, a CNN interview with bin Laden where he was 
denying a lot of the -- I don't know if you remember. It was  like a documentary, I 
think it was. It was a while back. And I remember seeing that, where he was 
saying. So, even in my mindset, I didn't believe he probably was behind a lot of 
this  stuff, because of him denying. You know, he never came out and said, yeah, 
I was behind the, for example, embassy bombings, or this bombing, until after 
9/11, or, until actually I went there. And I saw that he was behind this stuff. 
When I was in Afghanistan. ...
…[Interviewer] What happened that day when you were leaving [For 
Afghanistan]? ... Were you off on an adventure together? Did you talk about who 
you were gonna see, where you were gonna go, what was gonna happen?
[Alwan] It was adventure. We were gonna go learn how to use weapons. That 
part of it was  the exciting part. You're gonna be able to shoot and this  and 
that.349

	 Like Thomas, some members of the Lackawanna six were also thinking of 
staying in Afghanistan because they were attracted to the Taliban's strict social 
conservatism and implementation of Sharia law. As Alwan stated:

[Alwan] And a lot of it too was [Elbaneh] would tell me like, "Kamal told them 
that once you get to [Afghanistan] you know, some of them, they're gonna be 
maybe even living there, staying there. If it's  nice, if the Taliban is really a good 
Muslim government, maybe hey, we can live there, if it's nice, and stuff like that.
[Interviewer] Derwish told you, you might like it so much that you would stay?
[Alwan] Well he was  telling, he told Elbaneh this. This, this  was Elbaneh. But he 
did tell me that when I saw him in Karachi. Because we knew that he was  gonna 
meet us in Karachi, which is in Pakistan…350


 , who was convicted in the United Kingdom for conspiracy to 
harm an aircraft as a result of his role in al-Qaeda’s shoe bomb plot, has also 
testified he also did not know about al-Qaeda in 1998 when he arrived in 
Afghanistan, and had little knowledge about bin Laden.  responses to 
questioning in his witness testimony in the trial of Sulayman Abu Ghayth are 
illustrative of al-Qaeda’s name being largely unknown to new arrivals, and is similar 
to other accounts:

Q. When you initially traveled to Afghanistan, did you travel there with the intent 
to train, to acquire this training with Al Qaeda?
A ]. No.
Q. Obviously you came to learn more about Al Qaeda. But at this time in 1998, 
before you traveled to Afghanistan, did you know about Usama Bin Laden and 
Al Qaeda?
A ]. I knew nothing about this  name Al Qaeda. I knew a little bit about 
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Usama Bin Laden.
Q. What did you know about Bin Laden, again, before you traveled to 
Afghanistan?
A ]. His  involvement in two bombings  in Saudi Arabia, one in Riyadh, and 
one in the east. That was  mid '90s. Likewise, his  involvement in bombings in 
embassies in East Africa in 1998.
Q. Let me ask you, later on during your time in Afghanistan while you were 
working for Al Qaeda, did you refer to Al Qaeda by that name, Al Qaeda?
A ]. No. Very rarely.
Q. Generally speaking, did others refer to the entity we call Al Qaeda by that 
name?
A ]. No.
Q. What name was used for the group known as Al Qaeda?
A ]. In Arabic we would say Jamaat us-Sheikh, which means the Sheikh's 
Group.
MR. LEWIN; J-A-M-A-A-T U-S S-H-E-I-K-H. 
Q. Mr. , who was the Sheikh in that title, the Sheikh's Group?
A ]. The Sheikh is Usama Bin Laden.351


 Another Australian Jack Roche who travelled to Afghanistan in 1999 was 
also generally aware of al-Qaeda, but unaware that ‘the sheikh’ in whose camp at 
Tarnak Farms he would stay while seeking training to enable him to undertake jihad 
with the Taliban was, in fact, bin Laden. As Roche recounted to journalist: 

"I sat down for a meal... and I looked across and said, 'Whoa, that's  like the 
bloke on the telly'," the British-born Muslim said later.
The "bloke on the telly" was  Osama Bin Laden, and Jack Roche - however 
unwittingly - had got himself mixed up with some of the world's most wanted 
militants.”352

	 It may seem far-fetched that people could arrive and not have much 
foreknowledge of to whom they were travelling, however, these were people who, 
for the most part, came to Afghanistan through pre-existing social network links that 
were, or came to be, trusted.353 In other words, they were essentially unaware they 
were being diverted from their desire to get training or undertake armed jihad at an 
open front to al-Qaeda as a result of their coming into contact members of its 
broader social network who served a recruitment function for the organization. There 
was thus little perceived need to question the specifics of to whom they would be 
dispatched, which was also clouded in secrecy owing to the difficulties of entering 
Afghanistan at that time and the security measures in place by the respective 
groups. In fact, as Alwan recounts:

[Interviewer] Why was it so secret? Did you ask them why you couldn't tell your 
wife, or your family, or--
Maybe because it was  we were going to the camp, or maybe ... because the 
mujahedeen, for example, a lot of the guys that were in Bosnian war, the 
mujahedeen, when they came back, this is what Kamal even told me, was  that 
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when they get back to Saudi Arabia, they were in prison and so forth like that. 
Because of the extremism mentality. You know what I mean? So a lot of things 
that they did was quieted…354

	 Roche too, knew little, and was only told to pass on a letter his contact had 
written to a person he later came to know was Khalid Sheikh Muhammad, about 
whom along with his al-Qaeda colleagues, Roche would attempt to bring to the 
attention of American and Australian authorities upon returning to Australia.355


 None of the men cited in these examples travelled with the objective of 
joining al-Qaeda. They were not alone. As we have established, traveling with the 
specific objective of joining al-Qaeda ranked low on the list of motivations held by 
new arrivals. This is further reflected when we outline in part two al-Qaeda’s 
aggressive radicalisation and recruitment efforts once new volunteers arrived in its 
camps. Some volunteers left al-Qaeda’s camp when they realized what its agenda 
and future intentions were, such as was the case with members of the `Lackawanna 
Six’. According to Alwan:

[Alwan] So the next day, I  was talking to one of the guys and I told them, I just 
said, I said, if someone wanted to leave, because of -- now understand, like the 
second day we were there, they come up to you, and they tell you, you gotta 
give your passport up, and any money, anything, because you don't need 
anything in the camp. Your, passport, and visas, because no one knows who 
you really are. So just in case anyone you know, gets  a hold of your passport, 
we hold it, as, as a trust to you, I mean. It, count your money right there. And 
they put it in a envelope. ...
At this  point, I said I'm leaving regardless. I gotta get outta here. The next days, 
when we did, we were supposed to do this  walk. And I pretended like I hurt 
myself.356

	 From among those who remained through the full al-Qaeda basic training 
complement al-Faruq, which can be reasonably estimated to have been between 
approximately 560 to a maximum of 1200 (based on known camp and guest house 
capacity and the known length of training courses), less than 100 became core 
members.357  Another 150 or so who trained in the camp joined the foreign fighters 
brigade at the Taliban fronts and fighting under the leadership of one of the foreign 
commanders, among whom were six al-Qaeda figures.358


 Some individuals who went through the training gave the pledge of 
allegiance to bin Laden and were in close contact with al-Qaeda’s leadership before 
returning to their home country and ceasing contact with the group; such was the 
case with  Some who went home ultimately sought to contact 
government authorities and warn them about what was taking place, as occurred 
with Jack Roche, while others like Jack Thomas and the Lackawanna Six have 
stated they went along with al-Qaeda out of fear, kept quiet and focused their efforts 
on getting home.359

	 Needless to say, given the numbers of those who went through the full al-
Qaeda training, versus the number of known operatives who have carried out an 
attack or been interdicted before doing so, it is clear the majority went home and did 
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not undertake terrorist activity. Because Khalden was not an organization with 
accompanying secretive entry processes, and it had a much longer pedigree and 
legacy networks tracing back to the Services Office, arriving at its camp was easier. 
However, even then as the pathways of its training will show, referrals from a trusted 
facilitator were usually required. The Khalden camp however, was upfront in what its 
objectives were; and did not have an aggressive recruitment agenda, leaving 
volunteers less likely to leave for the above-cited reasons.

	 (b) Khalden training and volunteer pathways


 Despite changes over time to its trainee demographic, training processes at 
Khalden remained relatively constant during its period of operation under Ibn Sheikh 
al-Libi, with the notable exception being an expansion in some areas of training in 
the latter 1990’s when Khalden’s trainer capacity expanded.360  Similarly, vetting 
processes in the series of guesthouses Khalden ran and Abu Zubayda administered, 
remained constant. We can, therefore, reasonably outline the following processes 
and regimes that constituted the typical experiences of a volunteer at Khalden who 
followed the entire training regime, which lasted in excess of six months.

	 	 (i) Entering the Network and Guesthouse Vetting

	 It was rare for individuals to arrive in Pakistan by themselves, and such 
persons required supporting documentation or letters to facilitate their entry into the 
Khalden network. Europeans or those with European identity papers came by pre-
arrangement, and were vetted via recruitment networks in the West. This vetting was 
rudimentary, and additional vetting took place once volunteers arrived in the 
Khalden guesthouses; small groups underwent the same type of vetting processes 
and stayed in the guesthouses.361  Less clear are the processes for formal 
organisational groupings either in Afghanistan or in external locations, which may 
have had independent accommodation arrangements and pre-existing links to Abu 
Zubayda or Ibn Sheikh al-Libi.362  These groups usually did not complete the full 
training regime as per the standard volunteers.363


 All non-organisation volunteers arriving in Pakistan transited Khalden’s 
guesthouse(s) prior to being transported to the camp. The purpose of their stay at 
the guesthouse was threefold. First, their paperwork had to be vetted; a process 
overseen by Abu Zubayda or other trusted figures. Second, they had to be assessed 
for a potential security threat; and third, they had to be given suitable clothing and 
advice to allow them to travel over the border.364


 The way in which Khalden’s loosely structured networks operated was that 
referral to the camps, while often based on trusted social networks, could also be 
quite minimal. As outlined above, volunteers could not access Khalden’s 
guesthouses without some form of paperwork or reference from within its 
facilitation, support and social networks. However, this paperwork alone was often 
insufficient to allow direct transit to the camps. An additional vetting process was 
therefore undertaken at the guesthouse to try to weed out unsuitable volunteers, 
although the majority of the focus was on weeding out spies. 


 As Noor Uthman Muhammed, a senior member of Khalden’s ‘training 
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council’ acknowledged in his agreed upon Stipulation of Facts:

One of the purposes of the guest houses  was to screen incoming recruits prior 
to sending them on to the training camps, to ensure they were suitable for 
training, weed out potential spies and otherwise control and monitor the flow of 
trainees.365

Khalden had limited success in preventing infiltration; it was known to have widely 
been infiltrated by Jordanian intelligence, stemming back in part to the involvement 
of many of these agencies in its first incarnation under Maktab al-Khidmaat.366


 While Khalden was under the leadership of al-Libi, numerous governments 
made attempts to infiltrate the camp -- to varying degrees of success. Indeed one of 
the most detailed sources on Khalden’s operation comes from a person claiming to 
have been dispatched there as a spy for a foreign government.367 Because of these 
concerns, newly arriving volunteers could expect a stay in a guesthouse and 
questioning of their paperwork and reasons for wanting training prior to being 
allowed to prepare for travel to the camp.368


 After passing through this process, volunteers were issued with new papers 
from Abu Zubayda, which were, in essence, approval documents for their 
participation in training. As Noor Uthman Muhammad’s Stipulation of Fact testifies: 

Abu Zubayda provided letters of recommendation for trainees to be accepted 
into Khalden.369

It goes on to say: 

Abu Zubayda used letters  of recommendation in order to get people into 
Khalden and control the follow of trainees into the camp. This system allowed 
Ibn Sheikh to maintain operation security and restrict access to Khalden370

	 Guesthouses also served additional functions as locations where volunteers 
could stay in between training, and convalesce after injury. The Stipulation of Fact 
states the guesthouses:

…would later come to serve as intermediate stops to lodge trainees and 
operatives who were transiting to or between the training camps, convalescing 
from injuries, or getting ready to travel elsewhere for terrorist operations.371

It also adds “…Abu Zubaydah received trainees leaving the Khalden camp as they 
entered Pakistan.”372 Noor Uthman Muhammed’s agreed upon Stipulation of Fact is 
also reinforced by the testimony of Ahmad Ressam, who was convicted for his role 
in the 1999 Millennium Plot in Los Angeles. 


 Ressam received a personal reference from within his social network from a 
person who had already been to the Khalden camp and put forward Ressam’s name 
to Abu Zubayda. Ressam then made contact, with the network, which was the first 
step in him accessing the guesthouses.373 According to Ressam Abu Zubayda was
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…the person in charge of the camps. He receives young men from all countries. 
He accepts you or rejects you. And he takes care of the expenses of the camps. 
He makes arranges for you when you travel coming in or leaving.374

	 After vetting Ressam Abu Zubayda then went on to write a letter for him to 
take on his travel into Afghanistan, for which an Afghan guide accompanied him. 
Ressam stated:

He [Abu Zubayda] sent me a letter, sent with me a letter in Afghani, with an 
Afghani person to accompany me along the road. And he gave me Afghani 
clothes to war and I was told to grow a beard. Then you go by car to the border 
of Afghanistan, and then early in the morning you go in with other Afghanis, or 
you can by way of the mountain.375

	 	 (ii) Arriving at the Camp


 After being guided across the border and delivered to the camp, volunteers 
were accommodated in a series of crudely built buildings within the camp’s 
perimeter. Khalden was comprised of a kitchen/cantina, a masjid, several 
accommodation buildings, more accurately referred to as huts, and a small building 
functioning as an ‘explosives laboratory’.376  The camp also made use of several 
caves from the Afghan jihad era, in which munitions and other supplies were 
stored.377


 
 (iii) The Camp’s Population


 According to Ressam’s testimony of his stay at Khalden in 1998-1999, the 
camp’s population at any given time ranged between 50 to 100 people.378  This 
corresponds with Nasiri’s earlier account where he recollects that upon first entering 
the camp seeing around 60 persons gathered in the camp masjid.379


 On the basis of available testimony, and other corroborating information 
relating to Khalden’s period of operation at Khost and Jalalabad, it does not appear 
to have stretched beyond these numbers. Nor were facilities expanded to 
accommodate more trainees. As indicated earlier, Khalden was constant in its 
training programs and also, in its capacity. This is not to state that trainee numbers 
did not fluctuate, since they appear to have increased in 1999 with the onset of the 
second Chechen conflict, which precipitated al-Qaeda intensifying its efforts to have 
the camp closed or join under its umbrella.


 Throughout its history, Khalden trained a wide array of nationalities and 
national groupings, stretching from those from Southeast Asia, through Central and 
South Asia, to North Africa, the Middle East, Europe and North America. According 
to both Nasiri and Ressam, most came in small groups. That is, these were not 
groups formed at guesthouses, but rather were groups whose members were 
already known to one and another prior to traveling and entering into Khalden’s 
facilitation and support networks.380

	 While calculating precise numbers of trainees without access to trainee logs 
is a difficult exercise, a general estimate can be reached by considering the average 
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length of training, the composition of the camp, and the accounts of senior camp 
figures of how many persons they trained over the period 1994 to late 1999 early 
2000. Noor Uthman Muhammed who was a trainer at Khalden for the duration of its 
operation from 1994 to its closure estimates the total number trained to have been 
in the hundreds. As outlined in the Stipulation of Fact:

During the accused’s tenure at Khalden over the course of several years, 
hundreds of recruits  were trained at Khalden on a variety of subjects, including 
weapons, artillery, tactics and other areas.381


 Given the length of the training programs could extend upwards to seven 
months, and some recruits stayed as long as 11 months, coupled with what is 
known about the camp’s capacity, it is unlikely Khalden’s trainee numbers extended 
into the thousands, even over the total length of its time in operation under Ibn 
Sheikh al-Libi and Abu Zubayda’s administration.382 This is also because throughout 
its history Khalden was closed or relocated several times. For example, following bin 
Laden’s media efforts in early 1998, the Taliban angered at his going against their 
request and the scrutiny his media efforts put on them, ordered Khost camps 
closed, which included Khalden.383


 A more likely figure, on the higher end of an estimate, would be one that 
comes in just below or around 1000.384  Although, here too, it is worth noting that 
this estimate includes those who did not take the full training compliment. Firsthand 
accounts of training repeatedly make reference to there being small groups who 
arrived—mostly from nearby regions, or facilitated via these networks, who trained 
for small amounts of time. Noor Uthman Muhammed’s figure more likely therefore 
corresponds to those who undertook the full training compliment. According to 
Nasiri:

Most of the men who came to the camps were there for six or seven months, for 
the full course of training...Sometimes  groups  would come for just one or two 
weeks and train for a specific mission.385


 Nasiri further reports the bulk of these groups came from places “fairly close 
to the camps” such as Tajikistan, Uzbekistan, Kyrgyzstan, Kashmir and 
Chechnya.386  These groups tended to train separately to the camp’s general 
population.387 At times too, small groups sent with specific purpose also undertook 
shorter training -- this was usually group specific, or plot specific, and required prior 
approval and vetting. According to Ressam, Khalden:

had people from all nationalities who were getting training there, and each 
group stayed together, those who will have some work to do together later on. 
Each group was  formed depending on the country they came from. Jordanians, 
Algerians, from Yemen, from Saudi Arabia, from Sweden, from Germany also, 
French also, Turks also, and Chechnyans[sic] also.388

This ‘work’ was not necessarily terrorist plots. As Nasiri recalls, volunteers who 
trained in groups from Central Asia came for training in relation to armed conflict 
they were undertaking.389
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 While recruit numbers stayed within the general mean of 50-100, the range 
of training on offer at Khalden did expand as a result of more trainers being present 
or trained at Khalden. This was in part as a result of the arrival of a number of former 
Afghan Arabs back to Afghanistan as well as Arabs returning from Bosnia, but also 
from Khalden’s train-the-trainer program, which took place in the areas of 
explosives training in particular.390 As the camp’s trainer population expanded into a 
more permanent basis -- as opposed to its earlier cycling in and out of trainers -- 
Ibn Sheikh al-Libi appointed a council of trainers, which served as his advisory body. 
Noor Uthman Muhammed, who was a member of this body in the time frame 
1998-1999 acknowledges in his stipulation of fact document:

As leader and director of the camp, Ibn Sheikh established a council of trainers 
that served his advisors. Ibn Sheikh was required to consult this  council but not 
bound by their advice. The accused was a member of this council.391

	 (iv) Training in Khalden


 The full compliment of training as reported by Omar Nasiri lasted upwards of 
six months and involved a staged process or rotation through a number of 
curriculum blocks, many of which were in the training manual that had been 
compiled by Abu Burhan and built upon by Khalden’s newer management.392 
Regardless of the stage of the training process, daily training for the general camp 
population and those not doing plot specific or group specific training also followed 
a particular routine. 

	 This routine began with exercise following dawn prayers, breakfast and then 
training, following by evening prayers and religious instruction in the evenings.393 
The training pattern was different on Fridays, when a different routine was followed; 
with minimal training, and instead the Friday sermon, and discussions and religious 
lessons usually centred on defensive jihad and the work of Abdullah Azzam and 
Sayyid Qutb.394 According to the Noor Uthman Muhammed Stipulation of Fact:

Khalden trainees  also prayed together and read portions of the Quran and the 
teachings  of the prophet Mohammed. Trainees  engaged in discussions 
regarding religious topics after prayer. Trainees who came to Khalden had 
already committed to the concept that jihad required military training.395

	 The order of training blocks at Khalden was structured such that it began 
with an induction of sorts aimed at imbuing discipline, building fitness, and general 
familiarisation. For weapons training, which was the first block course, classroom 
lessons preceded practical lessons. Weapons familiarisation and training was 
around a month long and included familiarisation on a range of handguns, machine 
guns, and larger anti-aircraft weapons, artillery and rocket launchers.396


 Basic explosives training followed weapons training, although initially this 
was not overly sophisticated. The more advanced level courses were instead taught 
at Darunta to Khalden graduates. There was a shared training arrangement with the 
Arab’s at Hizb-e Islami’s Darunta camp, which lasted until the Taliban’s taking of 
Jalalabad.397  Following this, Abu Khabab al-Masri who had been present at that 
camp as one of the trainers began his own small independent camp and offered 
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training on paid basis. This camp is the one commonly called Darunta, and is often 
referred to as a sister camp for Khalden, owing to the close relationship and 
movement of trainees between the camps. However Abu Khabab’s camp was 
independent and in many instances he charged money for trainees to attend his 
courses, as it was his sole means of income absent any organisational affiliation.398


 Explosives training at Khalden was, at least for some of its history around the 
time Nasiri attended in 1995, more introductory and initially lasted for around a 
fortnight.399  As he recounts, the training covered both theoretical and practical 
exercises relating to the use of common explosives.400 This explosives training also 
involved training in the use of landmines, and grenades, as well as basic detonators 
and uses of explosives for sabotage.401 Significantly, this course was in the use, as 
opposed to the construction of, explosives devices, which was instead carried 
offered at Darunta to graduates of Khalden’s basic course, and on and as needed, 
requested or approved basis.402


 By the time Ahmad Ressam attended Khalden several years later, the 
explosives training curriculum had become more advanced. This was most likely a 
result of the train the trainer program put in place by Ibn Sheikh al-Libi for Khalden’s 
explosives training. From Ressam’s account we can see training had progressed to 
the basic construction of explosives and took around a month instead of two weeks:

I received training in explosives…how to make charges, the types of explosives, 
TNT, C4.403 

He goes on to testify that it lasted “a little over a month, a month and a few days”.404


 The names for some of the subsequent training blocks as they related to 
tactical training also seem to have changed, despite the content covered remaining 
the same. This was presumably a result of the cataloguing and compilation being 
undertaken by Abu Zubayda’s Mujahedeen Services Centre, which would later also 
extend to digitising the various courses.


 Following immediately on from explosives training was tactical training, 
which was the largest component of the training compliment at Khalden and 
reflected the camp’s focus on preparing volunteers to fight on the various fronts of 
jihad.405  The range of subjects covered in tactical training stretched from learning 
about combat, the use of radio transmitters, Morse code, and signalling. It also 
involved learning urban operations, ambushes, camouflage, first aid, kidnap and 
assassination as well as specialised physical training and hand-to-hand combat, 
escape and interrogation techniques, surveillance and security.406


 From Nasiri’s account, in the time he was there different trainers were used 
owing the length and breadth of materials covered.407  The basic curriculum, 
however, drew from the Encyclopaedia of Jihad Khalden was using, which was 
based upon Abu Burhan al-Suri’s compilation and updated by Abu Zubayda’s 
Mujahedeen Services Centre to include Khalden’s newer courses and those of other 
trainers in the milieu. According to Nasiri:

All the trainers had the same book; the cover was red and green with two 
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Kalashnikovs and some writing in Arabic. It was  thousands of pages long, and it 
contained instructions for every kind of military and guerrilla operation, from 
defusing a trapped landmine to targeting an airplane with a surface-to-air 
missile.408

	 It was only during this part of tactical training that volunteers were assigned 
a weapon of their own.409  After obtaining their weapons, they entered a more 
practical stage of training in which they were sent out on night guard duty, and 
subject to raids and interrogation as lived practice.410

	 Topography, as it relates to targeting, was the final stages of the training.411 
This involved the targeting of objects and people at long range, and understanding 
operating with long-range weapons.412  It too followed the order of classroom 
lessons followed by practical exercise.413


 This training pattern was also mirrored in the newer Preparation 
Encyclopaedia that was compiled by the Mujahedeen Services Centre from the 
training courses and the host of texts gathered and/or authored by members or 
affiliates of Khalden on these topics. It was first digitised sometime between 1996 
and 1998 and put onto CD ROM.414  It incorporated an array of materials on 
explosives construction, urban warfare and even ‘train the trainer’ documents. Later 
it also came to focus on areas more specific to Abu Zubayda’s Mujahedeen Services 
Centre such document forgery, computer use, communications security.415 


 Several key figures were involved in this process of digitisation, most notably, 
Khalil Deek, and Khalid Sheikh Muhammad, who prior to commencing work on what 
would become the 9/11 plots with al-Qaeda, did some ‘media’ work for Abu 
Zubayda.416  The labelling of this material during the digitisation process as 
electronics courses, military, poisons, urban or explosives, closely mirrors the 
training that was taking place at the time. For example; the military material focuses 
on basic military training as well as first aid, topography and other elements that 
were covered in basic training at Khalden and other camps. 


 Significantly too, there were religious tracts in the Encyclopaedia, compiled 
presumably, by the religious institute operating in Khalden in the mid-1990’s. 
Despite the presence of takfiris at the institute, the religious works compiled and 
which were presumably taught to Khalden’s trainees who were not there as part of a 
takfiri group, were those around classical jihad, such as works by Abdullah Azzam or 
Sayyid Qutb. This was in keeping with the role of the camp to provide preparation 
(idad) for those seeking to carry out jihad on the various fronts. It also mirrors Nasiri 
earlier account of the texts that were studied in the religious training undertaken 
while he was at Khalden.417

	 When trainees finished the full compliment of courses if they wished to join a 
front of jihad they were, where possible, facilitated to do so; if they wanted 
additional training this was organised, or if they wanted to go home this was 
arranged.418  When more camps were established in Afghanistan with the return of 
more Afghan Arabs as well as new arrivals from Bosnia, the range of additional 
training options broadened. As a result, the number of groups and camps with 
which Khalden would cooperate expanded, as did the informal networks and word 
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of mouth that allowed trainees and volunteers to hear of training taking place in 
other locations.419  This is how, for example, some volunteers who first trained at 
Khalden later wound up undertaking al-Qaeda training at al-Faruq. 

	 According to the Noor Uthman Muhammed Stipulation of Fact:
 

Ibn Sheikh al-Libi assumed responsibility for communications outside the camp 
was responsible for assisting trainees returning home or to other camps. While 
neither Abu Zubaydah nor Ibn Sheikh was a member of al Qaeda as neither had 
sworn bayat (a formal oath of allegiance) to Usama bin Laden, both men met 
and communicated with Usama bin Laden and other al Qaeda leaders on a 
number of occasions. Although the Khalden training camp was not run by 
Usama bin Laden or al Qaeda, trainees  had the ability to pass between the 
training camps and organisations, which included al Qaeda and its camps.

Not only were there established lines of communication among this  network of 
camps and guest house in and around Afghanistan, but there were also informal 
agreements  that trainees could continue their training at other camps. The 
existence of various  camps was not a secret and there was an open market in 
Afghanistan for men seeking initial or follow on training. The leaders of one 
camp or organisation, for example, could recommend their trainees for transfer 
into another camp or organisation for further paramilitary training or terrorist 
operations. If a trainee demonstrated talent in a particular area with another 
camp or organisation or he could elect on his  own to pursue training at another 
camp. The accused knew that one of these camps was  Darunta. Ibn Sheikh al 
Libi was  primarily responsible for communications  between other camps, such 
as Darunta, where advanced training on explosives, explosives  devices, and 
poisons was provided by a terrorist trainer named Abu Khabab al-Masri.420

	 This stipulation of fact closely mirrors what the US government has 
acknowledged in Zayn al Abidin Muhammad Husayn vs. Robert Gates. Here, the 
government is on record acknowledging the following as they relate to Khalden, Abu 
Zubayda, Ibn Sheikh al-Libi and their relationship with al-Qaeda:

…the government has not contended in this proceeding that Petitioner [Abu 
Zubayda] was a member of al-Qaida or otherwise formally identified with al-
Qaida. Instead, the Government’s detention of Petitioner is based on 
Petitioner’s actions as an affiliate of al-Qaeda.421

Respondent does not contend that Petitioner was a “member” of al-Qaida in the 
sense of having sworn bayat (allegiance) or having otherwise satisfied any 
formal criteria that either Petitioner or al-Qaida may have considered necessary 
for inclusion in al-Qaida.422

The government has  not contended in this proceeding that Petitioner selected 
or knew the identities of specific persons  who were selected to leave Khalden 
for training at al-Qaida camps.423

The government has  not contended in this  proceeding that Darunta camp had 
direct ties to al-Qaida or the Taliban.424
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The Khalden training camp…was operationally and organizationally 
independent of al-Qaida.425

	 (c) Al-Qaeda Training and Recruitment


 Unlike Khalden, al-Qaeda’s primary objective in providing volunteers with 
military training was to recruit them to the organisation. While al-Qaeda’s ability to 
recruit new members beyond the immediate confines of its Afghan base was limited 
for much of its 1996-2001 history, it excelled in radicalising and recruiting volunteers 
once they came into its training camp orbit.


 When the number of volunteers arriving at al-Qaeda’s camps remained small, 
personalised attention from bin Laden and other senior leadership was al-Qaeda’s 
primary recruitment tool. Although this remained a key element of membership 
recruitment, following the mid 2000 opening of its al-Faruq training camp al-Qaeda’s 
training processes and recruitment approach began to change. By then Khalden 
had closed, and by default al-Faruq became the ‘international’ camp, where 
volunteers came seeking training for jihad at an open front. 


 The Foreign Fighter’s Brigade in Afghanistan did not conduct its own training 
and newly arrived volunteers seeking to fight in support of the Taliban were also first 
sent to al-Faruq. These volunteers ostensibly provided al-Qaeda with a ready made 
pool of potential recruits, however they first had to be radicalised to its cause 
because as we have established the majority did not arrive in its camps seeking to 
join the organisation.


 Proximity to bin Laden and his great man leadership was crucial to 
recruitment success. So too was al-Qaeda’s presentation of itself as an elite 
organisation, and after the opening of al-Faruq when trainee numbers grew, al-
Qaeda’s manipulation of peer group dynamics also allowed it to introduce a 
competitive element to membership recruitment. However, to understand how these 
processes worked, and contrast them to that of Khalden’s grocery store approach 
we first need to review al-Qaeda’s training capacity and programs because these 
factored heavily into its recruitment approach. We do so by first examining the 
training and recruitment approaches used in the period prior to al-Faruq’s opening.


 Among those who received ‘training’ at Tarnak in late 1999 early 2000 was a 
newly arrived small group from Hamburg who would go on to become key players in 
the 9/11 plot. Like many others during this time, the Hamburg group was initially 
seeking training to fight in Chechnya, however they encountered a member of al-
Qaeda’s social network when attempting to find passage to Chechnya, who directed 
them to Afghanistan and provided the necessary introductions.426  The Hamburg 
group, it appears, was unaware it was directed straight to al-Qaeda where it was 
subsequently targeted for recruitment to the organisation.


 Upon arriving, the group received personalised ‘training’ at Tarnak Farms. 
Shorter in length than the Mes Aynak program earlier that year, and unlike that on 
offer at Khalden, this ‘training’, was primarily for radicalisation, with the aim being to 
recruit them to al-Qaeda and solidify the bonds between group members.427  Al-
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Qaeda put significant effort into radicalising the Hamburg arrivals and convincing 
them the best jihad was al-Qaeda’s American jihad project rather than fighting in 
Chechnya.


 When at Tarnak Farms, the Hamburg group along with others attended 
lectures and seminars provided by senior al-Qaeda leaders, including bin Laden. 
The Hamburg group was present at bin Laden’s January 2000 Eid al-Fitri lecture.428 
In the lecture, bin Laden positioned himself as a revered figure in charge of a large 
organisation legitimately conducting jihad against America, in order to liberate and 
protect the Arabian Peninsula. This lecture later formed the outline of al-Qaeda’s first 
propaganda effort, the video The State of the Umma, which was subsequently used 
in its guesthouses to encourage volunteers to join the organisation.429


 In radicalising and recruiting the Hamburg group (and others), al-Qaeda was 
relying on its isolation from the religious establishment. So al-Qaeda leaders 
lectured trainees that the rewards for attacks against America (acting ‘on the 
outside’) were greater than those for training in the camps and fighting jihad 
elsewhere, there was no one to challenge it. This would have been particularly 
potent for new volunteers. Because they had no previous exposure to jihad, the 
camps and presence of ‘warrior figures’ coupled with the opportunity to undertake 
training may well have been both intoxicating and intimidating as the account of 
camp attendees like the Lackawanna Six suggest.430


 Al-Qaeda took advantage of this by playing on its ‘elite understanding’ of 
jihad, as bin Laden alluded to in his speeches. This had the impact of presenting the 
case that spiritual purity was only gained via participation in al-Qaeda’s jihad In turn, 
this created an environment where al-Qaeda’s teachings were more easily accepted 
and trainees sought the purity al-Qaeda’s experienced mujahedeen portrayed 
themselves as having obtained.431


 Additionally, by portraying the rewards of external action (such as attacks 
against America) as greater than those for training and fighting in a theatre of jihad, 
like Chechnya, al-Qaeda created a climate where trainees were more receptive to its 
encouragement of them to join the organisation and also to participate in attacks 
against America.432 As we can observe from our review of Khalden’s objectives and 
training processes, this stood in direct contrast to the Khalden camp’s leadership 
arguing for the need for their trainees to defend Muslim lands by participating on the 
fronts of jihad like Chechnya.


 It is significant to note here the importance of bin Laden’s status as ‘a great 
man leader’ in terrorism studies parlance. Khalden’s leaders did not cultivate this 
same ‘cult of personality’. As a result, within al-Qaeda’s camps proximity to bin 
Laden or the seeking of it was often a driving factor in turning receptivity of al-
Qaeda’s objectives into membership of the organisation (which culminated in the 
provision of a pledge of allegiance to bin Laden). Targeted recruitment through the 
chance of personal lectures, meetings and lunches with bin Laden was used to 
reinforce the ‘elite’ nature of the group and its mission.433  ‘VIP access’ would have 
made volunteers feel they had special status, as would being ‘hand-selected’ by bin 
Laden for attacks that ultimately, according to al-Qaeda’s teachings, led to the 
greatest rewards in the afterlife.
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	 It also led many to fear going against bin Laden and al-Qaeda, as we 
outlined in part one of this section. This is why there are instances of persons 
completing training but yet returning home and not acting further on the teachings 
and training in the camp, or seeking to leave training early through the feigning of 
family responsibilities or illness.


 Peer group pressure was also important to radicalisation and recruitment 
processes. In a tightly controlled environment, away from the religious establishment 
and under the influence of a ‘great man leader’, speaking out or seeking to 
disengage would have been fearful and intimidating as volunteer accounts reflect. 
As Alwan of the Lackawanna six recounted:

[Alwan] That night, a gentleman ... came up to me and he said, "They're gonna 
pick you up tomorrow. I already set up the meeting." He said, "[Derwish's friend] 
told me you wanted to [see] you know, the sheik." I said, "no, I told [him] I didn't 
want to see the sheik. I'm not gonna give him no pledge, and stuff like that." 
Because usually I guess  that's  what they see him for, to give them a pledge. 
Because they did talk to you about, giving the pledge. …
[Interviewer] So they thought you wanted to give a pledge to bin Laden?
[Alwan] No, no. That's  what I thought, that's  what. But he goes, "Don't worry, 
he's  not gonna ask you for a pledge. It's not a big deal. You're just gonna see 
him. He knows you're going back." I said, "OK." What am I gonna tell him? 
OK.434

	 The case of Jack Roche, who we mentioned in part one further reinforces 
these dynamics were in fact at play and once volunteers arrived at a camp 
extracting themselves from the midst of al-Qaeda was a difficult process. It also 
highlights that, as with the Hamburg group at that time, al-Qaeda was specifically 
recruiting for people to carry out attacks, and not to undertake jihad at an open 
front. Upon his return to Australia Roche ultimately baulked at what al-Qaeda had 
asked him to do and subsequently contacted both Australian and American 
authorities, and attempted to notify them as to what was taking place in Afghanistan 
and what he had been asked to do.435 According to him, he had become extremely 
uncomfortable while in Afghanistan but feared for his life if he tried to leave early.436 
He recounts the difficulties he faced in trying to find a way to disengage upon 
returning home, fearful for his future.437


 All al-Qaeda’s training pathways required intensive radicalisation efforts to 
convince recruits to join its cause and to counteract attrition like that of Roche, 

, Alwan and others. Recruiting people for martyrdom operations required 
particularly targeted efforts. Al-Qaeda’s radicalisation program therefore focused on 
four key objectives; attracting trainees; recruiting them to join al-Qaeda; convincing 
people to become martyrdom operatives; and retaining members. 


 Continued and on-going access to trainees while they were in Afghanistan 
was essential to meeting these objectives. Because personalised attention like that 
lavished on the Hamburg group could not be used effectively as larger number of 
volunteers began to arrive, bin Laden’s status as a great man leader was glorified. 
His visits to the camp and lectures were hyped and recruits offered personal 
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meetings with him if they performed well or satisfied the requirements to join al-
Qaeda.438 


 Larger volunteer numbers also meant fewer social ties between them that 
could be manipulated for recruitment purposes and so another approach was 
necessary. The solution was the re-institution of a vetting system as a means of 
recruiting as many as possible to al-Qaeda. This system relied on introducing an 
element of competition, and reinforcing the elite nature of al-Qaeda, where entry 
was only through ‘testing’ trials as bin Laden hints at when telling trainees in 
speeches he reviews their performance. A program of training and recruitment with 
formalised progression to membership was consequently introduced, unbeknownst 
to trainees. To support the progression, a three level training program was devised 
and was to serve as the lynchpin for al-Qaeda’s recruitment strategy.439


 A progression system provided multiple opportunities to radicalise recruits as 
they passed through various training courses. It also gave al-Qaeda capacity to 
cycle more volunteers through courses, therefore generating a larger recruit pool. 
The system provided an effective method for channelling trainees and keeping them 
engaged with the organisation. However, once recruits had finished training al-
Qaeda faced the problem of what to do with them and it was here that attrition was 
a problem, particularly since members who had ostensibly signed up for al-Qaeda’s 
martyrdom brigade were essentially sitting around its camps waiting to be picked. 


 Boredom and the sense of a lack of action was therefore a problem. Al-
Qaeda’s solution was to cycle trainees and members into the volunteer foreign 
fighters brigade it initially assisted to fund. This, however, had mixed success, as 
often the volunteers and even al-Qaeda’s members found fighting to be more 
appealing, rather than waiting around in guesthouses and the camps for selection 
for an operation. As a result while many expressed an interest in such operations 
and may have even joined al-Qaeda, few actually became involved. Many volunteers 
who did not join al-Qaeda went to the fronts, and essentially never returned to the 
organisation.

	 By making membership of al-Qaeda competitive and conditional on 
progressing through courses, it was thought joining the organisation would become 
more attractive, particularly since good performance was rewarded with attention 
from the senior leadership.440  This was particularly important to recruitment efforts 
for the martyrdom brigade. Volunteers for the martyrdom brigade were feted by the 
senior leadership, but only after having earned this attention by performing well and 
undertaking the requisite courses.441  It proved initially to be a successful 
combination.


 By the time of the December 2001 US invasion, al-Qaeda had recruited over 
120 people for its martyrdom brigades.442 Three important caveats, apply, however. 
First, the distinction must be made here that this number includes persons who 
were already formal members of al-Qaeda as well as new volunteers who were fast-
tracked through owing to possessing special attributes. Second, the title brigades 
suggests a tight formation; in reality it was little more than a list of willing persons 
who had completed the necessary prerequisites as outlined by al-Qaeda or being 
hand picked owing to special attributes. Third, when members and recruits became 
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physically separated from al-Qaeda and the proximity that had driven their 
recruitment was removed, there was a high degree of attrition. In this respect, the 
‘brigade’ essentially fell apart after al-Qaeda’s flight from Afghanistan. The fact there 
were over 120 names on this list and yet there have been only a handful of al-Qaeda 
members from this time frame and presumably on this list involved in martyrdom 
attacks, further points to a significant attrition problem.


 It is probable that in all likelihood many of those who initially registered had a 
change of heart following the American invasion and their flight from Afghanistan 
and returned home and disengaged; or alternatively sought jihad at an open front 
elsewhere taking them further out of al-Qaeda’s orbit. Seeking to go home and 
disengage was the approach the Australian Jack Thomas.


 Although Thomas never listed his name for the brigades, in the aftermath of 
the American invasion, angered by the coalition bombings he did initially offer to ‘do 
some work’ (the word ‘work’ is used to denote being involved in or carrying out an 
attack). However, after being approached by al-Qaeda to ‘do some work’ in 
Australia, he had a change of heart and began to attempt to extricate himself from 
al-Qaeda, as he recounted in an Australian media interview, which formed the basis 
for his retrial, where he was subsequently acquitted of terrorism charges:

SALLY NEIGHBOUR: Thomas volunteered this information in notes  he made 
later for the Federal Police while imprisoned in Pakistan. He told them Abu 
Zubaida said "He wanted to see me again and speak to me more about 
working". He noted in brackets  that by working, Abu Zubaida meant terrorism. 
Thomas claims that's not what he meant. He told the AFP he meant obtaining 
passports or checking out locations.
You were basically offering your services to help out in any way they wished to 
use you?
JACK THOMAS: And I didn't have any idea in my own mind as  to what I could 
do. I never went down to Kabul – oh, it starts with a K - Karachi to follow up.
SALLY NEIGHBOUR: Thomas  spent the next year in Pakistan hiding out in the 
teeming cities of Karachi and Lahore, staying in safehouses used by al Qaeda 
and its Pakistani offshoot, Laskar-e-Toiba. While there, he overheard 
discussions  about using a rocket launcher to explode a jet carrying Pakistan's 
President Musharraf and blowing up a house full of Pakistani police. The 
prosecution would later cite these conversations as evidence that Thomas was 
part of an inner circle.
By the end of 2002, Thomas, still in Karachi, was desperate to get home. Before 
he left, one final crucial meeting would take place which would later provide the 
most damning evidence against him. The meeting was with a veteran al Qaeda 
operative, Khalid Bin Attash, the accused mastermind of the USS Cole 
bombing. Bin Attash came to see Thomas in the safehouse where he was 
staying. He had a dramatic proposition.
JACK THOMAS: Khalid Bin Attash had said that there was a need for an 
Australian to work, or Osama bin Laden would like an Australian white person to 
work for him in Australia. His drift was that, would you consider going back to 
Australia, going back to work and travelling from Australia outside regularly. 
After a period of 6 to 12 months  contacting me via email or someone else and 
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then having a meeting outside of Australia written you would, if you considered 
doing this, find people - you would be told of people in Australia to get in 
contact with. To do what he didn't say. In what state he didn't say.
SALLY NEIGHBOUR: So he said there were already people in Australia who you 
would be put in contact with?
JACK THOMAS: Yes.
SALLY NEIGHBOUR: What did you think Osama wanted this Australian to do?
JACK THOMAS: Well I'm sure after his  comments  that it was definitely to, well it 
was definitely involved with terrorism.
SALLY NEIGHBOUR: Bin Attash mentioned the al Qaeda bombings of the US 
embassies  in Kenya and Tanzania in 1998 in which more than 200 people were 
killed and said Australia needed such an attack. He went on to say he would 
pay US$10,000 to anyone willing to carry out a similar attack. He also asked 
Thomas to identify military installations  in Australia. Thomas  says he was 
shocked.
JACK THOMAS: I definitely in my heart and soul was  just dumbfounded and 
struggled with what benefit that could do. But also this guy is a Muslim and I'm 
a Muslim and it was like a struggle to understand how I got myself here with this 
kind of - that was just beyond belief.
SALLY NEIGHBOUR: And was he suggesting that you carry out an attack like 
this?
JACK THOMAS: No, he said that that would be a good thing. And I couldn't 
believe that - he didn't ask me to do that. I think maybe, well I'm sure he saw 
my reaction, which was like jaw dropping disbelief and well, I'd walked away.
SALLY NEIGHBOUR: Just before Thomas's  departure, bin Attash came to see 
him again. He gave Thomas US$3,500 in cash. He was  separately given a plane 
ticket back to Australia. Bin Attash also gave Thomas an email address and a 
phone number and told him to make contact in 6 to 12 months time. The 
prosecution would later claim that by accepting the ticket and the money, 
Thomas was agreeing to work for al Qaeda.
Did you intend to follow their instructions, to come back to Australia, keep your 
head down and then make contact again?
JACK THOMAS: Absolutely not. The suggestions that were made to me were - I 
had had a gutful long before that. I sat through to just get home.443

	 (d) Bayat (pledges of allegiance)

	 The notion of bayat (pledges of allegiance) for membership of jihadi 
organisations has often been misunderstood. The commonly held understanding of 
bayat as they relate to jihadi organisations is that a pledge of allegiance (bayah -- 
singular for pledge), typically in person, is given to the leader (amir) of a jihadi group. 
Through the provision of this pledge, a person becomes a member of the 
organisation (tanzim) or group (jamaah). This has been the process through which 
organisations such as al-Qaeda have inducted members. However, the use of this 
pledge is restricted to formally joining the organisation. In the case of al-Qaeda, this 
typically involved a lengthy testing and approvals process, unless a person was 
identified as having special skills in which case another process was used.
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 A key problem in understanding the interaction between volunteers and 
jihadi groups in Afghanistan has come as a result of the scope and function of 
pledges (bayat) being misinterpreted to relate to issues broader than the specific 
membership induction process between a person and the leader of a jihadi group. 
Merely meeting a leader of a jihadi group, for example, or shaking their hand, does 
not necessarily translate to a person becoming a member of a jihadi group. 
Attendance at a group’s training camp also does not constitute a person becoming 
a member of a jihadi group.


 More specifically, according to the intricate set of protocols that govern 
giving a pledge of allegiance, providing an oath of obedience or covenant in camp 
paperwork before conducting training also does not constitute a person’s joining of 
a jihadi group. These provisions are separate to that of the giving of bayah to a 
group’s amir because they specifically govern personnel processes and the conduct 
of military training. For this reason, it is necessary to briefly review the different types 
of pledges, oaths, and covenants that are used by jihadi groups, and the scope and 
duration of their applicability.


 Jihadi groups use pledges of allegiances to govern membership and ensure 
a leadership hierarchy exists and is maintained. Doctrines and protocols stipulating 
how leadership structures should be obeyed subsequently build upon this, and as 
such, bayah is a crucial element of what might be considered command and control 
for jihadist groups. Indeed, as we are currently witnessing in Syria the emergence of 
an al-Qaeda splinter group and violent fighting between it and another al-Qaeda 
affiliate stems in significant part from contested issues of bayat and the authority of 
regional leaders versus that of al-Qaeda’s overall amir Ayman al-Zawahiri. However, 
as this dispute indicates groups can sometimes ignore doctrinal guidance on these 
matters. As such, while we can consider them used, and al-Qaeda’s leadership 
certainly has these stipulations in place, they are not always followed. 


 Preparation activities (idad) for jihad, such as the receipt of training in a camp 
tends to be governed by oaths and covenants, which can apply to members and 
non-members of a group as they can relate to both training and administrative 
functions. The reality, therefore, of associating pledges of allegiance with 
participating in training at a camp is misleading, as the array of undertakings that 
govern interacting with a group in this context are more complex than first appear. 
This is why it can be incorrect to assume an individual’s presence in a camp and 
participation in training necessarily means they are a part of the training provider’s 
jihadi organisation.

	 For this reason, it is useful to also briefly consider the doctrinal guidance 
groups have attempted to follow and the mechanisms they have put in place. There 
can sometimes be a gap between what doctrinal guidance says on paper and what 
a group actually does. However, in the case of al-Qaeda at least, the doctrinal 
guidance was and indeed still is closely mimicked.


 Al-Qaeda’s personnel form, which new volunteers arriving to train were 
required to sign, included a section where they signed a covenant that the 
information was correct, as well as a section where they signed a covenant 
undertaking to obey the camp’s rules.444  Al-Qaeda’s terms of reference also 
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included a covenant of obedience to which those signing must adhere.445 However, 
all three of these undertakings are distinct from the provision of a pledge of 
allegiance to bin Laden, which was the point at which a recruit entered the 
organisation. This reflects that it was also possible to have been under al-Qaeda’s 
employ but not a member of the organisation, as the case for example of Abu 
Khabab al-Masri, who performed work on behalf of al-Qaeda but never gave a 
pledge of allegiance, attests.


 Although jihadi groups draw their inspiration for pledges of allegiance from 
their own (often contested) interpretation and exegesis of Hadith, much of the 
contemporary guidance for the institution of pledges, oaths and covenants comes 
from the work of the first amir of the Egyptian Islamic Jihad, Sayyid Imam, also 
known as Dr Fadl. His book Al-Umdah was highly influential among a jihadi groups, 
including al-Qaeda as well as those focused on national conflicts.446 For this reason, 
it is useful to outline Imam’s recommendations for the use of pledges, oaths and 
covenants by groups and organizations, and in military training camps. This allows 
for a better understanding of the range of mechanisms available to jihadi groups to 
govern the conduct of jihad, and options available to individuals to determine the 
extent and length of their participation and organisational loyalties, if any.

	 Imam stated:

…the covenants among the Muslims, to perform the acts of obedience, are 
permissible. And included in this: is  the oath (Qasam) of the military training 
camp (Muaskar) and the covenants (Uhud), or the pledges of allegiance (Al-
Bayah), of the groups (Jamaat) which are working for Islam and Jihad…447

Here we can see participation in a training camp does not require the provision of a 
pledge of allegiance to a group (jamaah) or an organization (tanzim) like al-Qaeda. 
The phrasing on al-Qaeda’s camp acceptance documentation also closely mirrors 
that of Imam’s, particularly his stipulations relating to the expectation of camp 
attendees and responsibilities of its leaders.448


 Imam also argues that obedience is obligatory even absent the signing or 
giving of a pledge, oath or covenant.449 It is striking then that al-Qaeda formalized its 
processes to the degree it did, and presumably still does. It is unclear that Khalden, 
owing to its supermarket approach, had such a formal approach. No records exist of 
covenants or oaths being taken by trainees before attending the camp, or of bayat 
being given to the camp’s leader Ibn Sheikh al-Libi, even in an individual capacity 
absent the existence of his own jihadi group. However, this does not seem to have 
affected Khalden’s function as it is clear from the accounts of trainees that 
obedience was expected and a strict leadership hierarchy existed. Rather, al-
Qaeda’s institution and formalization of these processes highlights the very real gap 
in purpose between Khalden and al-Qaeda -- with the latter focused on recruiting 
people it trained to its organization, while Khalden was more interested in training 
and facilitating people to join the jihad on the many fronts with which it retained 
links.


 For al-Qaeda, membership of the organization was additional to the 
undertakings given on the raft of documentation it had trainees and potential new 
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members sign. A pledge of allegiance to bin Laden was, during al-Qaeda’s Afghan 
period at least, required in order for a volunteer to formally join the organization even 
if the paperwork had been completed. Such a pledge, need not be in person with 
bin Laden; an appropriate designate could take the oath on his behalf. 


 For parts of its history al-Qaeda had a special testing program for recruits to 
pass prior to being admitted to the organization. This was overlooked during periods 
of ‘membership droughts’, however once its trainee numbers increased a 
sophisticated multi-staged program was put into place for trainees to complete 
before joining the organization as we outlined in part two.


 Imam’s stipulations as they relate to covenants in the training camps is as 
follows:

…based upon what has preceded, it is  possible for the covenant (Ahd) between 
the Amir and the members, to be based upon matters that are originally 
obligatory in the (Islamic) Legislation in order to emphasize them, such as Jihad, 
obedience to the Amir, and the protection of confidential information, and 
fulfilling the trusts  and sincere conduct to the Muslims -- as  well as  the matters 
that are not originally obligatory in the (Islamic) Legislation. And therefore these 
members adhere to them based upon the covenant (Ahd), such as the Amir 
putting a condition upon them to perform specific deed, or not to leave the 
military training camp except at specified and known times, or to set specific 
times for sleeping and waking up and eating, and training and such stipulations 
as long as they are not acts of disobedience (against Allah, i.e. sins).

And these stipulations, which are made as  conditions within the covenant (Ahd), 
form the structure and internal regulations of the military camp; from them are 
stipulations which are originally obligatory in Islam, which the covenant affirms; 
and from them are stipulations which are not originally obligatory in Islam, but 
becomes obligatory due to the covenant (Ahd).450 

In these stipulations Imam writes of covenants between members and the amir too, 
despite membership being governed by a pledge. Although this could feasibly be in 
reference to camp members, it is worth considering that even after a member of al-
Qaeda had provided a pledge of allegiance they might still be required to partake in 
oath giving or covenants.

	 This is because much like in other organizations a range of different 
agreements contracts and extra requirements were often put in place. Consider for 
example a police recruit who has completed police training, formally graduated this 
training and completed the membership process. This police member might then go 
on to work in a specialized department that requires additional undertakings over 
and above the original employment contract. A rather obvious example here would 
be the need for a security clearance to perform specialized work, which requires a 
range of additional undertakings to be formally given. It should obviously go without 
saying this example is not intended to equate police with jihadi organisations, rather 
to point to such differentiations existing across a range of non-jihadi organisations, 
and as such not being organizationally unique to al-Qaeda.
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 There can also be multiple levels of allegiance in that a pledge can be given 
to someone other than and possibly in addition to the overall amir of a jihadi 
organisation. What this means for example is that the amir of a battle formation 
might seek or obtain an oath of allegiance for those fighting under him. Indeed it is 
this example Imam draws upon when pointing out that historically pledges had been 
given to “an Amir of a division (Taifah) of the army.”451 


 In this way, foreign volunteers fighting on Afghan fronts but operating under 
the leadership of one of al-Qaeda’s commanders (who in turn operated under the 
leadership of an Uzbek amir, who in turn operated under the leadership of Mullah 
Muhammad Omar) may well have given a pledge to obey that leader in battle. 
However, in the context of a foreign volunteer on the Taliban front, whose battlefield 
commander happened to be one from the al-Qaeda contingent in a larger mixed 
pool of foreigner commanders, the giving of a pledge of allegiance does not in any 
way necessarily equate to their joining al-Qaeda. Rather it is context specific to that 
particular location and brigade and does not extend beyond this time and place. 
Pledges can also be time limited. More generally, however, oaths and covenants 
could also be time limited.

	 As Imam explains:

...it is permissible for the covenant (Ahd) between the Muslims to be time-
limited. So it is  permitted to conclude it at a fixed time, just as it is  allowed for 
the covenant (Ahd) to be based upon a specific deed or (to be stipulated) with a 
specific stipulation.

So the specified time period –such as the Amir taking a covenant from the 
members of the military camp, that they must continue with their training for a 
period of three months, for example—then the obligation of commitment to this 
covenant upon the members would conclude at the end of this time period.452

Much of al-Qaeda’s historical ‘membership’ fell under this category. They were not 
formal members of the organization having not given a pledge. Instead they were 
participants in transient combat groups, such as those formed for the Jalalabad 
battle or the Arabs who fought under al-Qaeda’s leaders’ command as part of the 
Foreign Fighters Brigade led by an Uzbek commander appointed by Mullah 
Muhammad Omar. 


 Significantly, al-Qaeda also made use of arguments in relation to bayat in its 
efforts to secure leadership over other jihadi groups and camps, most notably 
Khalden. Abu Zubayda mentions this in his testimony at Guantanamo where he 
recounts approaching bin Laden for help to get Khalden reopened at which time bin 
Laden told him it was better to have one camp and one leader.453 Al-Qaeda’s efforts 
here were firmly positioned and grounded in the position Imam also presents that 
multiple groups present within a country or regions should strive towards unity. 
Here, too, there were guidelines on how a younger group should merge with the 
older group regardless of who had the better capacity. It is a result of this type of 
doctrinal stipulation that many fights have broken out among groups, and in fact 
continue to do so as we are currently witnessing in Syria.
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	 What it means, however, for the raft of volunteers in Afghanistan during this 
era was that they were often navigating a complex set of protocols and allegiances 
with little or no understanding of them. This further added to their vulnerability to 
recruitment. For some, it also later manifested in mistaken representation of their 
membership status upon returning to their home countries and becoming the 
subject of investigational interest by government authorities.
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Projects 

Founder/CEO: 2012 - First Draft Publishing GmbH  
Founder and CEO of a publishing house project that seeks to preserve primary source 
texts and commission new books from up-and-coming field researchers. 

Co-author: 2012 - NYU Report on Taliban Education Policy  
Report for the Center on International Cooperation, New York University on the Taliban’s 
attitudes towards education. Based on written primary source material  and interviews 
with senior Taliban figures and others involved in education from the 1980s till today. 

Co-author: 2011 - ISAF Press Releases Report  
A quantitive database project published by the Afghanistan Analyst’s Network that 
explored the war in Afghanistan through official ISAF press releases and statements. 

Co-author: 2009-2011 - An Enemy We Created / NYU Report 
Originally a report commissioned by the Center on International Cooperation, the text 
was expanded and rewritten into a book-length treatment (published by Hurst (UK) and 
Oxford University Press (USA)). 

MPhil/PhD Student: 2012- 2015 - Negotiation with the Taliban (King’s College 
London) 
The PhD explores negotiations that took place between the Taliban, foreign 
governments, international organisations and non-governmental organisations during the 
1990s. It aims to extract useful lessons and determine in how far we can talk about a 
Taliban negotiation behaviour pattern and what most influenced it. 

Felix Kuehn 
Writer and Researcher
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Senior Research Consultant: 2008-2009 - CAPS Provincial Profiles 
Responsible for supervising researchers who were producing three province profiles 
(including field research) at the Center for Peace Studies (CAPS) in Kabul, commissioned 
in association with the Independent Directorate of Local Governance (IDLG). 

Co-editor: 2007-2010 - My Life With the Taliban  
The autobiography of former Taliban ambassador, Mullah Abdul Salam Zaeef. Based on 
interviews with Mullah Zaeef, written tracts, crossed-referenced, richly annotated and 
footnoted. It was published by Hurst (UK), Columbia University Press (USA), Hachette 
(India) and others. 

Co-editor: 2006-2012 - Poetry of the Taliban 
Translated volume of poetry propagated and/or written by the Taliban. While the majority 
of the collection is taken from the Taliban’s official website, it also includes commissioned 
work by current senior members, and a small selections of poems from the 1990s. The 
collection was the first fiction work published by Hurst (UK), Columbia University Press 
(USA) and Oxford University Press (Pakistan). 

Co-Founder: 2006-2009 - AfghanWire 
Afghanwire was a research an monitoring tool that allowed users to follow the debates 
and opinions within the Afghan media and understand them in context. A selection of 
news articles were translated every day and embedded in a contextual information 
database. 

Speaking Engagements 
Felix Kuehn has participated in panels hosted by The Frontline Club (UK), New York 
University (USA), Council on Foreign Relations (USA), Carnegie Endowment for 
International Peace (USA); and he has given lectures/presentations at the School of 
Oriental and African Studies (UK), International Institute of Strategic Studies (UK), The 
British Defence Academy (UK), the London School of Economics (UK), King’s College 
London (UK), Chatham House (UK), Cambridge University (UK), Uppingham School (UK), 
Oxford University (UK), Princeton University (USA), the Brookings Institute (USA), the 
United States Senate (USA), the Sanctions Committee of the United Nations (USA), the 
United States War College (USA), the Middle East Institute (USA), the Naval Postgraduate 
School (USA), Harvard University (USA), and the Norwegian Institute of International 
Affairs (Norway), the US Senate (USA).  

Education 

2012 - King’s College London Department of War Studies -- MPhil/PhD 
2003-7 - School of Oriental and African Studies, London -- BA Arabic and Development 
Studies 
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Alex Strick van Linschoten is the co-author/co-editor of three critically acclaimed books about 
the war in Afghanistan, products of over eight years field experience. He has published 
research papers with New York University and the Afghanistan Analyst’s Network, and written 
for several major news outlets, including The New York Times and Foreign Policy magazine.

Projects

2012-	 Taliban Sources Project - A major initiative to index, digitise, translate, and 
distribute a landmark collection of Taliban documents estimated to contain more than 1.5 
million words of text. The TSP collection is one of only a few such private document archives in 
existence, and is the only collection to amass documentary evidence of Taliban cultural, social 
and legal output for the years 1979-2011

2012-	 First Draft Press Berlin - Co-founder of a project that seeks to preserve 
primary source texts and commission new books from up-and-coming authors.

2012
 NYU Report on Taliban Education Policy - A genealogy of the Taliban’s 
attitudes towards education from the 1980s up until the present day, based on new written 
primary source material as well as interviews with Taliban figures and those who were involved 
in forming their education policy.

2011-2012
 AHRC Report on Taliban Strategy - This was a report commissioned by the 
UK Cabinet Office and King’s College London on the Taliban’s strategic intentions.

2011
 ISAF Press Releases Report - A database project in which I read (and added 
into the database) over 4000 press releases from ISAF in Afghanistan, analysing the resultant 
data set for trends relating to the military targeting campaign against opposition groups and 
fighters. It was published by the Afghanistan Analyst’s Network.

2009-2011	 An Enemy We Created / NYU Report - Examines the relationship between 
the Afghan Taliban and al-Qaeda since the 1970s. Originally commissioned by the Center on 
International Cooperation (New York University), this was later expanded into a critically-
acclaimed book-length treatment published by Hurst (UK) and Oxford University Press (USA).

2008-2013
 PhD (King’s College London) - Seeks to explore the evolving identity of the 
Taliban movement through its history, mainly through a translation and exploration of the 
primary sources relating to the movement which have not thus far been given a proper airing. I 
will submit my dissertation to the War Studies Department of King’s College London in early 
2013, where Anatol Lieven is my first supervisor.

2008-2009	 CAPS Provincial Profiles - While working as a senior research consultant at 
the Center for Peace Studies (CAPS) in Kabul, I helped coordinate the production of three 
profiles of provinces in Afghanistan which had been commissioned in association with the 
Independent Directorate of Local Governance (IDLG).

2008
 ‘Talking to the Taliban’ - Helped subtitle videos of around 40 interviews with 
Taliban members that were the centrepiece of Graeme Smith’s Emmy award-winning project, 
“Talking to the Taliban”.

2007-2009	 Caged Bird - This was a collaborative project with an Afghan NGO. I translated 
the poems of a young Afghan poetess from Dari into English, and edited some of the stories 
that they provided as well.
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2007-2010	 My Life With the Taliban - This was the autobiography of former Taliban 
minister Mullah Abdul Salam Zaeef. As co-editor, tasks included interviewing the subject, 
cross-referencing his account with that of his peers, as well as researching the background to 
each event described. It was published by Hurst (UK), Columbia University Press (USA), 
Hachette (India) and others.

2006-2012
 Poetry of the Taliban - The Taliban’s website includes a large number of 
poems, which were translated and edited for this book, published by Hurst (UK), Columbia 
University Press (USA) and Oxford University Press (Pakistan).

2006-2009	 AfghanWire - A research organisation set up to improve awareness of the wide 
range of issues and opinions relating to Afghanistan through a newsletter and informational 
database, both available free to the general public and scholar/policy-maker alike.

2005-
 ‘The Still Point’ - Ongoing book project relating to the presence of Sufi 
jihadism in Somalia, Iraq, Chechnya and Afghanistan. Have made trips to Somalia and 
Afghanistan (and other places), but more research still needed.

Skills

Projects conducted together with a diverse range of organisations and collaborators have 
given me the opportunity to work in a wide range of roles: 

• hiring, training and supervising multiple teams of researchers and translators

• project planning, arranging work schedules and timelines

• providing and checking quality of the research product

• monitoring and evaluation of staff

• and estimating and allocating budgets for projects, including all relevant reporting 
requirements for donors.

As such, I have built a wide network of contacts, from local staff members to research 
interlocutors, to academic peers, journalists, and aid and policy practitioners. The results of 
research work and accounts of time spent living in Kandahar, for example, have been 
presented to senior politicians, diplomats, military leaders and policy advisors of several 
countries, along with NGOs and other international organisations.

Working and living in Kandahar has meant adapting to and working amidst highly complex 
security situations. In this context, I have organised and planned field trips to new 
environments as well as managed to continue working in extremely adverse circumstances. 
Similarly, I conducted two trips to Somalia (in 2008 and 2010) when the security was highly 
volatile. This has given me experience in security and research dilemmas concerning myself as 
well as that of interviewees and staff members. I am accustomed to engaging and exchanging 
with foreign cultures as part of my research.

Work Experience

2008-2009	 Senior Research Consultant, Center for Conflict and Peace Studies 
(Kabul) - Hired to work with and help train Afghan research teams that formed the core of 
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CAPS' staff in late 2008. This involved mentoring, editing work, as well as travelling together 
for project work.

2007-2008	 Analyst, Balancing Act Africa - Liaised with a central news / newsletter 
production team based in London to produce a bi-weekly newsletter on trends relating to 
communication and technology in Africa.

2006-2009	 Co-Director, AfghanWire - Started this organisation with my colleague, Felix 
Kuehn, in order to give a wider voice to Afghan media organisations and to allow for a better 
understanding of the context behind articles and opinions expressed. My roles included 
fundraising, public relations and media outreach, interacting with our user base, liaising with 
Afghan media outlets to secure their permission to republish translated content, as well as a 
large number of small administrative tasks relating to operating an office with staff inside 
Afghanistan.

2005-	 Freelance Journalism / Analysis - Published in a large number of different 
media outlets, reporting or offering comment/analysis from Afghanistan, Syria, Lebanon and 
Somalia. These include: Foreign Policy magazine (USA), The New York Times (USA), 
'International Affairs' journal (UK), The Sunday Times (UK), The Globe and Mail (Canada) and 
The Tablet (UK). I was also the Afghanistan stringer for the Norwegian news outlet 'ABC 
Nyheter' in 2008.

2003-2004	 Fundraising Assistant, Afghan Association of London - Worked with a small 
Afghan NGO in London to research and put in bids for donors to support their activities. I also 
carried out some media outreach for their programmes and met with clients (Afghan refugees 
needing support upon arriving with their families in the UK).

Languages

Arabic – very good in both written/spoken (Lebanese/Syrian dialect) - University course

Dutch – fluent understanding, but almost no written or spoken

English – fluent, mother-tongue

Farsi/Dari – excellent written and spoken (Afghan dialect) - University and Self-Taught

French – understanding and spoken skills good, but written only moderate - Self-Taught

German – virtually fluent spoken and understanding, but written only moderate - Self-Taught

Pashto – excellent comprehension and good speaking (Kandahari dialect) - Self-Taught

Urdu - Basic understanding / spoken / written - Self-Taught

Speaking Engagements

Alex has participated in panels hosted by The Frontline Club (UK), New York University (USA), 
Council on Foreign Relations (USA), Carnegie Endowment for International Peace (USA); and 
he has given lectures/presentations at the School of Oriental and African Studies (UK), 
International Institute of Strategic Studies (UK), The British Defence Academy (UK), the London 


 
 Page 3

ALEX STRICK
VAN LINSCHOTEN

10 Cheyne Walk
London NW4 3QJ

afg	 0093-799667356
uk	 0044-7794263019
url	 alexstrick.com

Case 3:04-cr-00301-JCH   Document 163-1   Filed 05/16/14   Page 273 of 274



School of Economics (UK), King’s College London (UK), Chatham House (UK), Cambridge 
University (UK), Uppingham School (UK), Oxford University (UK), Princeton University (USA), 
the Brookings Institute (USA), the United States Senate (USA), the Sanctions Committee of the 
United Nations (USA), the United States War College (USA), the Middle East Institute (USA), the 
Naval Postgraduate School (USA), Harvard University (USA), and the Norwegian Institute of 
International Affairs (Norway).

Education

I have supplemented the more formal educational achievements listed below by training myself 
through several programmes; this has included the use of programming and database 
techniques for advanced data handling, advanced information processing software, as well as 
ongoing language studies.

2008- 
 King’s College, London — PhD in War Studies (Supervisor: Anatol Lieven)

2003-7	 School of Oriental and African Studies, London -- BA Arabic and Persian

2002-3       Robinson College, Cambridge -- BA Music

1997-2002 Ampleforth College, North Yorkshire -- Secondary school
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